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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE” AND “GEM”,
RESPECTIVELY)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market
in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or
in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the ‘Directors”) of Icon Culture
Global Company Limited (the “Company’, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no
other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein
or this report misleading.

ERBARIMERLA ([BXAT]
GEM ([GEM ) 45 &

GEMHEN > NABRBIFLTHH
AR EERSRERBNWP/NE QT
RHE—BLTHTE BEREEER
BEEZSEARAINEETAR LTELSE
BEHAFZRALEHRERE -

HRGEMLET AR — AR NE AT -
HEGEMEEN RS ITHEAIBERBER
FERBEENESABNTS KRB R
TEEREBEGEMEEMNESEERR
BENTE -

BERX G RAEZIE R 7] R ATE
ABFENABTHTRE T HERM
STEEE TN T RN B - WHERT -
BT 5B AR # & £ BB AT 1A BB 17 A& 7
EL LA FGREZFAB M5 AT E R
KAPEEIEAN

A5 2 B IR S FTGEMEE 5 _F AR A
([GEM LT AR M EREH e 5%1E &
 HE R B BT X5 X B B 2% B B /R 2 7]
([KRE]  EFRNELA  [FEH])
HIER  MARREE ([EFE]) BEHAK
HEHARRANESNAEDEE N - BEFL
TEH] — )& B A& TR  BLIRKFE
MRIEE  NEETEENEEEXT
[E] 15 J8B E T e e B A AR B B AL EF A
MH AL ELREIE N FE

2023FF RALXAIBRBREBRERAR 1



Content

B &

Page
=y
Company Information 3
NAElER
Financial Highlights 6
MEHE
Chairman’s Statement 7
FREmE
Management Discussion and Analysis 12
BEREwmEST
Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management 19
EEkEREEERREER
Report of the Directors 27
EEgmE
Corporate Governance Report 52
hEERME
Environmental, Social and Governance Report 71
BIR Mg kEomE
Independent Auditor's Report 130
BT % BRRD H
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 141
meEEmE
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 142
meBmkEMPEKEE
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 143
e g &
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 145
eEEREEE
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 147
HeEReRER
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 149
e kM
Five-Year Financial Summary 240

hEWBRHE

2 Icon Culture Global Company Limited 2023 Annual Report



EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To (Chairman)

Ms. Cai Xiaoshan (resigned on 12 January 2024)

Mr. Lau Tung Hei Derek (resigned on 12 January 2024)
Ms. Liang Wei (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Liu Biao

Mr. Yao Tong (appointed on 12 January 2024)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster (resigned on 12 January 2024)
Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia

Mr. Tian Tao

Mr. Liu Lihan (appointed on 15 December 2023)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Tung Wing Yee Winnie (resigned on 12 January 2024)
Mr. Choi Pun Lap (appointed on 12 January 2024)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Liang Wei

Ms. Tung Wing Yee Winnie (resigned on 12 January 2024)
Mr. Choi Pun Lap (appointed on 12 January 2024)
BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster (Chairperson) (resigned on 12 January 2024)

Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia

(appointed as Chairperson on 12 January 2024)
Mr. Tian Tao
Mr. Liu Lihan (appointed on 15 December 2023)

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Liu Lihan (Chairperson)
(appointed as member on 15 December 2023 and
as Chairperson on 12 January 2024)
Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia (re-designated to member
from Chairperson on 12 January 2024)
Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster (resigned on 12 January 2024)
Mr. Tian Tao
Mr. Yao Tong (appointed on 12 January 2024)

Nomination Committee

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To (Chairperson)

Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster (resigned on 12 January 2024)
Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia

Mr. Liu Lihan (appointed on 15 December 2023)

Mr. Yao Tong (appointed on 12 January 2024)

Mr. Tian Tao (appointed on 22 March 2024)

Company Information

NEEF

BITES

BTFELRE (FE)

s W 2+ (R00244E 1 H 12 H BEFE)
RIS 5L 4 (Ro0044E 1 7128 B 1F)
P+ (7T AEEL)

2z A

ki (2024 1 A 12H EZE(F)

BUFHTES

2K B A B (00244 1 H 12 H BEF)
EIEM

EEp=% s
BIN IR S A (R2023F 125 15HEZ (F)
NEME

BaANBL T (02441 H12H BHF)
BRST F HE (R20244F 1 F12HEZE (F)

REAR

DA+
BRI T (Ro004F1 H12H BEFE)
BRST e (Ro0244F 1 F12HEZE F)

EXREE
BEREEE

IR A (£ /) (R20249F 1 A 12 H BEHE)

SEEM A+ (2024 1 H12H EZ (F
ABEE)

mELaE

BINE S A (R2023F 12515 HEZF)

FMEES

BINER A (F/E)
(R2023F 1215 EEZ(F AL S
WR024F1 B 100 EE (FAEE)
EEM A (Ro024F 1 A12H
B EEHERKE)
?Mﬁ%gi(/fémyizﬁzzﬂé’%&)
mE
Wi e A (Ro024F 1 H12HEZE(T)

REEEE

BTELE (F/E)

IR S (R20244E 1 12 H BFE)
BRI A £

BISTE & (Ro023F 125155 EZE(F)
Wk S A (R20244F1 F12H EZE(F)
MBS A4 (Ro024F3 522 H EZE (L)

2023FF RALXAIBRBREBRERAR 3



Company Information (continued)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with
the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

Rooms 1007-1012 10/F. K. Wah Centre, 191 Java Road,
North Point, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong laws
Jingtian & Gongcheng LLP

As to the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC’) laws
Tahota (Shenzhen) Law Firm

REGISTERED OFFICE

Ogier Global (Cayman) Limited
89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay, Grand Cayman
KY1-9009, Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

29/F, Kingold Century

No. 62 Jinsui Road

Zhujiang New Town

Tianhe District, Guangzhou City
Guangdong Province, the PRC
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

1701, 17/F, Wai Fung Plaza,
664 Nathan Road, Mongkok,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Ogier Global (Cayman) Limited
89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay, Grand Cayman
KY1-9009, Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited
2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road
North Point, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China
Agricultural Bank of China

COMPANY’S WEBSITE
http://www.iconspace.com/
LISTING INFORMATION
Place of Listing

GEM of the Stock Exchange
Stock Code

8500

Board Lot

2,000 Shares
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Financial Highlights
MBREE

2023 2022 Change
20234 20224 pEE)
RMB’000 RMB'000 %
ARETR ARE®ETr %
(restated)
(&&E5)
Revenue s 25,424 68,969 (63.1)
Gross profit/(loss) EaA(EE) N/A
4,164 (4,499) TER
Loss for the year attributable to  ZN /A &) # 25 % R B/ F A
equity shareholders of the & ta
Company (84,647) (39,188) 116.0
Revenue for 2023(RMB’000) Revenue for 2022 (RMB'000)
2023 (AR¥ETT) 2022F W (AR¥EFIT)
Public relation (“PR”),
marl;etir;g campaigns Traditional offline PR, marketing campaigns
and other services media advertisin i
’%;ﬁ@ﬁ%(rﬂﬁﬁﬁ . services‘cI ¢ ag‘dégth%';;ggcizs
1T EE R AR ERETIEE R H AR i ;
[E - Traditional offline
2,908 3,802 media advertising
11.4% 16,915 5.5% services
\ 66.5% \ ERETIRE
EER
/60,850
88.2%
Online media
advertising
servic%es Online media
4 -Eee .
Rinn P
5,601 A LIRA
22.0% R
4,317
6.3%
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INDUSTRY REVIEW

With the gradual relaxation of the anti-pandemic policies,
consumer behaviour rebounded in early 2023. However, due to
the combined effects of external factors such as the scarring effects
of the pandemic, the Fed's interest rate hikes, and the appreciation
of the US dollar, the process of the economic recovery in 2023
showed a curvilinear trend. The annual GDP growth of 5.2%
year-on-year, compared with the 3% year-on-year GDP growth in
2022, indicates that the Chinese economy has begun to emerge
from the trough in 2023.

The advertising market has likewise gone through a tough
recovery process in 2023. According to data from CCTV Market
Research (CTR), the overall spending of the advertising marketing
in 2023 increased by a mere 6.0% year-on-year. Looking at the
data under the category of “advertising channels”, elevator LCD,
elevator posters and cinema video advertisements all showed
double-digit growth; the year-on-year spending on advertisements
in airports, train/high speed railway stations, subways and street
facilities only rebounded from a negative to a positive trend; the
year-on-year decline in advertisements in television, broadcasting
channels and newspapers narrowed to varying degrees compared
to the same period of the previous year; and the decline in
magazine advertisements widened. Judging from the “Advertisers’
Confidence Index”, despite the improvement compared to the
early stage of the pandemic, the magnitude of the change was not
significant compared to 2022. The advertisers’ confidence index in
the development prospects of the industry has climbed slightly to
74 from 7.3 in 2022. However, the advertisers’ confidence index
in the operation of their companies has dropped to 7.4 from 7.5
in 2022, and the majority of advertisers remain cautious about
the market outlook. Based on the data in the “Industry Market”
dimension, advertisers’ investment in the advertising market
was dominated by the growth of clients in the top industries,
with pharmaceuticals, beverages, entertainment and leisure, and
cosmetics/toiletries showing outstanding growth in investment.
Advertisers are facing a difficult recovery in the first year after the
pandemic, and it is challenging for them to return to their rapid
development growth in the past, which makes it imperative to
adjust their marketing model.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

EREHE ()

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an integrated multimedia advertising and marketing
service provider based in Guangzhou, the PRC, providing
advertising and marketing solutions to our brand customers.
Services we provide include (i) traditional offline media, including
Out-of-home ("OOH") and indoor media platforms; (ii) online
media, including web portals, e-commerce platforms and social
seeding platforms; and (iii) integrated multimedia platforms,
including creative design, public relations, campaigns and
other services. We focus on offering our clients services such as
developing marketing and advertising strategies, identifying and
sourcing the most appropriate advertising resources and delivery
formats, and providing integrated marketing and full operation
in order to maximise the effectiveness of brand and product
promotion for our clients, while at the same time, to facilitate our
clients to realise a complete closed-loop promotion from brand
awareness, marketing effectiveness to product sales volume and
digital empowerment.

The year 2023 proved to be another challenging year. The Group’s
operations continued to suffer from the impact of the scarring
effect of the pandemic. For the financial year ended 31 December
2023 (the “Year"), the Group recorded revenue of approximately
RMB25.4 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of 63%
as compared to 2022. A net loss of approximately RMB84.6
million was recorded during the Year (2022: approximately
RMB39.2 million (as restated)). The increase in net loss was mainly
attributable to (i) the Group increased provision of credit loss
allowance in respect of the trade receivables with slow collection
progress; and (ii) the Group derecognised deferred tax assets for
deductible temporary differences in the provision for credit losses
on trade receivables after re-assessment.
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In view of the impact of the significant shift in customers’
marketing budgets from traditional display advertisements in
offline media to result-oriented advertisements, the Group has
adhered to the direction of strategic restructuring and continued
to build up the team’s all-round marketing capabilities, shifting
from high-speed to high-quality development. During the Year,
the Group mainly took the following actions:

1. In terms of new media operation services, the Group
established a professional new media operation service
team and provided new media operation services to
a number of brand customers on platforms such as
Xiaohongshu, Douyin and Weixin Channel. In particular,
Xiaohongshu's seeding business grew from zero and has
become a core business with a stable customer base. Our
services provided include product promotion and traffic
investment, seeding and influencer operation and new
media marketing businesses for a number of well-known
brands, covering industries such as medical and health,
daily chemical, household cleaning and personal hygiene.
During the year, we won a number of prestigious marketing
awards, including awards at the “China International
Advertising Festival Advertiser Annual Ceremony” and the
“Koorui Innovation Gold Award".

2. The Group actively developed business opportunities
in creative design and has completed the business
development of the co-construction of cultural and creative
products, and the IP cross-border services. During the Year,
the Group has completed the theme and logo design of
a number of national exhibitions, large-scale events and
provincial sports competitions, the production for a number
of well-known IPs, as well as the design and production of
cultural and creative products and accessories.

Chairman’s Statement (continued)
FEHRE (&)

HHEFPEHBERNBEHERRTE
BHRTESRANAMRSERNESIR
NTE  AEERFERENNTH -
SEREEREEEHEN AREE
RENSEERR -NAFE A5H
FERRTUATTH

. HRREZTE AREEKIA
BT -XEERNMREELREE
B U RZEREEPENE -
BE - MERAREF SRR
BEZRE Ef - JMERBEX
BERARTERXRINEFRTE
BEROZORRE  RER B
Bt KE - EBFTENZEM
HmhE - REEEMERR BEE
FENBENHBREREHER
BHIRY  YEAFEESEEIE
TERHFEEHESRILIHE
MBI RE R FZEXANER
AR H) G AR IR o

2. AEERERBRMRAIZXRFTIEMNE
Bike  THERE: XAIEMAHE
2 PERRBERNNERRE -
RAFE  AEBETK T ZEABRX
LRE KUEHLRELEERS
Z M) E RBLOGORK &T ~ &1 AIPRIE -
MBI K EBEMARRET REUWETLE -

2023FF RALXAIBRBREBRERAR 9



Chairman’s Statement (continued)

EREHE ()

Meanwhile, the Group has continued to solidify its presence
in traditional OOH media advertising and offline events,
consolidate and expand its scale of clients, and actively
seek new cooperation opportunities on the basis of its
existing business. The Group has maintained close strategic
relationships with many key media partners in order to
improve its media service matrix and minimise the impact
of the continuous decline of traditional offline media
advertising business on the Group.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward to 2024, adjustments to macroeconomic policy
will likely intensify further to boost domestic demand. The
Group is well-prepared to seize the opportunities arising from

market recovery proactively. We will formulate a clear business
strategy, adjust the team structure and flexibly respond to the
changing market conditions and customer demand to turn these

opportunities into driving forces for business growth and maintain
the sustainable development of the Group. Specific strategies
include:

10

We will consolidate and maintain traditional OOH,
community and mass transportation media customer
business opportunities, boldly develop social short videos,
new media operations and AIGC innovative technology
resources; profoundly develop technology, manufacturing,
comprehensive health, liquor and other top industries,
reinforce the foundation of the business and achieve steady
growth in revenues.

We will explore and expand the scope and the extent of
emerging services in line with the requirements of the
national development strategy. With culture and creativity
as our core genes and strengths, the Group will continue
to integrate innovative marketing technologies and focus
on nurturing a creative content team in order to build
the Company into a full-service marketing company with
the ability to continuously innovate content. We hope
that the development of the new business will effectively
diversify the Company’s operational risks, enhance the core
competitiveness of our team and create strong synergies
with our existing business.
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3. The Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region has recently strengthened the regulation of Web3
(the third generation of the World Wide Web) and virtual
digital assets industries while heavily promoting their
positive development. In view of this, the Group is also
considering expanding into Web3, virtual digital assets and
metaverse technological applications and actively exploring
the marketisation of new technologies such as Web3,
metaverse, virtual digital assets, Al (artificial intelligence) and
RWA (real-world assets), which will yield new industrialised
business opportunities.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to strive to provide
comprehensive marketing solutions to our customers and adopt
a prudent and proactive business approach in the hope of
generating satisfactory returns and profits for the shareholders
of the Company (“Shareholders”). | would like to take this
opportunity to express my deepest gratitude to all Shareholders,
customers and business partners for their trust and support, and to
the directors, management and all staffs for their loyal service and
dedication.

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To
Chairman
28 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREF WD

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
During the Year, the Group’s revenue amounted to RMB25.4
millions, representing a decrease of 63.1% (2022: RMB69.0 million).
Revenue disaggregated by major service lines is set as below:
As percentage to total revenue

2023

2023&
RMB’000

Bt 75 1o R
W =
RAFE  REBENRAESARE2SA

BEJTT B A63.1% (20226 : A R#69.0
BET) - WHLZ T ERBENDHIWT

EBEWBENE DL
2022 Change 2023 2022
20224 # 2023F 20226
RMB'000 % % %

ARBTR ARETR

Traditional offline media advertising @£t 4% T 188 & IR 75

services 16,915 60,850 (72.2) 66.5 88.2
Online media advertising services 48 i B8 & 4 R 7% 5,601 4317 29.7 22,0 63
PR, marketing campaigns and AH - EHEBR

other services Hi R 2,908 3802 (235) 115 55
Total =E 25,424 68,969 63.1) 100.0 1000
Traditional offline media advertising services ERFRTERESRKE

The Group's traditional offline media advertising services include
the provision of advertising service in public transportation station
and hubs (including airports, subways and buses, etc), flat panels
and LCD/LED displays in shopping malls, commercial buildings
and housing estates.

As the development of macro-economic slowed down and the
industry headwind affected by the COVID-19, a majority of brand
customers cut their marketing budget during the Year. Revenue
from traditional offline media advertising services decreased by
72.2% to approximately RMB16.9 million as compared to 2022.
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Online media advertising services

Revenue from online media advertising services mainly comprised
revenue from social media seeding services.

During the Year, revenue from online media advertising services
increased by RMB1.3 million to RMB5.6 million, representing a
increase by 29.7% as compared to the year of 2022. In line with
the trend of the marketing and advertising industry, exploration
of the business potential in online media advertising services
has always been the major focus of the Group. During the Year,
the Group successfully extended services to several renowned
brand customers and stepped up to deliver social media seeding
services, recording a revenue of more than RMB5.5 million. With
the expansion of the dedicated service team in social media
“seeding” services, the Group expects a further development in the
comprehensive marketing services for online media advertising
service segment.

PR, marketing campaigns and other services

PR, marketing campaigns and other services included devising
strategies, formulating advertising solutions, coordinating with
media platforms and organising and executing marketing
campaigns. Revenue in this segment decreased by RMB0.9 million
from RMB3.8 million in 2022 to RMB2.9 million in 2023.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales for the Year amounted to approximately RMB21.3
million (2022: RMB73.5 million). The decrease was mainly resulted
from: (i) the reduced media costs from the decreased advertising
services delivered; (ii) the improvement on project external
procurement cost control; and (iii) the decreased staff costs due to
the Company’s organisational structure optimisation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEENRED (&)

Gross profit/(loss) and gross profit/(loss) margin

Gross profit amounted to approximately RMB4.2 million for
the Year (2022: gross loss of RMB4.5 million). The turnaround
was mainly due to: (i) the improvement on project external
procurement cost control; and (i) the staff cost decreased due to
the Company’s organisational structure optimisation. Gross profit
margin amounted to approximately 16.4% for the Year (2022: gross
loss margin of 6.5%).

Other income

Other revenue amounted to approximately RMB0.6 million
for the Year (2022: RMBO0.7 million). Other revenue for the Year
mainly consisted of government grants of approximately RMB0.4
million(2022: RMBO.2 million).

Selling expenses

Selling expenses amounted to approximately RMB4.3 million for
the Year (2022: RMB4.2 million).

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB8.6 million (2022: RMB10.9 million). The decrease in
administrative expenses for the Year was resulted from the
decrease in auditor's remuneration and consulting fee.

Impairment losses on trade and other receivables

Impairment losses on trade and other receivables for the Year
amounted to approximately RMB63.0 million (2022: RMB26.7
million). The increase is due to the fact that the Group adopted
a more cautious approach and increased provision of credit
loss allowance as the Group expects slow collection in trade
receivables.
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Finance costs

Finance costs amounted to approximately RMBO0.9 million for the
Year (2022: RMBO0.9 million). The finance costs mainly comprised
of interest expense for the Group’s short-term bank loan of
approximately RMB0.7 million (2022: RMB0.4 million) and interest
expense recognised under Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard 16 Leases of approximately RMBO0.2 million (2022: RMB0.4
million).

Income tax

The Group recorded income tax expense of approximately RMB6.9
million for the Year (2022: income tax credit of approximately
RMB7.4 million (restated)). The Group did not recognize deferred
tax asset from the cumulative tax loss and cumulative expected
credit losses on trade and other receivables until which would be
utilised against future taxable profit, if any, within the coming five
years.

Loss for the Year attributable to equity Shareholders
of the Company

During the Year, the Group recorded loss for the year attributable
to equity Shareholders of the Company of RMB84.6 million (2022:
RMB39.2 million (restated)). The increase was mainly attributable
to (i) the Group's increased provision of credit loss allowance in
respect of the trade receivables with slow collection progress; and
to a smaller extent attributable to (i) the Group’s derecognised
deferred tax assets for deductible temporary differences in the
provision for credit losses on trade receivables after re-assessment.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group's working capital and other capital requirements were
principally satisfied by cash generated from the Group's operations
and bank borrowings.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s net current liabilities
amounted to approximately RMB14.3 million (as at 31 December
2022: net current assets of RMB57.7 million), and its liquidity as
represented by current ratio (calculated by dividing current assets
by current liabilities) was 0.6 times at 31 December 2023 (as at 31
December 2022: 1.9 times). Cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately RMB13.7 million (as at 31 December 2022:
approximately RMB12.0 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENRED (&)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had an outstanding bank loan
with fixed interest rate of RMB5.0 million (as at 31 December 2022:
RMB20.0 million). Therefore, gearing ratio of the Group, calculated
by dividing bank loans by total deficit/equity, was a negative of
35.0% (i.e. dividing bank loans by total deficit) (as at 31 December
2022: 28.4% (restated)) (i.e. dividing bank loans by total equity).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no changes in the capital structure of the Group
during the Year. The share capital of the Company only comprises
of ordinary shares.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 180,000,000 ordinary
shares at par value of HKS0.01 each (the “Share(s)") in issue. The
number of Shares in issue was increased to 216,000,000 Shares
as at the date of this annual report. Please refer to “Events after
Reporting Period” for details on changes in share capital.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Saved as disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group pledged accounts receivable
with gross amount of RMB5.6 million (2022: RMB31.2 million) to
secure RMB5 million (2022: RMB20 million) of bank borrowings of
the Group. Save for the above, the Group did not have any charges
on its assets.
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FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

Individual companies within the Group has limited foreign
currency risk as most of the transactions are denominated in the
same currency as the functional currency of the operations in
which they relate. As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not
have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of its foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES, JOINT VENTURES AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any significant investments, material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures
and capital assets during the Year.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group currently has no other plan for material investments
and capital assets.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 31 January 2024, the Company entered into a placing
agreement (the “Placing Agreement’) with Cheong Lee
Securities Limited and Ruisen Port Securities Limited (collectively,
the “Placing Agents”), pursuant to which the Placing Agents
had agreed to place, on a best effort basis, to not less than six
independent placees for up to 36,000,000 new shares of the
Company at a price of HK$0.471 per placing share, for and on
behalf of the Company. On 23 February 2024, the Company
and the Placing Agents entered into a supplemental placing
agreement (the “Supplemental Placing Agreement”), pursuant
to which the placing price was revised to HK$0.488 per placing
share. As all the conditions precedent set out in the Placing
Agreement and the Supplemental Placing Agreement had been
fulfilled, completion of the placing took place on 15 March 2024,
and 36,000,000 new shares were issued to not less than six placees
at the placing price of HK$0.488 for each placing share. For further
details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
31 January 2024, 23 February 2024 and 15 March 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEENRED (&)

RISK MANAGEMENT

The risk management process includes risk identification, risk
evaluation, risk management measures and risk control and review.
The management is entrusted with duties to identify, analyze,
evaluate, respond, monitor and communicate risks associated with
any activity, function or process within its scope of responsibility
and authority. It endeavours to evaluate and compare the level of
risk against predetermined acceptable level of risk. For risk control
and monitoring, it involves making decisions regarding which
risks are acceptable and how to address those that are not. The
management will develop contingency plans for possible loss
scenarios. Incidents and other situations involving loss or near-loss
will be investigated and properly documented as part of the effort
to manage risks.

Exposure to business risk arises in the normal course of the Group's
business, the business risk the Group may encounter had been
described below:

(i) the Group may not be able to retain or renew the existing
supply of advertising resources or obtain new advertising
resources for the customers, which may lead to loss of
customers and businesses;

(i) the expansion from traditional advertising to online
advertising may face tremendous competition;

(iii) the customers may delay the settlement of the accounts
receivable, which may result in a certain credit risk;

(iv)  the customers may decrease its advertising budget due to
the economy slow-down; and

(v) the resignation of key persons.
DIVIDEND
The board of the Directors (the “Board”) has resolved not to

recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Year (2022:
nil).
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

EERGAEEEBREESR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To (& ¥ &) (“Mr. Chow”), aged 42, is
an executive Director, founder and chairman of the Board (the
“Chairman’”). He joined the Group in June 2009 and is mainly
responsible for the overall strategic planning and business
direction of the Group. He was appointed as a Director on 24 April
2019 and re-designated as an executive Director and Chairman on
31 May 2019. He is currently a director of Guangzhou Icon Culture
Media Investment Co,, Ltd* (BN KA L B HER B BR A 7))
("lcon Media").

Mr. Chow has over 17 years of experience in the media industry.
From July 2006 to May 2009, he served as the executive director
of Australian New Express Daily* (B M #7152 3%R ), where he was
responsible for formulation and implementation of operational
and investment plans of the company. In January 2010, he joined
KINGOLD Group Co, Ltd* (5 & &£ B AR A 7)) ('KINGOLD"),
which was a majority-controlled company (within the meaning
of the GEM Listing Rules) of Mr. Chau Chak Wing (& Z 48)
("Mr. Chau"), father of Mr. Chow, and he served as the vice
president of the real estate department where he fully participated
in planning, design and management. In May 2014, Mr. Chow
was promoted to director and chief executive officer of KINGOLD,
where he was responsible for the overall strategic planning,
business direction and management of the operations of KINGOLD.
With effect from 17 February 2023, Mr. Chow was appointed as a
director of Guangdong Huaxing Bank Co., Ltd..

Mr. Chow obtained his bachelor's degree of design in interior and
spatial design from the University of Technology Sydney, Australia
in March 2011.

Mr. Chow was the former controlling shareholder of the Company
(the "Former Controlling Shareholder’) for the year ended
31 December 2023. He is a director and the sole shareholder
of Shining lcon (BVI) Limited (“Shining Icon”) and Sense One
Limited (“Sense One"). Mr. Chow has ceased to be the controlling
shareholder of the Company immediately following completion
of the Disposals, details of which are set out in the section headed
“Report of the Directors — Directors’ and chief executives' interests
and short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures” in
this annual report.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Chow has not held any directorship
in any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

ESNeREEEEEEN (E)

Ms. Liang Wei (R #%) , aged 52, is an executive Director,
chief executive officer (the “Chief Executive Officer’) and the
compliance officer. She joined the Group in June 2017 and is
mainly responsible for the overall strategy implementation,
business development and management of the operations of
the Group. She was appointed as a Director on 31 May 2019 and
re-designated as an executive Director on the same day. She is
currently a director of Icon Media.

Ms. Liang has over 24 years of experience in business
management. From January 1992 to March 1996, she served as
a programmer in China Shipbuilding Industry Corporation 714
Institute* (F B ARE TRE QR E £ — U FTFT) , where
she was responsible for the construction and maintenance of the
company'’s database. From October 1995 to December 2003, she
worked at the strategic marketing department of Yonyou Software
Co., Ltd* (AR EHARH B R A &]). From April 2006 to October
2016, she served as the senior vice president of Visionchina Media
Group Co,, Ltd* (ZE1R EE K E HBR A Al) (previously known as
Visionchina Digital Mobile Television Co., Ltd* ((EfREFH EE
AR AE])), which was a company controlled by Visionchina
Media Inc, a company listed on NASDAQ (NASDAQ ticker: VISN)
and from December 2007 to April 2017, where she was responsible
for the formulation of development strategy, establishment of
sales management system and policies, market analysis, product
promotion, and supervising advertising sales activities in major
sales region. From October 2016 to March 2017, she served as
the vice president of Shanghai Conservation Advertising Co., Ltd.*
(EBSTHEESABRAT]), where she was responsible for the
formulation of project management system and managing costs
and revenue.

Ms. Liang obtained a master's degree in international business
administration from the University of Northumbria at Newcastle,
United Kingdom in November 2005. She has obtained a
certification of specially invited jury of 2019 Creative International
Innovation Festival and jury of 2020 Effie Awards Greater China.
Ms. Liang was an awarded Person of the Year of E-marketing in the
iResearch Marketing Awards 2020.

Save as disclosed herein, Ms. Liang has not held any directorship
in any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

Mr. Liu Biao (£#Z), aged 44, is an executive Director. He joined
the Group in July 2009 and is mainly responsible for the overall
business development and sales management of the Group. He
was appointed as a Director on 31 May 2019 and re-designated as
an executive Director on the same day. He is currently a director of
Icon Media.

Mr. Liu has 23 years of experience in sales and business
management in the media industry. From June 2000 to December
2006, he served as sales manager at Guangzhou Aishidai
Advertising Co, Ltd* (BN M X EREES AR A A]), where
his duties were developing and implementing efficient sales
network and maintaining customer relationships. From August
2007 to January 2008, he served as the planning manager at Ego
Information Technology Group Co., Ltd* (M 5 5 B &l &%
£ BB PR A F]), where he was responsible for the planning,
organisation and implementation of marketing activities, product
development, analysing sales and market development.

Mr. Liu obtained his diploma in chain management from
Guangzhou Jinrong Specialist College* (/& /N & Bl & 2% ), the
PRC in July 2004.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Liu has not held any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

ESNeREEEEEEN (E)

Mr. Yao Tong (#k#8) , aged 34, is an executive Director. He
joined the Group in January 2024 and is mainly responsible for
investment management of the Group. He obtained a bachelor
degree in management from Beihai college of Beihang University.
Previously, he held senior position in an investment company in
China and was an executive director of Wuxi Life International
Holdings Groups Limited (stock code: 8148) for the period from
7 December 2020 to 27 May 2021. Currently, he is the deputy
general manager of an international trading company in China and
is working as a manager in Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group
Limited (stock code: 204). Mr. Yao has experience in investment
and international trading sectors.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Yao has not held any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia (FE;£#) , aged 51, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 11 December 2019. She
is responsible for supervising the Group's compliance, corporate
governance matters and providing independent judgment and
advice to the Group.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

Ms. Tam has nearly 29 years of experience in the accounting and
finance field. From August 1994 to October 1997, she was an
accountant at DraftWorldwide Ltd, where she was responsible for
managing financial matters. From October 1997 to May 1999, she
also worked as an accountant at Baker Norton Asia Ltd, where she
was mainly responsible for financial matters. From June 1999 to
November 2000, she was a senior accountant at World Pioneer
Ltd, where she was responsible for setting up the accounting
system and managing the accounting functions including
preparation of financial forecasts and management reports, and
performing analysis. From November 2000 to March 2001, she
was the financial accountant and subsequently from March 2001
to October 2003, she served as the finance and administration
manager at Infoserve Technology Hong Kong Ltd, where she was
responsible for the management of finance, administration and
human resources matters. From August 2004 to March 2007, she
was the finance manager and subsequently the group finance
manager at Heal Force Development Limited, where she was
responsible for compliance and management of the group finance
department. From April 2007 to September 2013, she was the
head of compliance and corporate affairs of NetDragon Websoft
(Hong Kong) Limited and the company secretary and authorised
representative of NetDragon Websoft Holdings Limited (previously
known as NetDragon Websoft Inc.), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0777). From October
2013 to February 2014, she was the vice president of management
centre of 91 Wireless Websoft Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Baidu Inc.,, a company listed on NASDAQ (NASDAQ ticker:
BIDU), where she was responsible for supervising and managing
the finance, legal, human resources, internal control, government
relationship and administration departments. From September
2014 to March 2018, she was an independent non-executive
director and chairlady of the audit committee and member of
the nomination committee of Zhejiang Tengy Environmental
Technology Co., Ltd.,, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1527). On 8 November 2022,
Ms. Tam was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of Meihao Medical Group Co., Ltd (stock code: 1947), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Ms. Tam
is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since April 2002 and a fellow of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since November 2006.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management (continued)
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Ms. Tam obtained a bachelor's degree in business accounting from
University of Lincolnshire and Humberside, United Kingdom in
April 2000, and a master's degree in educational counselling from
The Education University of Hong Kong in November 2018.

Save as disclosed herein, Ms. Tam has not held any directorship
in any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.

Mr. Tian Tao (HH1E), aged 66, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 11 December 2019. He is responsible
for supervising the Group's compliance, corporate governance
matters and providing independent judgment and advice to the
Group.

From February 1999 to November 2015, Mr. Tian was the vice
general manager of CVSCTNS Research Co Ltd (R 48 T 35 81 3%
RE 1 B R A &) . From November 2015 to June 2017, he was the
president of Zhongguang Xincheng Information Technology Co.,
Ltd* (R EBE#E BRI AR D B R A F]) . From July 2017 to
August 2018, he was the president of the Beijing office of Nielsen—
CCData Media Research Services Co., Ltd* (JE B Zx 498t i &5
BERE AR A AL R 9 A F]). Since September 2018, he has
been serving as the president of Zhongguang Rongxin Media
Consulting (Beijing) Co., Ltd* (R EBEENFHH (JLR) AR
A@]). On 12 October 2022, Mr. Tian has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Many Idea Cloud Holdings
Limited (stock code: 6696), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Tian has not held any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.

¥ Foridentification purpose only
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

Mr. Liu Lihan (8|3 &), aged 65, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 15 December 2023. He
is responsible for supervising the Group's compliance, corporate
governance matters and providing independent judgment and
advice to the Group. He holds a Master degree in Economics from
Nankai University. He has held senior positions in various banks
and financial institutions in China before and is the president of
an investment management company. Mr. Liu has a wealth of
experience in financial and investment sectors. From September
2015 to February 2016, Mr. Liu was an executive director of Asia
Television Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 707), a company listed
on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”). From March 2021 to July 2021, Mr. Liu was
an independent non-executive director of Capital Realm Financial
Holdings Group Limited (Stock Code: 204) and was re-designated
to non-executive Director from July 2021 to October 2023.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Liu has not held any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Cristin Kuang (BB %%) , aged 46, joined the Group in
December 2020 as Vice President, Sales & Marketing. She is
responsible for account sales & marketing management, leads
team to deliver assigned growth ambition and supports Ms. Liang
in organization management.

¥ Foridentification purpose only
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management (continued)
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Ms. Kuang is a seasoned marketer with over 23 years marketing
experience including various areas like digital marketing, brand &
consumer marketing management, professional marketing and
retail customer marketing, etc. in top multi-national companies.
Proven record showed her roles in leading digital transformation
which significantly improve media utilization, turning around
several declining brands back to growth, developing effective
structure to improve organization efficiency, and establishing
digital marketing capability framework which facilitates growth
of the team. She also led her team winning series important
marketing industry awards, like China Great Wall Advertising
Awards (PR B [ & F 45 22 ) , ROl Marketing Awards (£ 3R E E &
#%), Golden Mouse Digital Marketing Awards (£ BIZ & 71k %
$HHZ), etc.

She has ever been as Digital Commerce Marketing Director,
Category Director for China Mint Category, Brand Leaders for series
of famous brands like FIVE Gum (50 & #&) , SKITTLES
Confectionery (F2 4T #&) , PIMPOM Lollipop (B FEEEE) ,
TATA Bubble Gum (K KJEJEHE), EXTRA Gum (g5 0 &HE),
etc. in Mars Wrigley China Ltd G5ECETHE (R EU) AR A A]), as
well as taking important roles in Mead Johnson Nutrition China Ltd
(REEREEm(FE)BR2AR), Kimberly-Clark China Ltd (&
B (FE)BEAT)and Avon China Ltd (S (R E) R

NCIDR

Ms. Kuang has obtained a certification of Jury of 2019-2020 Effie
Awards Greater China. She is a Qualified Montessori Teacher and a
Chinese Financial Planner. Ms. Kuang obtained a bachelor's degree
in Economic from Zhongshan University with major in Marketing.

Ms. Liang Wei is considered as senior management because she
is a chief executive officer of the Group.
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The Board presents this Report of the Directors together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are mainly engaged in provision of integrated
multi media advertising and marketing solution services based
in Guangzhou, the PRC and offer advertising and marketing
solutions covering (i) traditional offline media including both
OOH and indoor advertising platforms; (ii) online media; and (iii)
creative design, PR, marketing campaigns and other services to
the customers comprising brand owners, state-owned entities in
the PRC, advertising agencies and government authorities. The
integrated multimedia advertising and marketing solution service
primarily focused on the formulation of advertising strategies for
the customers, identifying and sourcing the most appropriate
advertising resources and delivery formats, and providing
integrated marketing and full operation in order to maximise the
effectiveness of brand and product promotion for our clients, while
at the same time, to facilitate our clients to realise a complete
closed-loop promotion from brand awareness, marketing
effectiveness to product sales volume and digital empowerment.

An analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the Year
is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” in this
annual report and Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The environmental policies and performance, compliance with
relevant laws and regulations and relationships with employees
will be disclosed in the section headed “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” in this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group, indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s businesses and other relevant
information, are disclosed in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” section. Such discussion forms part of this “Report of the
Directors”.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited consolidated results and the assets
and liabilities of the Group for 2019 to 2023, as extracted from
the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page
240 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company and
details of the shares issued during the Year are set out in Note 22
to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 12 to
the consolidated financial statements.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group is committed to operate in a sustainable manner
while balancing the interests of its various stakeholders including
customers, suppliers and employees. The Group recognises
employees as one of the valuable assets of the Group and the
Group strictly complies with the labour laws and regulations
in Hong Kong and PRC and regularly reviews the existing staff
benefits for improvement.

The Group provides good quality services to the customers and
maintains a good relationship with them. The Group is able to
establish cordial and long-term business relationship with the
major customers.

The Group also maintains effective communication and develops
healthy relationship with the suppliers.

Further details are set out in the "Management Discussion and

Analysis” section and the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of the
environment and is committed to becoming an environmentally—
friendly corporation. Details of the environmental, social and
governance policies and performance during the Year are
disclosed in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of
this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognizes the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and that the risks of non-compliance
with such requirements. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief, and having made all reasonable enquiries,
the Group has complied in all material aspects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Group. During the Year, there was no material
breach of, or non-compliance, with applicable laws and regulations
by the Group.

The Group also complies with the requirements under the GEM
Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter
571 of the laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO") for the disclosure of
information and corporate governance.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association (the “Articles of Association”)
or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing
Shareholders.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture as of the date of this
annual report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
as set out on pages 47 to 50 of this annual report, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the
Year.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Year (2022: nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company during
the Year are set out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had no reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the Cayman Islands
Companies Law.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, sales to the Group's five largest customers accounted
for 62.9% of the total sales for the Year and sales to the largest
customer included therein amounted to 20.8%. Purchases from
the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 55.3% of the total
purchases for the Year and purchase from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to 22.6%.

The Directors confirm that none of the Directors, their respective
close associates or any Shareholder (who or which to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Shares as
at the date of this annual report), has or had any interest in any of
the five largest suppliers or customers for the Year.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 43 employees (2022:
59). They are all located in Guangzhou, the PRC. The number
of employees employed by the Group varies from time to
time depending on need. To capture the growth of the online
advertising, the Group has recruited additional employees who
have the expertise in online advertising services. In addition,
members of the senior management team had exerted efforts on
the development of the Group’s online advertising services.

Employees’ remuneration is determined based on their
responsibilities, qualifications, performance, experience and
seniority. The Group's standard remuneration package may include
salary, discretionary bonus, benefits in kind and incentive. The
remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees are
periodically reviewed.

Compensation of key executives of the Group is reviewed by
the Company’s remuneration committee which is based on the
Group's performance and the executives’ respective contributions
to the Group.

The remuneration of Directors and members of senior
management is determined based on the duties, responsibilities,
experience, skills and time commitment, as well as the
performance of the Group.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC, the
Group participates in a defined contribution basic pension
insurance in the social insurance system established and managed
by government organisations. The Group’s PRC subsidiary
contributes funds which are calculated on certain percentages of
the employee salary as agreed by the local municipal government
to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.
There is no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group
to reduce the existing level of contribution.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 11
December 2019 (the “Share Option Scheme”) as an incentive to
the Directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme are set
out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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The total remuneration cost (including directors’ emoluments)
incurred by the Group for the Year was RMB10.0 million (2022:
RMB15.5 million).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was
entered into or existed during the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Material related party transactions entered into by the Group for
the Year are disclosed in Note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements. Save for the transactions under the KINGOLD Group
Advertising Services New Framework Agreement, the New
Guangzhou KINGOLD Advertising Spaces Framework Agreement,
the New Strategic Cooperative Agreement and the Amended
New Strategic Cooperative Agreement (as defined below), which
constitute non-exempt continuing connected transactions as
further discussed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” below, the other related party transactions under
Note 24 were either fully exempt from reporting, announcement
and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules or did not fall under the
definition of connected transactions or continuing connected
transaction as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” below, the Group had no other connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which fell to
be disclosed in accordance with the provisions under Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure of connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions. The Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors confirm that all related party transactions during
the Year were conducted after arm’s length negotiations, fair and
reasonable, on normal commercial terms and were not more
favourable to those offered by the Group to other independent
third parties for transactions of similar nature.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Non-Exempted Continuing Connected Transactions
(MCCT")

(1)

Provision of advertising services by the Group to
KINGOLD and its subsidiaries (together, “KINGOLD
Group”)

The Group has been providing media advertising services
to KINGOLD Group as part of its usual course of business
since December 2014 and throughout the Track Record
Period (as defined in the prospectus of the Company dated
30 December 2019) (the “Prospectus”).

KINGOLD, a limited liability company established under the
laws of the PRC, is a majority controlled company indirectly
held by Mr. Chau, father of Mr. Chow who is a substantial
Shareholder, executive Director and Chairman of the Board
as of the date of this annual report. As such, each of the
members of KINGOLD Group is an associate of Mr. Chow
and thus a connected person of the Company under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Mr. Chow is also one
of the directors of KINGOLD.

The scope of services includes but not limited to, sourcing
of advertising resources, placement of advertisements,
strategic planning, graphic designs, news editorial and
content advertorial in relation to brand promotion of
hotels, restaurants, residential and commercial properties
developed by KINGOLD Group. Such advertisements were
placed on various online platforms and media resources
such as LCD flat-panel displays and frame displays located
at elevators and lobbies in commercial buildings owned by
independent third parties and shopping malls, commercial
buildings and housing estates owned by KINGOLD Group.
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On 16 December 2019, the Group entered into an
advertising services framework agreement (the "KINGOLD
Group Advertising Services Framework Agreement’)
with KINGOLD (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) for
a term commenced from the Listing Date and ended on
31 December 2022 (subject to early termination pursuant
to the terms of the KINGOLD Group Advertising Services
Framework Agreement). Pursuant to the KINGOLD Group
Advertising Services Framework Agreement, the Group
will provide multimedia advertising services, including
but not limited to media advertising services, advertising
materials production services and event organisation and
planning services (the "KINGOLD Advertising Services’)
to KINGOLD Group.

The KINGOLD Group Advertising Services Framework
Agreement is a framework agreement which provides the
mechanism for the provision of the KINGOLD Advertising
Services described therein. Separate agreements will be
entered into between both parties to provide for the terms
and conditions of the specific transactions in accordance
with the principal terms set out in the KINGOLD Group
Advertising Services Framework Agreement.

As the term of the KINGOLD Group Advertising Services
Framework Agreement expired on 31 December 2022, the
Company entered into a new KINGOLD Group Advertising
Services Framework Agreement ("KINGOLD Group
Advertising Services New Framework Agreement’) on
28 December 2022 for a term of three years from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2025.

Pursuant to the KINGOLD Group Advertising Services New
Framework Agreement, the Group shall provide KINGOLD
and its subsidiaries with multimedia advertising services,
including but not limited to media advertising services,
advertising materials production services and event
organization and planning services. Having considered the
historical fees payable by KINGOLD Group, the annual caps
in respect of the provision of the advertising services under
the KINGOLD Group Advertising Services New Framework
Agreement for each of the years ending 31 December 2023,
2024 and 2025 will not exceed RMB4.5 million.
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The aggregate amount of service fees payable by KINGOLD
Group to the Group in respect of the provision of the
KINGOLD Advertising Services for the Year amounted to
approximately RMB2,124,000.

Provision of advertising spaces by Guangzhou
KINGOLD to the Group

On 16 December 2019, the Company entered into an
advertising spaces framework agreement ("Guangzhou
KINGOLD Adyvertising Spaces Framework Agreement”)
with Guangzhou KINGOLD Property Co., Ltd.* (J& M &
ZY ¥ G A 7)) (‘Guangzhou KINGOLD") for a term
commenced from the Listing Date and ended on 31
December 2022. Pursuant to the Guangzhou KINGOLD
Advertising Spaces Framework Agreement, Guangzhou
KINGOLD would provide the Company with platforms
and spaces such as shopping malls, commercial buildings,
housing estates and golf club owned by KINGOLD
Group. The transactions under the Guangzhou KINGOLD
Advertising Spaces Framework Agreement constituted de
minimis continuing connected transactions under Rule
20.74(1)(c) of the GEM Listing Rules.

As the term of the Guangzhou KINGOLD Advertising
Spaces Framework Agreement expired on 31 December
2022, the Company entered into a new Guangzhou
KINGOLD Advertising Spaces Framework Agreement ("New
Guangzhou KINGOLD Advertising Spaces Framework
Agreement’) on 28 December 2022 for a term of three
years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

(2)
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Pursuant to the New Guangzhou KINGOLD Advertising
Spaces Framework Agreement, Guangzhou KINGOLD shall
provide the Group with platforms and spaces such as
shopping malls, commercial buildings, housing estates and
golf club owned by KINGOLD and its subsidiaries for the
Group to provide advertising services to the customers of
the Group. Having considered the historical fees charged
by Guangzhou KINGOLD, the annual caps in relation to
the transaction amount payable by the Group for the
provision of the advertising spaces by Guangzhou KINGOLD
under the New Guangzhou KINGOLD Advertising Spaces
Framework Agreement for each of the years ending 31
December 2023, 2024 and 2025 will not exceed RMB4.0
million.

Guangzhou KINGOLD is a company established under the
laws of the PRC with limited liability. Guangzhou KINGOLD
is held as to approximately 59.1%, 24.5% and 16.4% by
Imperial Springs Centre for Health Management* (£ &8
B G RFEEE AR A ) (Imperial Springs’),
KINGOLD and Hong Kong Kingson Investment Limited,
respectively. Imperial Springs is held as to approximately
50.05% and 49.95% by KINGOLD and Ningbo Meishan Free
Trade Port Huishan Investment Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership)* (2% 1§ L {F 7% 75 & [E & &
BEEAEBNE (BRAE%E)), respectively. Hong Kong
Kingson Investment Limited is a company wholly owned by
the parents of Mr. Chow. Hence, Guangzhou KINGOLD is a
connected person of the Company under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

The aggregate amount of fee payable to Guangzhou
KINGOLD in respect of the provision of the advertising
spaces for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB2,359,000.
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Provision of advertising services to Tianhong Group

On 10 June 2022, Guangzhou Icon Culture Media
Investment Co., Ltd* (BM R X/L EHIZREBR A
7]) (“lecon Media”) entered into a strategic cooperative
agreement (“Strategic Cooperative Agreement”’) with
Guangzhou Tianhong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.*
(M R 5L = &= F 2 B R A 7)) (‘Tianhong Real
Estate’) and Guangzhou Tianhuihui Real Estate Co.,, Ltd*
(BN XFEME E % AR Q7)) (‘Guangzhou Tianhuihui’,
together with Tianhong Real Estate, the “Tianhong Real
Estate Group”), pursuant to which Icon Media would
provide advertising services to Tianhong Real Estate Group
for the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022.

As the term of the Strategic Cooperative Agreement expired
on 31 December 2022, on 28 December 2022, Icon Media
entered into a new strategic cooperative agreement (‘New
Strategic Cooperative Agreement”) with Tianhong
Real Estate Group for a term of three years from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2025. On 28 June 2023, Guangzhou
Tianhong Group Co., Ltd* (EM XBAEB B R A al)
(“Guangzhou Tianhong”) and Icon Media entered
into an amended new strategic cooperative agreement
("Amended New Strategic Cooperative Agreement”)
for the purpose of extending the provision of advertising
services to other subsidiaries of Guangzhou Tianhong
(including Tianhong Real Estate Group). On the same date,
Tianhong Real Estate, Guangzhou Tianhuihui and Icon
Media entered into a termination Agreement to terminate
the New Strategic Cooperative Agreement. Pursuant to
the Amended New Strategic Cooperative Agreement, lcon
Media shall provide the advertising services, including but
not limited to, media advertising services, public relations,
marketing campaigns and other services, to Guangzhou
Tianhong and its subsidiaries. The annual caps in respect
of the provision of the advertising services by the Group
under the Amended New Strategic Cooperative Agreement
for each of the years ending 31 December 2023, 2024 and
2025 will not exceed RMB3.5 million.

(3)
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The annual cap for the year ended 31 December 2023
includes the aggregate transaction amount in respect
of the advertising services provided by the Group to the
Tianhong Real Estate Group under the New Strategic
Cooperative Agreement before the termination of the New
Strategic Cooperative Agreement.

The aggregate amount of fee payable by Guangzhou
Tianhong to the Group in respect of the provision of
advertising services under the New Strategic Cooperative
Agreement and the Amended New Strategic Cooperative
Agreement amounted to approximately RMB1,126,000 this
year.

Tianhong Real Estate and Guangzhou Tianhuihui are
subsidiaries of Guangzhou Tianhong, which is in turn wholly
owned by Mr. Chow. Guangzhou Tianhong, Tianhong
Real Estate and Guangzhou Tianhuihui are companies
established under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability. Tianhong Real Estate is indirectly wholly-owned
by Mr. Chow. Guangzhou Tianhuihui is held by Tianhong
Real Estate and KINGOLD as to 70% and 30%, respectively.
Accordingly, Tianhong Real Estate, Guangzhou Tianhuihui
and Guangzhou Tianhong are connected persons of the
Company under the GEM Listing Rules.

For details on the terms of the KINGOLD Group Advertising
Services New Framework Agreement, the New Guangzhou
KINGOLD Advertising Spaces Framework Agreement, the
New Strategic Cooperative Agreement and the Amended
New Strategic Cooperative Agreement, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 28 December 2022
and 28 June 2023.

Confirmation of Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the above continuing connected transactions and
confirmed such transactions have been entered into: (1)
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
and (2) on normal or better commercial terms; and (3)
according to the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.
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Confirmation of the auditor

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited, the Company’s independent
auditor (the “Auditor”) was engaged to report on the
Group's continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with
reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “Auditor’s Letter’). Fan, Chan
& Co. Limited has issued its unqualified letter containing
its findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in
accordance with Rule 20.54 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Conclusion of the Auditor's assurance report on continuing
connected transactions:

a. nothing has come to the Auditor’s attention that
causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions have not been approved by
the Company's board of directors;

b. for transactions involving the provision of goods
or services by the Group, nothing has come to the
Auditor’s attention that causes them to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions
were not, in all material respects, in accordance with
the pricing policies of the Group;

C. nothing has come to the Auditor’s attention that
causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions; and

d. with respect to the aggregate amount of each of
the continuing connected transactions set out in
the above list of continuing connected transactions,
nothing has come to the Auditor’s attention that
causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions have exceeded the annual
cap as set by the Company.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date
of this annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To (Chairman)

Ms. Cai Xiaoshan (resigned on 12 January 2024)

Mr. Lau Tung Hei Derek (resigned on 12 January 2024)
Ms. Liang Wei (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Liu Biao

Mr. Yao Tong (appointed on 12 January 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster (resigned on 12 January 2024)
Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia

Mr. Tian Tao

Mr. Liu Lihan (appointed on 15 December 2023)

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of
the Group are set out in the section headed "Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 19 to 26 of this annual report.

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation.

Moreover, pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Director shall hold office only until the next first annual
general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment.

Accordingly, five Directors will retire from office at the forthcoming

annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the
applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in or
about the execution of their duty in their offices. Such permitted
indemnity provision has been in force for the Year. The Company
has arranged appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liabilities
insurance coverage for its Directors and officers.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
on 11 December 2019 (except for Mr. Yao Tong was appointed on
12 January 2024) with the Company commencing on the Listing
Date, which can be terminated by either party giving not less
than three months’ notice in writing to the other party (except for
Mr. Yao Tong's termination by not less than 1 month).

Each of the current independent non-executive Directors has
renewed a letter of service with the Company on 14 January 2024
(except for Mr. Liu Lihan was appointed on 15 December 2023) for
a term of one year which can be terminated by either party giving
not less than one month notice in writing to the other party.

The term of service of a Director is subject to the provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles of
Association.

Save as aforesaid, none of the Directors has or is proposed to
have a service contract or appointment letter with the Company
or any of the subsidiaries other than contracts or letters expiring
or determinable by the employer within one year without the
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders' approval at general
meetings. Other remuneration are determined by the Board with
reference to Directors’ duties, responsibility and performance and
the results of the Group as well as the recommendations of the
remuneration committee (the “"Remuneration Committee’).
Further details of Director's remuneration and the five highest-paid
individuals are set out in Note 7 and Note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 198 to 201 of this annual report.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

Details of retirement benefits plans of the Group as at 31
December 2023, if any, are set out in Note 5(b) to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had entered into any contract of significance
with the Former Controlling Shareholders or their respective close
associates, or any contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Company’s or any of its subsidiaries by the Former
Controlling Shareholders or their respective close associates,
during the Year.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Shining Icon, Sense One and Mr. Chow who was the Former
Controlling Shareholders of the Company during the Year (each
a "Covenantor” and collectively, the “Covenantors”), all have
entered into the deed of non-competition dated 11 December
2019 in favour of our Company (for ourselves and as trustee for
each of our subsidiaries) (the "Deed of Non-Competition”).
Details of the Deed of Non-Competition was set out in the section
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the
Prospectus.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
status of compliance and confirmed that all the undertakings
under the Deed of Non-Competition have been complied with by
the Covenantors during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement
or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director or an entity associated with him or her has or had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any
time during the Year.
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COMPETING INTEREST

During the Year, and up to the date of this annual report, none
of the Directors, or the controlling Shareholders or substantial
Shareholders (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company
or their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) had engaged in or had any interest in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group and which requires disclosure pursuant
to Rule 11.04 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors’ and
chief executives’ interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures” below, at no time during the Year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children
under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, or the Company’s subsidiary or holding
company or a subsidiary of the Company’s holding company a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during
the Year.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had issued or
granted any convertible securities, options, warrants or similar
rights or exercise any conversion or subscription rights under any
convertible securities, options, warrants or similar rights during the
Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares
capital, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including any interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
the Directors as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules were as follows:

EERESITRAERKG - HE
R REEENEER AR

F2023F 128318 - KRB EER&RETT
BABRARBKEAEEE (E&RE
% N ERE KB SEXVED) Z iR A - MRS
MEEETEESQRIEZSF K IBE KM
EXVEBZE7 I8 B3 E A e AR | K
RAT(BREBEESRBEGRINEBIK
XA VES AR BB () #E m POK
B)MEEEAE  JORBEESERHAE
16151 2535216 B R 8% WA S K BT st & 52 i A
R RORA + ROBIBEGEM_E T8 A 58546
ES/EEER R TEIREAMNEARRF
NSRS A BT

Number of Approximate
Ordinary percentage of
Shares held shareholding (%)
Name of Directors Capacity/nature of interest (Note 1) (Note 5)
BRFR
FrsEEREE B2 (%)
E=ns B ERtE (K7at1) (K13ts5)
Mr. Chow (Note 2) Interest in a controlled corporation 87,750,000 Shares (L) 48.75%
Bk (Hat2) REHEE R 87,750,0008% B& 15 (L) 48.75%
Mr. Lau Tung Hei Derek  Interest in a controlled corporation 13,500,000 Shares (L) 7.50%
("Mr. Lau") (Note 3)
ZIR T E REHEE R 13,500,0008% B& 15 (L) 7.50%
(T8I%%E]) (H73)
Ms. Cai Xiaoshan Interest in a controlled corporation 33,750,000 Shares (L) 18.75%
("Ms. Cai") (Note 4)
43 et REHEEE S 33,750,0000% A% 17 (L) 18.75%
(Ig&zx]) (Hita)
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Notes:
1. The letter “L" denotes a long position in the Shares.

2. Shining Icon and Sense One are wholly-owned by Mr. Chow.
Therefore, Mr. Chow is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by Shining Icon and Sense One pursuant to SFO. On 22
December 2023, Shining Icon and Sense One (collectively, the
“Sellers”) entered into sale and purchase agreements with Capital
Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited, pursuant to which the
Sellers agreed to sell and Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group
Limited (stock code: 204) agreed to purchase a total of 42,750,000
Shares (the “Disposals”). As at the date of this annual report, the
Disposals had been completed, and Mr. Chow, through Shining
Icon, is interested in 45,000,000 Shares after completion of the
Disposals.

3. Master Connection Limited (“Master Connection”) is
wholly-owned by Mr. Lau. Therefore, Mr. Lau is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Master Connection pursuant to
SFO. Mr. Lau resigned on 12 January 2024.

4. Focus Wonder Limited (“Focus Wonder") is wholly-owned by
Ms. Cai. Therefore, Ms. Cai is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by Focus Wonder pursuant to SFO. Ms. Cai resigned on 12
January 2024.

5. The calculation is based on the total number of 180,000,000
Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of
the Director nor the chief executives of the Company has any
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (a) to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or () to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard of dealings by the Directors as referred to in
Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons (not being
Directors or chief executives of the Company) had, or were
deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were required to
be recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

FERRRKRG  HEROKRER
PR

M2023F12831H * LR AT (A 3EAR
RBEERZEITHAR) RARRIRG

HEROFPHEBEX W ELEEREES
MHEAE R BIEXVER E2R30 B 2 A
A AR R B N B A BT AR R B M 25 SR B Bk
AR ARRBIREZEH M HE K5 5336
BEEE 2 EFEEMAMmERS AR

Number of Approximate
Ordinary percentage of
Shares held shareholding (%)
Name of Directors Capacity/nature of interest (Note 1) (Note 5)
BAER
FrEFEREREE B2 (%)
EEERE 5 kg (HieE1) (H17ts5)
Shining Icon (Note 2) Beneficial Owner 69,660,000 Shares (L) 38.7%
Shining Icon (#f##2) EEAA 69,660,0008% i% 15 (L) 38.7%
Focus Wonder (Note 3) Beneficial Owner 33,750,000 Shares (L) 18.75%
Focus Wonder (#/3£3) EmEAA 33,750,000 R A% 15 (L) 18.75%
Sense One (Note 2) Beneficial Owner 18,090,000 Shares (L) 10.05%
Sense One (H73t2) EnEAEA 18,090,0008% A& 15 (L) 10.05%
Master Connection (Note 4) Beneficial Owner 13,500,000 Shares (L) 7.50%
Master Connection (#7i#4) Em#HEA A 13,500,000 A& A& 17 (L) 7.50%
Notes: izt -
(1) The letter “L" denotes a long position in the Shares. 1) FTR[LIERBRHBETFE -
2 On 22 December 2023, Shining Icon and Sense One as sellers  (2) 72023128228 - Shining lcon K& Sense

entered into sale and purchase agreements with Capital Realm
Financial Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 204), pursuant
to which the Sellers agreed to sell and Capital Realm Financial
Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 204) agreed to purchase a
total of 42,750,000 Shares. As at the date of this annual report, the
Disposals had been completed, and Shining Icon and Sense One
hold 45,000,000 and nil Shares, respectively, after completion of
the Disposals.

3) Focus Wonder is wholly-owned by Ms. Cai. Therefore, Ms. Cai is

deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Focus Wonder
pursuant to SFO.

46 Icon Culture Global Company Limited 2023 Annual Report

One fEABE R BEARSEEEE
RN (RADAER - 204) FT BB s -
Bt EFRELEMEARGIEE
BERAT (RHEMAH:204) BB
B & $£42,750,0000% Bz 10 - A AN F R B
B HESFEHEEEK REEFER
B 1% + Shining Icon X Sense One? BllH5 B
45,000,000/% & T AZ I (7 ©

Focus WonderlB 2z + 2 & A -
Bt B TRBEFF R BEEAER
B F Focus Wonderdd 8 B i% 7 FR #E A 1

N
S o
panl



4) Master Connection is wholly-owned by Mr. Lau. Therefore,
Mr. Lau is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Master
Connection pursuant to SFO.

(5) The calculation is based on the total number of 180,000,000
Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no person, other
than the Directors and chief executives of the Company whose
interests are set out in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief
executives’ interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures” above, had any interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were required to be recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme has been conditionally adopted on
11 December 2019. No options had been granted, agreed to be
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled under the Share Option
Scheme during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out as
follows:

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to Eligible Participants (as defined in
below) as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group and to provide the Eligible Participants
an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company with the
view to achieving the following objectives:

(i) motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group;

(ii) attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going
business relationship with the Eligible Participants whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-term
growth of the Group; and/or

(i) ~ for such purposes as the Board may approve from time to
time.
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Who may join

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as
it may think fit, grant any of the Eligible Participants, as defined
below, options to subscribe at a price calculated in accordance
with paragraph headed “Subscription price of shares” below for
such number of Shares as it may determine in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme.

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any
option shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may
be, the independent non-executive Directors) from time to time
on the basis of his contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

Eligible participants (the “Eligible Participants”) shall include any
full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
Directors) of the Group and any suppliers, customers, consultants,
agents, advisers and related entities who, in the sole opinion of the
Board, will contribute or have contributed to the Group.

Maximum number of shares

18,000,000, that is, the maximum number of Shares issuable upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
as from 11 December 2019 (excluding, for this purpose, Shares
issuable upon exercise of options which have been granted
but which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the
Company) must not in aggregate exceed 10% of all the Shares in
issue as at the Listing Date which is 180,000,000 Shares.

No options have been granted since the adoption of the Share
Option Scheme. The number of options available for grant under
the Share Option Scheme was 18,000,000 as at 1 January 2023
and 31 December 2023, respectively. As at the date of this annual
report, the total number of Shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme was 18,000,000, representing approximately
8.3% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
this annual report.
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Maximum number of Shares comprised in options to
any one individual

1% of the Shares in issue as of the date of grant in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant.

Period within which the securities must be taken up
under an option

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.

Period within which an option may be exercised

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as our Board
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

There is no such requirement imposed by the Share Option
Scheme, provided that the Directors, may impose such
requirement upon grant of the option on which the option is
deemed to be granted and accepted.

Amount payable on application or acceptance of the
options

The amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company
on acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00.

Subscription price of Shares

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely
determined by the Board and notified to a participant and shall be
at least the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the option, which must be a business day;
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(if) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant of
the option; and

(iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the
option. For the purpose of calculating the subscription
price, where the Company has been listed on the Stock
Exchange for less than five business days, the issue price
of the Shares on the Stock Exchange shall be used as the
closing price for any business day fall within the period
before listing.

Remaining Life of the Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years from the Listing Date (i.e. 14 January 2020) and will
expire on 13 January 2030.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
percentage of public float under the GEM Listing Rules.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS’
INFORMATION

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and following
confirmations from the Directors, there is no change in the
information of the Directors required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules for the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

On 9 November 2023, KPMG resigned as the auditor of the
Company and Fan, Chan & Co. Limited (‘Fan Chan") has been
appointed as the new auditor of the Company to fill the causal
vacancy following the resignation of KPMG and will hold office
until the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.
For details, please refer to the Company's announcement dated 9
November 2023.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year
have been audited by Fan Chan and the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for each of the two years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 were audited by KPMG. A resolution will
be submitted to the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the
Company to reappoint Fan Chan as auditor of the Company.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the Year, on 31 January 2024, the Company
entered into a placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”),
which was amended on 23 February 2024 by a supplemental
placing agreement (the "Supplemental Placing Agreement’),
with placing agents, pursuant to which the Company has agreed
to place up to 36,000,000 new Shares at the amended price
of HKS$0.488 per Share pursuant to the Supplemental Placing
Agreement by way of placing to not less than six independent
investors procured by the placing agents (the “Placees”) (the
“Placing’).

All conditions precedent set out in the Placing Agreement and the
Supplemental Placing Agreement were fulfilled and the Placing
was completed on 15 March 2024 with 36,000,000 new Shares
issued to not less than six Placees. The proceeds from the issue
of new Shares before deducting related transaction costs was
approximately HK$17.6 million for use as general working capital
for the Group's operating business.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Chow Eric Tse To

Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024

Report of the Directors (continued)

EEERE(E)

BB

M2023F 11 A9 - B F R 5 EI5 AT
BHEARRBIZEA - MBREFTAIITA
AR (BREMIT) EEZE AR
NRAFZEE WEBESFHETEE
ERBI AT WiEHBEAR
NAEERRBFRE -BHEFIE &
2K N F BEA2023F11 AOBRIAE »

TEERAFENGEMBRERECHTD
PREETENITEAZ - MARQ R EE2022F &
2021512 31 B IEMBEFE S FHERE BT
BHREECHESRSMEBAEZ -
RARARHREERRAFRE LIRE —
ERFE UERBREREFMITALRA
AJIZELAD o

BEPREE

RARFE 1% R2024F1 8318 * AR 7]
HEREF VS Ha (REHE] -
R2024F2 ABAKHREE HzE ((HE
BEEm=RE]) 5] - Bt ARFERE
BEMARSHEAZRATSDRNEH
REEREBREMBIIRES ([EBEAL
REM AR - REIEETERTRARK0488
78 70 Bt & % %36,000,0000% ¥7 I% 17 ([ B2
g -

ieEmEkm il SRR E L
AR B ERK - Bl & B 7202453 A
158 X * 36,000,0000% ¥ i 15 2 3 17 F
NLRINBEIEA - KEHBRBEAR K
RET - BITHROOFAERIELR1768
BT BEASEZREXETN—MRE
BEED -

RREFE
BFEEE

ey

E7 > 20243 A28H

202355 RAXAEMEBERAT | 51



Corporate Governance Report
i PR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Directors recognise the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures to promote
and ensure accountability. The Company’s corporate governance
practices are based on principles and code provisions as set out
in the section headed “Part 2 — Principles of good corporate
governance, code provisions and recommended best practices” of
the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules (“Corporate Governance Code”) . During the
Year, the Company's corporate governance practices have been
complied with and it will continue to comply with the Corporate
Governance Code.

THE BOARD
Board of Directors

The Board currently comprises seven members, consisting of
four executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Board comprises the following
Directors:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To (Chairman)

Ms. Cai Xiaoshan (resigned on 12 January 2024)

Mr. Lau Tung Hei Derek (resigned on 12 January 2024)
Ms. Liang Wei (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Liu Biao

Mr. Yao Tong (appointed on 12 January 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster (resigned on 12 January 2024)
Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia

Mr. Tian Tao

Mr. Liu Lihan (appointed on 15 December 2023)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Information of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 19 to 26 of this annual report. Save as
disclosed, there is no other financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships among the members of the Board.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, Mr. Chow
acted as the Chairman and Ms. Liang Wei acted as the Chief
Executive Officer. The Chairman performs the management of the
Board and the Chief Executive Officer performs the day-to-day
management of the Group’s businesses. Clear division of their
respective roles and responsibilities is in place and set out in
writing to ensure a balance of power and authority.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board will meet regularly and schedule to meet at least four
times every year at approximately quarterly intervals in accordance
with the Corporate Governance Code. Apart from regular Board
meetings, the Chairman will also hold meeting annually with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
other Directors.

At least 14 days’ notice of a Board meeting will be normally given
to all Directors who are given an opportunity to include matters for
discussion in the agenda. The Board’s procedures comply with the
Articles of Association as well as the relevant rules and regulations.

Board minutes of each Board meeting and minutes of the
meetings of the committees shall be prepared in sufficient details
for the matters considered and resolved. Draft and final versions
of minutes shall be sent to all Directors for their comment and
records respectively, within a reasonable time after the meetings
were held.

The company secretary of the Company or the secretary to
the board committees is responsible for taking and/or keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and various committees’ meetings
in sufficient detail and are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice by any Director.
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The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and #AFEE KEFHFETeexsLKRE

general meetings during the Year is set out in the table below: KeEHFRERTE :
Attendance at
Attendance/ general meeting/
Name of Directors Number of meeting Number of meeting
HEERAY HERRAERE
Espns SRRE RERE
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Chow Eric Tse To 4/4 1/1
BFEEE
Ms. Cai Xiaoshan (resigned on 12 January 2024) 4/4 1/1
BB+ (20241 512 H BHE)
Mr. Lau Tung Hei Derek (resigned on 12 January 2024) 4/4 1/1
B B0 S5 A (1R20244F 1 12 H BEHE)
Ms. Liang Wei 4/4 1/1
R+
Mr. Liu Biao 4/4 1/1
BIF L4
Mr. Yao Tong (appointed on 12 January 2024) 0/0 0/0
Bk A (R2024F 1 F12HEZ(F)
Independent non-executive
Directors
BYFHTES
Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster (resigned on 12 January 2024) 4/4 1/1
IR S A (202451 5 12 H BEHE)
Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia 4/4 1/1
EEM A2+
Mr. Tian Tao 4/4 1/1
HErE
Mr. Liu Lihan (appointed on 15 December 2023) 0/0 0/0

BN B A (RO023F 127 15HEZ(F)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board has met the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors representing one-third of the Board with one
of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Board has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a written annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and
considers each of them to be independent.

Each of the current independent non-executive Directors (except
Mr. Liu Lihan) has renewed a letter of service with the Company
for a year with effective date until 13 January 2025. The term of
appointment of Mr. Liu Lihan is a year with effective date until 14
December 2024.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND
CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Board is the primary decision making body of the Company
and is responsible for overseeing the Group's businesses, strategic
decisions and performance and is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing and
supervising its affairs. The Board makes decisions objectively in the
interests of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning. The executive Directors oversee the daily
operations of the Group, while our independent non-executive
Directors bring independent judgment to the decision making
process of the Board, taking into account the advice of the senior
management of the Group.

The Group's senior management is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Group’s business, carrying out the business
decisions of the Group, and is responsible for overseeing the
general operation, business development, finance, marketing, and
operations as well as other essential management functions of the
Group.
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EEERKRE (F)

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), Remuneration
Committee (the "Remuneration Committee”) and the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of
these committees are established with defined written terms of
reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 11 December
2019 with written terms of reference in compliance with code
provision D.3.3 of the Corporate Governance Code. The Audit
Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors
members, namely Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia, Mr. Tian Tao and
Mr. Liu Lihan. Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia, is the chairperson of the
Audit Committee.

The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing, in draft form,
the annual report and accounts, half-year report and quarterly
reports and providing advice and comments to the Board. In
this regard, members of the Audit Committee will liaise with the
Board, the senior management, the reporting accountants and
auditor. The Audit Committee will also consider any significant
or usual items that are, or may need to be, reflected in such
reports and accounts and give consideration to any matter that
have been raised by the accounting staff, compliance officer or
auditor. Members of the Audit Committee are also responsible for
reviewing the Company’s financial reporting process and internal
control system.
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During the Year, five Audit Committee meetings were held and
among other things, reviewed the quarterly, interim and annual
results and the Group's accounting policies and practices, the
GEM Listing Rules and statutory compliance, annual audit plan, risk
management and internal control systems and financial reporting
matters. The attendance record of each committee member at the
meetings is set out below:

Name of committee members

ZEEHEKS
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ARAEEN SRR EER - GEMLE™
RAREERREBEN  FEETE
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EH - BSLZEBEXNENEH L ECEH
BIgnR

Attendance at meeting/
Number of meeting

HESBAB BTERRE

Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia (Chairperson) (appointed as Chairperson on
12 January 2024)

EEMAL L (FE) (Ro024F 1 F12AEEZ(EBLE)

Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster (Chairperson) (resigned on 12 January 2024)

IR KA () (R2024F1 4 12H BFE)

Mr. Tian Tao

AEE4E

Mr. Liu Lihan (appointed on 15 December 2023)

BISDE S A (R2023F 128 15HEZF)

The Audit Committee had, together with the management,
reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the Year. The Audit Committee is satisfied that the
audited consolidated financial statements have complied with the
applicable accounting standards and the requirements under the
GEM Listing Rules.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on
11 December 2019. The Remuneration Committee consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Tam
Hon Shan Celia, Mr. Tian Tao and Mr. Liu Lihan, and an executive
Director, namely Mr. Yao Tong. Mr. Liu Lihan is the chairperson
of the Remuneration Committee. Written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision E.1.2 of the Corporate Governance
Code have been adopted.

5/5
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5/5

0/0
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EEERKRE (F)

Amongst other things, the primary duties of the Remuneration HMMEZE@WIFIEBHE A (AT e E
Committee are to determine the specific remuneration packages TEAEEHITEELNSREEENETEH
of all executive Directors and senior management, including A& (BREEWEF  BARSEF K@
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, {3 @ 8 # Ak E s & R ZEH B 7S
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of 3% Z {F M FE {9 (E Al i 18) - I L IE 7 3E
their office or appointment, and make recommendations to  FITEEMNFH A EES/ELEEEZR -
the Board of the remuneration of independent non-executive

Directors.

During the Year, one Remuneration Committee meeting was AFEHFMWMEESERIT—AEH T
held and, among other things, reviewed the Company’s policy (E#BIE) BT ARAE2EEEZ LGN
and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and senior EIEEBRE B R2RE - S8 TE
management, assessed the performance of the executive Directors EN SR EEEAHXRIE BRITHTESE
and the senior management, reviewed the remuneration package NEEREEBHHFMER iR E 2 %H
of the executive Directors and the senior management, made MRZSZ=e/ELEEER (BFEIFEHTE
recommendation to the Board on their remuneration (including &Y% ) LA R A8 5TGEM T 4R BIIE T 19
remuneration of the non-executive Directors) and reviewed the B :tEl- S L8 @K EM @ HFERL
share scheme under the GEM Listing Rules. The attendance record  $k&(% A~ -

of each committee member at the meeting is set out below:

Attendance at meeting/

Name of committee members Number of meeting
ZESRERE HEERRE BTERAE
Mr. Liu Lihan (Chairperson) (appointed as member on 15 December 2023 0/0

and as Chairperson on 12 January 2024)

BINDES A (FE) (R2023F12A15H EZ (FAKS
WR2024F 1 F12HEZ(FRBFE)

Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia 1/
(re-designated to member from Chairperson on 12 January 2024)

EEM AL (Ro024F 1 B 12HB FEFTAEKE)

Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster (resigned on 12 January 2024) 1/1
IR A& (R2024F 1 /128 BFIF)

Mr. Tian Tao 1/1
HExE

Mr. Yao Tong (appointed on 12 January 2024)

Wi S A (R2024F 1 7 12H #EZ(F) 0/0

Details of the remuneration payable to each Director of the NEFEMNADTZEES 2 HMEEE
Company for the Year are set out in Note 7 to the consolidated — FA4RA B FEHRFMIEE 7
financial statements.
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The remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HKD)

¥riNsaE C8n)
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TEERRE (B)

REZRHFWERS D
BH s T

HEREEEX

Number of persons

AR

Nil to 1,000,000
= £ 1,000,000

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 11
December 2019. The Nomination Committee consists of five
members, namely Mr. Chow Eric Tse To, Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia,
Mr Liu Lihan, Mr. Yao Tong and Mr. Tian Tao. Mr. Chow Eric Tse
To, our Chairman and executive Director, is the chairperson of the
Nomination Committee. Written terms of reference in compliance
with code provision B.3.1 of the Corporate Governance Code have
been adopted.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on appointment of Directors and
succession planning for the Directors.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination Committee
evaluates skills, knowledge and experience required by the Board,
and identifies if there are any special requirements for the vacancy.
The Nomination Committee identifies appropriate candidates and
convenes Nomination Committee meeting to discuss and vote in
respect of the nominated Directors, and recommends candidates
for Directors to the Board.

The Nomination Committee considers candidates with individual
skills, experience and professional knowledge that can best assist
and facilitate the effectiveness of the Board. The Nomination
Committee takes the policy on Board diversity of the Company
into consideration when it considers the balance of composition
of the Board as a whole.
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EEERKRE (F)

During the Year, one Nomination Committee meeting was
held and, among other things, reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board, assessed the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors, reviewed the Board diversity
made recommendation on the re-election of retiring Directors. The
attendance record of each committee member at the meeting is
set out below:

Name of committee members

ZEERENSE

REZBEENAFELET -REH "
W (ERBEFE) RTEZTERE  ABRK
MR SHEBYIFMITESNE LI
EHNEEFSEZHEUEULRRERREES
FHEBER ZEGENEBHLEER
FYRCERBLFIGAT -

Attendance at meeting/Number of meeting

HESBRE BITEBREY

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To (Chairperson)
BFEEE(EE)

Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster (resigned on 12 January 2024)
AR A (202441 F12H BEE)

Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia

EEM A2+

Mr. Liu Lihan (appointed on 15 December 2023)
BISTE A (R2023F 128 15H #EZ(T)

Mr. Yao Tong (appointed on 12 January 2024)

BB (Ro024F 1 H12H#EZE (T)
Mr. Tian Tao (appointed on 20 March 2024)
MiE &4 (R2024F3 520 H EZ (T)

Board Diversity Policy and Measurable Objectives

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve and
maintain an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the
Board that are relevant to the Company’s business growth.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, selection of Board
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, and
industry experience. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

The Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and experiences,
including business management, strategic development,
media and advertising, sales management and administration
experiences. The Company is also committed to adopting similar
approach to promote diversity of the management (including
but not limited to the senior management) of the Company
to enhance the effectiveness of corporate governance. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of
the Board and reviews the Board Diversity Policy from time to time
to ensure the effectiveness.
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Implementation and Monitoring

The Nomination Committee reviews the Board's composition, size
and structure under diversified perspectives, and monitors the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy annually.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board's composition under
diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:

Designation Eg 1
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INED S8/ FE8 2=

Gender 14 B Male 551% Female %
Agegroup FiRH7 34-52 years old 34Z=525%, 53-66 years old 532667 ‘

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
ED : Executive Director HME HWITESR
INED Independent Non-executive Director B IEE BUIEMITES
The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity Tm%é/\ @ mTESek 8 %tk
Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group CHERETZERN TR EARNERD
has complied with the Board Diversity Policy and has achieved L#i%A}ﬁE\ AL E I O iENE
board gender diversity. ES-d 3 e
Workforce Level EEEE

The Group maintained a good balance on gender diversity by
achieving a gender balance across different levels of the Group.
The Group is an integrated multimedia advertising and marketing
solutions service provider which has no specific barrier for specific
gender.

The details of workforce composition of the Group is disclosed
under the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in this
annual report.
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EEERKRE (F)

Independence

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure that
independent views and input are available to the Board. The
governance framework and the following mechanisms are
reviewed annually by the Board including the criteria of the size,
structure and composition of the Board and Board Committees,
Board Diversity Policy, Directors’ compensation, availability of
information and access to senior management, Board decision
making mechanism as well as access to independent professional
advice. The Nomination Committee also strictly adheres to the
Nomination Policy and the independence assessment criteria as
set out in the GEM Listing Rules with regard to the nomination and
appointment of INEDs.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
code provision A2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, which
include (a) to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
board; (b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management;
(c) to review and monitor the issuer’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (d) to develop,
review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
(if any) applicable to employees and directors; and (e) to review
the issuer's compliance with the Corporate Governance Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report. The Board
would review the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of
the Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
and the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code and disclosure in its Corporate Governance Report.

During the Year, the Board had reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance practices, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, and the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

The Group acknowledges the importance of adequate and ample
continuing professional development for the Directors for a sound
and effective internal control system and corporate governance.
In this regard, the Group has always encouraged our Directors to
attend relevant training courses to receive the latest news and
knowledge regarding corporate governance.

During the Year, the Group has provided all Directors training
material on the updates of the GEM Listing Rules concerning
good corporate governance practices. The Group will, if necessary,
provide timely and regular training material to the Directors to
ensure that they keep abreast with the current requirements under
the GEM Listing Rules.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms which are the same as the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 548 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules (the "Model Code”).

The Company periodically issues notices to its Directors reminding
them of the general prohibition on dealing in the Company's listed
securities during the blackout periods before the publication of
announcements of financial results. Having been made a specific
enquiry by the Company, all Directors confirmed that they had
complied with the Model Code during the Year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility in Respect of the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Auditor’s Responsibility and Remuneration

The Company appointed Fan, Chan & Co. Limited as the Auditor
for the Year. A statement issued by Fan, Chan & Co. Limited about
their reporting responsibilities for the consolidated financial
statements is included in the independent auditor's report on
pages 130 to 140.

Details of the fees paid or payable in respect of the audit and non-
audit services provided by Fan, Chan & Co. Limited for the Year are
set out in the table below:

BEKE
ESERUMBHRRAEAENEE
EFENEREEMBRARELRFED
REMBmERNEL-

SAEEFTAN - AR S A SR &
AREHARRFELERNELEAR
BEOEANHEEE -
RHET B R H M

ZAN/N TE?E““W% AETTERARR

AEZZ2ZBE - BREAMITAERR
AIBLE T \,m/\ﬁﬁ%#&'i@é’] AR R

R BRE N 51388 1408 1Y 18 S 1% B BT R
/—-to
TR AEERQ TSR BRE AT

BRARREHRES LIFESARBNCAH
KIER ERFIS

Fees charged
Services rendered Frig 4 89 AR 7% Fr Ut EY & A
(RMB'000)
(AR®EFIT)

Audit services EiT R
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the Company’s
risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. The risk management and internal control measures
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

To safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and the Group,
the Company has maintained an internal control system covering
corporate governance, risk management, quality control, financial
reporting, as well as those relating to the Company’s ESG
performance and reporting. To ensure continuous compliance of
all applicable laws and regulations, the Group has taken and will
take the following measures:

A. The Board will review the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control (including ESG function) on an
annual basis to ensure compliance with applicable laws and
regulations and will ensure that on-going improvements
will be made to the internal control system; and

B. The Audit Committee has been established to review the
internal control system and procedures for compliance with
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board, through the Audit Committee and in consultation
with the External Advisory Firm (as defined below), has conducted
annual review of the effectiveness of the Group's risk management
and internal control system for the Year, and considered the
Group's risk management and internal control system as adequate
and effective.
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EEERKRE (F)

Pursuant to Code Provision D.2.5., the Company is required to
have an internal audit function. The Company no longer has
an internal audit function as of 31 December 2023. The Audit
Committee and the Board has reviewed and discussed the need
for an internal audit function, and consider that in light of the
size and complexity of the Group’s operations and the costs of
maintaining an internal audit department, the functions of the
internal audit function of the Group are better served by engaging
an external service provider. Hence, the Group has engaged a
professional advisory firm (the “External Advisory Firm") to
perform the role of reviewing the Group’s internal control by
performing annual reviews on the Group's internal control system,
and reporting to and advising the Audit Committee and the
Board on its effectiveness (the “Current IC Arrangement’). The
Board considers the Current IC Arrangement to be adequate for
managing the Group's internal control risks. The Board will review
the need for an internal audit function on an annual basis.

Linkage Between Corporate Governance and
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)

The Group has developed a core governance framework to ensure
the alignment of ESG governance with its strategic growth while
advocating ESG integration into its business operations. The Board
holds overall responsibility for the Group's ESG strategies, ensuring
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control mechanisms, with the assistance of the ESG Working
Group.

In order to assist the Board in implementing ESG initiatives and
ensuring the establishment of an appropriate and effective ESG
risk management and internal monitoring system, the Group
has set up the ESG Working Group, which is composed of
representatives from various functional departments, to report
to the Board regularly and fully implement the Group’s ESG
strategies and related actions. The ESG Working Group also
makes recommendations to the Board regarding its management
approach, strategies, and setting ESG-related goals and targets in
relation to the Group's business.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Company:

is aware of its obligations under the SFO and the GEM
Listing Rules and is required, as soon as reasonably
practicable after any inside information has come to its
knowledge, to disclose the information to the public;

decides and implements monitoring procedures regarding
dissemination of inside information; and

communicates with relevant persons about corporate
information disclosure practices with respective training.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choi Pun Lap (“Mr. Choi") was appointed as the Company
Secretary on 12 January 2024. During the Year, Mr. Choi undertook
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training. Mr. Choi
holds a bachelor degree in business accounting and a master
degree in Chinese business law. Mr. Choi is currently serving as the
company secretary of a company listed in the GEM of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Choi is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, and he possesses the requisite
qualification and experience as required under Rule 5.14 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Ms. Tung Wing Yee Winnie was the former company secretary of
the Company and she undertook no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the Year.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings (the
“EGM”) by the Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the Directors
may, whenever they think fit, convene an EGM. An EGM shall also
be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders’
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the
right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be
made in writing to the Directors or the Company Secretary for
the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by the Directors
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of
such deposit the Directors fail to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Directors shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting forward Proposals at a General Meeting

A Shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the principal place of business in Hong
Kong of the Company at 17/F, Room 1701, Wai Fung Plaza, 664
Nathan Road, Mongkok, Kowloon, Hong Kong, specifying the
shareholding information of the Shareholder, his/her contact
details and the proposal he/she intends to put forward at general
meeting regarding any specified transaction/business and its
supporting documents.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the
attention of the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal

place of business at 17/F, Room 1701, Wai Fung Plaza, 664 Nathan
Road, Mongkok, Kowloon, Hong Kong .
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COMMUNICATION WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ communication policy
with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders will have
equal and timely access to information about the Company in
order to enable the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an
informed manner and allow them to engage actively with the
Company. Information will be communicated to the Shareholders
through the Company’s website, corporate email, financial reports,
AGMs and other EGMs that may be convened as well as all the
published disclosures submitted to the Stock Exchange.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the Shareholders’ communication policy during the Year and
concluded that it is effective because all the Directors attended
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 12 May
2023 either by person or by means of electronic facilities to
communicate with the shareholders of the Company. In addition,
all corporate communications and regulatory announcements
were published by the Company on its website and the website of
the Stock Exchange in a timely manner.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Directors shall decide and recommend the amount of
dividends (or decide not to recommend any dividend) based on
the earnings, cash flows, financial condition, capital requirements,
future plans of the Group and any other conditions that the
Directors deem relevant at such time. The foregoing, including the
dividend distribution record, should not be viewed as a reference
or basis to determine the level of dividends that may be declared
or paid by the Company in the future. There is no guarantee
or representation or indication that the Directors must or will
recommend and that the Group must or will pay dividends or
declare and pay dividends at all.

The declaration, payment and amount of any future dividends
are subject to the discretion of the Board depending on the
earnings, financial condition, cash requirements and the provisions
governing the declaration and distribution as contained in the
Articles of Association, applicable laws and other relevant factors.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a loss
of RMB84,647,000 which included impairment losses on trade
and other receivables under the expected credit loss model,
net of reversal, in the amount of RMB62,955,000, and as of 31
December 2023, the Group's net current liabilities and total deficit
amounted to RMB14,303,000 and RMB14,303,000 respectively.
These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
that may cast doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

Notwithstanding the aforementioned conditions, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis as the Directors are of the opinion that the Group will
have sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations
as and when they fall due for at least the next 12 months from
31 December 2023 after due and careful consideration of the
following measures and the other possible downside effect on
forecasting assumptions considered in the cash flow forecast of
the Group. The relevant measures include (i) the Group's renewal
of its banking facilities of RMB4,500,000 on 27 March 2024, which
has not been drawn down as at the date of this annual report;
(i) the completion of the placing of 36,000,000 new Shares
pursuant to the Placing Agreement and Supplemental Placing
Agreement entered into on 31 January 2023 and 23 February
2024 respectively, from which the Group obtained proceeds
of approximately HKD17,570,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB16,240,000), and other fund-raising options to be explored
by the Directors going forward; and (iii) an undertaking by a
substantial shareholder of the Group to provide financial support
to the extent of RMB15,000,000 to the Group as necessary to
ensure its continuing operation for a period of at least 15 months
from the date of issue of the consolidated financial statements.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

INTRODUCTION

Icon Culture Global Company Limited (the “Company’, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “we”) is an integrated
multimedia advertising and marketing solution service provider
based in Guangzhou, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
and offer advertising and marketing solutions to our customers.
Services we provide include: (i) traditional offline media, including
out-of-home and indoor advertising platforms; (ii) online media
advertising services; and (iii) public relations, marketing campaigns
and other services.

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report ("ESG Report”’)
summarises the environmental, social, and governance ("ESG")
initiatives, plans, and performances of the Group and demonstrates
its commitment to sustainable development.

THE ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group has developed a core governance framework to ensure
the alignment of ESG governance with its strategic growth while
advocating ESG integration into its business operations. The
structure of the Group's corporate social responsibility is divided
into two components, namely the Board of Directors (the “Board”)
and the Environmental, Social and Governance Working Group (the
“ESG Working Group”).

The Board holds overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG
strategies, ensuring the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management. The Board is responsible for overseeing all
ESG-related matters, including the identification, evaluation,
and management of sustainability risks and opportunities,
with the assistance of the ESG Working Group. Based on the
recommendations from the ESG Working Group, the Board
manages the Group's ESG performance, approaches, priorities, and
strategies on an ongoing basis, including setting ESG-related goals
and targets and reviewing the progress made towards achieving
those goals and targets. The Board discusses and reviews progress
made against ESG-related goals and targets at least once annually
with the assistance of the ESG Working Group, and ensures the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management systems and internal
control mechanisms.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
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THE ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE (Continued)

In order to assist the Board in implementing ESG initiatives and
ensuring the establishment of an appropriate and effective ESG
risk management and internal monitoring system, the Group
has set up the ESG Working Group, which is composed of
representatives from various functional departments, to report
to the Board regularly and fully implement the Group’s ESG
strategies and related actions. The ESG Working Group also
makes recommendations to the Board regarding its management
approach, strategies, and setting ESG-related goals and targets
in relation to the Group's business. In addition, the ESG Working
Group examines and evaluates the performance of different ESG
aspects of the Group, such as environment, health and safety,
labour standards, and product responsibilities, on an annual basis.

SCOPE OF REPORTING

The reporting scope of this ESG Report is discussed and confirmed
by the Group's senior management. This ESG Report covers the
operating activities that are considered material by the Group,
including traditional offline media advertising services, online
media advertising services, public relations, marketing campaigns,
and other service segments of lcon Media. Icon Media is the
Group's wholly-owned subsidiary with two offices in Guangzhou,
where its business activities represent approximately 100% of the
Group’s total revenue.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

This ESG Report has been prepared in compliance with all
applicable provisions set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide contained in Appendix C2 of the
GEM Listing Rules (the “ESG Reporting Guide") of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
Information relating to the Group's corporate governance structure
and practices has been set out in the Corporate Governance
Report of this annual report.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

REPORTING FRAMEWORK (Continued)
Reporting Principles

The content of this ESG Report follows the reporting principles of
the ESG Reporting Guide.

Materiality: This ESG Report is structured based on the materiality
of respective issues, resulting from the materiality assessment. The
result of the materiality assessment was reviewed and confirmed
by the Board and the ESG Working Group. For further details,
please refer to the sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement” and
“Materiality Assessment”.

Quantitative: This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the
ESG Reporting Guide and discloses key performance indicators
("KPIs") in a quantitative manner. Information regarding the
standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation
references, and sources of key conversion factors used for KPIs is
stated wherever appropriate.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the Group's disclosure and
statistical methods are consistent with the previous financial year,
which is the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (“2022"),
for meaningful comparison. If there is a change that may affect
comparisons with previous reports, the Group will add explanatory
notes to the relevant sections of this annual report.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report describes the ESG activities, challenges, and
measures taken by the Group during the financial year ended 31
December 2023 (the “Year” or “2023").
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
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BOARD STATEMENT

The Board is pleased to present the Group's ESG Report for 2023.
As an annual summary of the Group’s sustainable development,
the ESG Report fully demonstrates how the Group attaches great
importance to sustainable development, discloses the Group's
performance in all aspects of sustainable development, shows
our vision and commitment to sustainable development, and at
the same time provides us the opportunity to understand the
expectations and demands of its key stakeholders regarding the
Group’s sustainable development.

Committed to incorporating corporate social responsibilities
into its business operations, the Board accepts full responsibility
for the sustainability of the Group, including formulating
strategies, overseeing its ESG performance and relevant risks, and
approving the ESG Report. The Board also regularly reviews the
effectiveness of the risk management systems and internal control
mechanisms, assures the Group remains compliant with regulatory
requirements, operates on a sustainable basis in the long term,
and continuously strives to enhance its economic, environmental,
social, and community commitments.

Meanwhile, the Group has also established an ESG Working
Group, which has clear terms of reference that set out the
powers delegated to it by the Board to demonstrate the
Group’s commitment to sustainability with transparency and
accountability. The management and ESG Working Group are
primarily responsible for identifying and evaluating the Group's
ESG risks and the effectiveness of internal control mechanisms.
During the Year, the ESG Report and ESG-related issues are
reviewed and confirmed.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

BOARD STATEMENT(Continued)

Sustainability is integrated into all aspects of our business and
operations. The Group is doing its part through implementing
the Group's ESG strategies in areas such as green operation,
quality, technological innovation, employees and employment,
users, business ethics, the value chain, and social contribution.
In particular, to further decarbonisation efforts, the Group has
put forward four environmental targets in the areas of energy,
waste, and greenhouse gas ("GHG") management in 2021. The
environmental targets were approved by the Board, and the
progress will be reviewed by the ESG Working Group annually.

Moreover, the Group seeks to develop a climate-resilient portfolio
through collaborative efforts in addition to improving the overall
sustainability of the environment. During the Year, the Group has
included climate reporting with reference to the Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures recommendations to report
climate-related risks and challenges and help us improve in this
critical area.

The Board would like to take this opportunity to express our
gratitude to all stakeholders for their continued care and support
for the sustainable development of the Group. Looking forward,
the Group will continue to strengthen its communication with
stakeholders and improve relevant ESG strategies to further
enhance the Group's performance in terms of environmental and
social aspects, thereby meeting the requirements of regulators and
investors for sustainable development and creating long-term and
sustainable value for shareholders and stakeholders of the Group.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values its stakeholders and their views related
to its business and ESG issues. In order to understand and
address stakeholders’ concerns, the Group maintains close
communications with its key stakeholders, including but not
limited to shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers and
subcontractors, government and regulatory authorities, as well as
communities and the public. In formulating operational strategies
and ESG measures, the Group considers stakeholders” expectations
by utilising various engagement methods and communication
channels, as shown below:

Stakeholder Key Communication Channels
#HE FEEBBRE

KhE2H

AEBEEFENHEREHAEEEBL K
RE HEgkEREENER -ABTH
NEEFODEBEISE ~ASEHEEE
ERENE (BEETRARE EF - E
B HERE>BEE BN LKETHE
AR ERAR) RFERER - REIE
LERBNIRE 2 REREHKE -
AEBERAFATXATHNSELRESG
ARBBREZRFNENIE

Expectations

HE

Announcements and circulars
Financial reports
Shareholders” meetings

Shareholders

Company website
Advertorials

B &
REANE
NIRRT
EEEUX

S

Customers Customer hotline

Telephone and face-to-face meetings
Tenders

Bidding sessions

Contracts

BEPRR

BEkem

A ?é\.

Bf/\

ﬁRTEl

B #

BF
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Satisfactory financial results
Corporate sustainability
Complying with relevant laws and
regulations

S NMERI 5 RE
EEAFERR
ISR eI S

Product and service responsibility
Customer information protection

Complying with relevant laws and
regulations

EmMkREET
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE - HERERBME(E)

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (Continued) BEHpESHEE)

Stakeholder Key Communication Channels Expectations

R ] FTEBBRRE A

Employees Correspondences and suggestion box Health and safety
Annual performance appraisal Equal opportunities
Training, seminars and briefing sessions Remuneration and benefits
Department and company meetings/ Career development
conferences

] mANE R fRERZ %
FREMEZ FERE
2l A ERENTE B Ko ke A
HIRAANE EEE BERER

Suppliers and
subcontractors

HEEKRSEHE

Government and
regulatory
authorities

B REE#E

Communities and
the public

HERAR

Business correspondences
Procurement contracts and letters of
undertaking

Performance appraisals

EVRERS
REB A #) SRR K
RMERX

Compliance inspections
Conferences and seminars
Specialised visits and consultations

BRRE
RS
HEF Mt

Press releases and news
Company website

Community activities

Industry associations

Sales industry case competitions
1 s K

NGIE b

HEES

TEBE
EHTEERLE

Fair competition
Cooperation with mutual benefits

AR ES
BIERR

Complying with relevant laws and
regulations

Tax payment in accordance with laws

Business ethics

B TRBAERER
LT

BERER

Giving back to society
Environmental protection
Complying with relevant laws and
regulations
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RIBRE
BT AEBER AR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

R - @ RER®RE (E)

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (Continued)

The Group endeavours to actively listen to and collaborate with its
stakeholders to ensure that their opinions can be voiced through
proper communication channels. In the long run, the stakeholders’
contributions will aid the Group in improving potentially
overlooked ESG performances and sustaining the success of the
Group's business in the challenging market.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Stakeholder engagement and communications are crucial in
understanding the expectations and priorities of the Group’s
stakeholders. With the assistance of the ESG Working Group,
the Group identified a list of material ESG issues for the Group,
based on its business, the ESG Reporting Guide, and the analysis
of industry peers. To prioritise the identified material ESG issues,
the Group conducted a materiality assessment survey during
the Year. Management, employees of different business units
and departments, as well as external stakeholders, were invited
to evaluate the significance of the identified ESG issues to the
stakeholders and the Group's business. Based on the results of the
survey, the Group compiled the materiality matrix. The results of
the materiality assessment were reviewed and validated by the
Group's ESG Working Group, and then approved by the Board.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT (Continued)

R - g RERRE ()

EEMFE (R)

Materiality Matrix 24 465 &

Iz Protection of Intellectual Property (“IP”) Rights
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ré BRRIE IR Useé;;‘i;%mes Employment Practice
= o ¢ EEESR
Waste Management
y o BERYEE

Low 1&

During the Year, the Group confirmed that it has established
appropriate and effective management policies and internal
control systems for ESG issues and confirmed that the disclosed
contents are in compliance with the requirements of the ESG
Reporting Guide.

Impact on the Group’s Sustainable Development
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

CONTACT US

The Group welcomes stakeholders to provide their opinions and
suggestions. You can provide valuable advice in respect of the ESG

Report or the Group’s performances in sustainable development

by sending an email to ir@iconspace.com.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1.

80

Emissions

The Group adheres to the strategy of sustainable
development in its operations. The Group recognises
its environmental responsibilities in relation to its
business operations and incorporates environmental
considerations into its decision-making processes.
Therefore, the Group continues to focus on the
development of the environmental protection
mechanism and has formulated relevant policies,
regulations, and procedures to regulate the
generation of air pollutants, GHG, waste, and sewage
during operations. The Group has also adopted
relevant policies and procedures to protect and
improve the environment and promote sustainability
within our business.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations
in relation to air and GHG emissions, discharges
into water and land, and the generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste that would
have a significant impact on the Group, including
but not limited to the Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Atmospheric Pollution, the Water
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China, and the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1.

Emissions (Continued)

Due to the Group's office-based business nature,
it does not have a significant impact on the
environment. The Group nevertheless continuously
improves existing policies and incorporates new
policies with the intention of mitigating potential
direct and indirect negative environmental impacts
arising from its business operations.

Air Emissions

The Group's emissions are mainly from petrol
consumed by transportation. Due to the Group's
business nature, the Group does not generate a
significant amount of exhaust gas emissions directly
during its operations. Nevertheless, the Group has
established policies relating to the reduction of air
emissions, including:

encourage employees to take public
transport during the business trip;

encourage employees to reduce unnecessary
overseas business trips, thus reducing indirect
carbon emissions;

maintain vehicles on a monthly basis to
effectively reduce fuel consumption, thereby
reducing carbon emissions and exhaust gas
emissions;

switch off the engine whenever the vehicle is
idling; and

purchase regular petrol for vehicles and
conduct annual inspections to ensure
vehicles are meeting relevant emission
standards.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued) A. BIE (&)
A1. Emissions (Continued) Al. By (&)

Air Emissions (Continued) EER B (&)
Summary of exhaust gas emissions performance: FERBEMRIABE -
Types of Exhaust Gas Unit 2023 2022
BERESR B 2023%F 20224
Nitrogen Oxides (NO,) Kg 6.33 24.19
AALPINO) /NI
Sulphur Oxides (SO,) Kg 0.09 0.05
&AL ¥(S0,) /NI
Particulate Matter (PM) Kg 047 2.68
FERLH(PM) YNIN
GHG Emissions BEREBEK

The major sources of the Group’s GHG emissions
are direct emissions from the combustion of petrol
consumption (Scope 1), energy indirect emissions
from purchased electricity (Scope 2), and other
indirect emissions from paper waste disposal at
landfills (Scope 3). Committed to reducing GHG
emissions, the Group has set a target in 2021 to
reduce GHG emissions intensity (tCO,e/million
revenue (RMB) gradually by 2026, using 2021 as
the baseline year. To achieve this target, the Group
actively adopts various measures to reduce GHG

emissions, including:

actively adopt vehicular emission reduction
measures, which are described in the section
headed “Air Emissions” under this aspect;

actively adopt measures for energy
conservation, which are described in the
section headed “Energy Consumption” under

aspect A2; and
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1.

Emissions (Continued)

GHG Emissions (Continued)

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

A. RE

A1.

actively adopt measures for waste reduction,
which are described in the section headed

"Waste Management” under this aspect.

During the Year, the Group's total GHG emissions
intensity was approximately 2.92 tCO,e/million
revenue (RMB) (2022: approximately 0.73 tCO,e/
million revenue (RMB)), an increase of approximately
300.00% over 2022 due to a significant decrease in
revenue. The Group is in the process of achieving its
aforementioned target and will continue to promote
measures to reduce GHG emissions in the future.

Summary of GHG emissions performance:

R - g RERRE ()

(%)
BEr (&)
BER B (8

TEHREREUR D B R 5
MR IRENABEEE
METE | — e

RAFE AEENBEREER
R EE X B292M — |1t
REE/ BE8RAARET)
(20224 : #90.73M8 — &AL X &
E/AERA(ARET)) -
B R A KIBIR D - 20224
# AN 4J30000% - AEBIEEE
REMBENBEZEFR I
RARREEHEER D BERE
PERREFE 7 o

BERBHRREGRE

Indicator’ Unit 2023 2022
EE B fuy 20234 20224
Direct GHG Emissions (Scope 1) tCO,e 16.00 9.79
BERERBEBEW(FEE) W — S LIRE S
Indirect GHG Emissions (Scope 2) tCO,e 5732 39.07
FEAZERBH R (HE2) WE— A biRE 8
Other Indirect Emissions (Scope 3) tCO,e 093 140
H fth i B2 HE A (85 [E13) WS LI E 2
Total GHG Emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3) tCO,e 74.25 50.26
BERBHHREE (8E1 - 2 &3) Wo_E{tRER
Total GHG Emissions Intensity® tCO,e/million 2.92 0.73
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

A.

84

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1l.

Emiss

ions (Continued)

GHG Emissions (Continued)

Note(s):

GHG emission data is presented in terms of
carbon dioxide equivalent and are based on, but
not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards”
issued by the World Resources Institute and
the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, “How to prepare an ESG Report —
Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs" issued by the Stock Exchange, the “Notice
on the Management of Enterprise Greenhouse
Gas Emission Reporting by Power Generation
Industry for 2023-2025" published by the Ministry
of Ecology and Environment of the PRC, and the
“Global Warming Potential Values” from the IPCC
Fifth Assessment Report, 2014 (AR5).

During the Year, the Group's revenue recorded
approximately RMB25.4 million (2022:
approximately RMB69.0 million). This data is also
used for calculating other intensity data.
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1. Emissions (Continued)

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE - HERERBME(E)

Al BEm ()

Discharges into Water

Due to the Group’s business nature, discharges into
water are insignificant. Since the sewage discharged
by the Group will be disposed of through the
municipal sewage pipe network to the regional
water purification plant, its water consumption
amount is considered the amount of sewage
discharged. As the sewage of the entire office
building was collected by the property management
company in a centralised manner, specific data
could not be obtained.

Waste Management

The Group adheres to the waste management
principles of the 4Rs, namely, “reduce, reuse, recycle,
and replace”, and strives to manage and handle all
wastes produced in its business activities properly.
The Group’s waste management practice has
complied with related environmental protection
laws and regulations.

Hazardous Waste Management

As the Group mainly focuses on providing integrated
multimedia advertising and marketing solution
services, the Group does not directly produce
a material amount of hazardous waste during
its operation. Despite the fact that no material
amount of hazardous waste was generated by the
Group during the Year, the Group has established
guidelines to govern the management and disposal
of hazardous waste. In case there is any hazardous
waste produced, the Group must engage a qualified
chemical waste collector to handle such waste and
comply with the relevant environmental rules and
regulations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)
A1. Emissions (Continued)
Waste Management (Continued)

Non-hazardous Waste Management

Non-hazardous waste generated by an office-based
operation was mainly office paper. During the
Year, the Group did not produce a disproportional
amount of waste. Meanwhile, to minimise the
environmental impacts from non-hazardous waste
generated from its business operations, the Group
has set a target in 2021 to reduce non-hazardous
waste intensity (kg/million revenue (RMB)) gradually
by 2026 using 2021 as the baseline year. To achieve
this target, the Group continues to place great effort
into educating its employees on the importance
of reducing waste production and has adopted
the following environmentally friendly initiatives to

enhance its performance:

use duplex printing, recycle papers, and use
electronic means to reduce paper usage;

print or photocopy only the pages needed;

reuse office stationery, such as envelopes and

folders;

encourage employees to recycle equipment
such as computers and communication

devices;

utilise electronic means for daily office

communication;

implement waste classification according
to relevant local waste management

regulations; and

reuse materials for public relations activities.
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued) A. RE

A1.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

Emissions (Continued) A1.

Waste Management (Continued)
Non-hazardous Waste Management (Continued)

During the Year, the Group’s total non-hazardous
waste intensity was approximately 7.60 kg/million
revenue (RMB) (2022: approximately 4.23 kg/million
revenue (RMB)), an increase of approximately
80% over 2022 due to a significant decrease in
revenue. The Group is in the process of achieving its
aforementioned target and will continue to promote
initiatives to reduce waste production in the future.

Summary of non-hazardous waste discharge
performance:

R - g RERRE ()

(%)

Py ()
BERMEE (&)
EEZEREYEE ()

RAFE  NEBMHREEZRE
EYMHEREE L RBIORT/
BERA(ARETT) (2022F :
HABDT/BBERA(ARE
L)) ARIR A KIER A
20225 AN 4980% © ANEEE IE1E
FER LM ENBREES I
B RREEHERVEED
EEEMFEHE o

BEBREMFMERRME

Non-hazardous Waste Type Unit 2023 2022
BEBRVER B 2023%F 2022
Paper Kg 193.35 292.03
AR 5k N
Total Non-hazardous Waste Kg 193.35 292.03
BEBRVELE iy
Total Non-hazardous Waste Intensity kg/million 7.60 4.23
revenue (RMB)
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

R - @ RER®RE (E)

A.

88

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A2.

Use of Resources

As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group
upholds and promotes the effective use of
resources. The Group actively promotes green
office practices and minimises the environmental
impacts of the Group. The Group also encourages its
employees to use their best endeavours to reduce
the use of resources, with a view to contributing to
the community and the environment. The Group
has adopted relevant policies to govern the use
of electricity and water, and will keep monitoring
the potential environmental impacts of its business
operations.

Energy Consumption

The energy consumed by the Group was mainly
electricity consumption for the operations and petrol
consumption for transportation.

Related policies and initiatives on energy
conservation have been developed to show the
Group's concern for energy efficiency. Striving to
conserve energy in the workplace, the Group has set
a target in 2021 to reduce the energy consumption
intensity (MWh/million revenue (RMB)) gradually
by 2026 using 2021 as the baseline year. In order to
achieve this target, all employees are required to
implement the adopted policies and measures for
energy utilisation. The relevant specific measures are
as follows:

consider energy-efficient products when
procuring and replacing equipment, such
as replacing incandescent lighting with LED
lighting;
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A.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A2,

Use of Resources (Continued)
Energy Consumption (Continued)

turn off electrical appliances or switch them
to standby mode when they are not in use,
thus reducing the amount of electricity used;

turn off all unnecessary lighting, air
conditioning, and electrical appliances before
leaving the office;

strictly limit the use of air conditioners to
avoid electricity waste; and

improve equipment maintenance and
overhaul, and keep all electronic equipment
in best condition for efficient electricity use.

The Group also actively promotes an energy-efficient
office by committing to organising environmental
protection activities for employees to raise their
environmental awareness on responsible energy
consumption.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

R - @ RER®RE (E)

A.

20

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued) A. BiE

A2.

Use of Resources (Continued) A2.

Energy Consumption (Continued)

During the Year, the Group’'s total energy
consumption intensity was approximately 4.61
MWh/million revenue (RMB) (2022: approximately
1.51 MWh/million revenue (RMB)), an increase of
approximately 205% over 2022 due to a significant
decrease in revenue. The Group is in the process
of achieving its aforementioned target and
will continue to raise employee awareness on
responsible energy consumption in the future.

Summary of energy consumption performance:

(%)
EREM ()
ERH#E ()

RARFE  NEEMREREE
BEZENRIOKEE B
BIA(ARBIT) (20226 - &
151K B BEBA (AR
70)) c BRI A KIER A 0
20224 & h0 #9205% ° AN &= & 1F
EER LB EZENBIEE
WERAKREERAEEHE
BERERERENER

RERHFERAME -

Type of Energy Unit 2023 2022
RERIE B 20234 20224
Direct Energy
- Petrol MWh 55.39 35.69
BN Jo FLBY
- A
Indirect Energy
- Electricity MWh 61.86 68.51
B BE IR E 8 JK FL B
- &'H
Total Energy Consumption MWh 117.25 104.20
RFHERE KB
Total Energy Consumption Intensity MWh/million 4.61 1.51
revenue (RMB)
RRHERERE KEEE
ER-L.&
(AR¥ )
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A2,

Use of Resources (Continued)

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE - HERERBME(E)

A2. ERMEA ()

Water Consumption

Water usage was limited to water used by
employees at the office. Water consumption data
was not available since water usage was covered in
the tenancy fee.

The target for water efficiency is not presented,
as data gathering is not applicable. The Group
nevertheless encourages all employees to develop
the habit of conscious water conservation. The
Group has been enhancing its water conservation
promotion. Environmental messages are posted in
the pantry and washrooms to remind employees
to save water. The employees’ water conservation
awareness has increased with the above
water-saving measures.

Due to the Group's business nature, the Group did
not encounter any problems in sourcing water that
was fit for purpose.

Use of Packaging Material

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group does
not produce any final products nor does it have any
industrial facilities. Therefore, the Group does not
use a significant amount of packaging material in its
daily operations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
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A.

92

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A3.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group focuses on the business impacts it has on
the environment and natural resources and pursues
the best practices for environmental protection. In
addition to complying with related environmental
laws and regulations and international standards
for proper natural environment preservation, the
Group has integrated the concept of environmental
protection and natural resource conservation into its
internal management and daily operations in order
to achieve the aim of environmental sustainability.
The group has established relevant policies to
identify the environmental factors that can be
controlled and may have a significant impact on the
Group’s activities, products or services.

Working Environment

The Group strives to provide employees with a
comfortable working environment to enhance work
efficiency. The Group maintains office discipline
and environmental hygiene, and ensures private
office space and common areas are neat and
tidy. The Group also encourages its employees to
reduce unnecessary use of electricity, water, and
paper whenever possible, minimizing the Group's
consumption of natural resources. The Group’s
employees monitor the conditions of the workplace
from time to time, set up emergency plans in
advance for risk mitigation, adopt preventive and
control measures for problem and risk identification,
and deal with the identified problems and potential
risks in time so as to maintain a sound working
environment.
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A4. Climate Change

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE - HERERBME(E)

A4. RIRE 1t

Extreme weather events are becoming more
frequent and severe, while tackling climate change
has become a global consensus. The Group has
realised that climate change will affect its business
operations. Therefore, the Group has established
a robust set of policies and procedures to identify,
monitor, and manage climate-related issues. During
the Year, the Group has initiated a climate change
assessment to identify and mitigate the potential
risks that may arise from its business operations.
These risks mainly stem from the following
dimensions:

Transition Risks

It is expected that there will be more stringent
climate legislation and regulations to support the
global vision for decarbonisation. If the Group fails
to comply with the laws and regulations applicable
to its businesses from time to time, its business
operations may be affected. Negative publicity may
also arise due to failure to meet the compliance
requirements for climate change. The company's
related capital investment and compliance costs
thus increase. In response to the policy and legal
risks as well as the reputational risks, the Group
regularly monitors existing and emerging trends,
policies, and regulations relevant to climate and
is prepared to alert the top management where
necessary to avoid cost increments, non-compliance
fines, or reputational risks due to delayed response.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)
A4. Climate Change (Continued)

Transition Risks (Continued)

On the other hand, the Group’s success depends on
its ability to maintain relationships with its existing
customers and attract new ones. If the Group cannot
adapt and respond timely and effectively to the
emerging market expectations for climate change
actions, it may not be able to compete with its
peers in the market. In light of that, the Group has
gradually incorporated sustainability into its business
operations by taking various measures aimed at
reducing its GHG emissions and impact on the

environment.

Physical Risks

Increased frequency and severity of extreme
weather events, such as heavy rains and typhoons,
can disrupt operations by damaging the power grid
and communication infrastructures, hampering and
injuring employees on their way to or during work.
These events could disrupt supply chains, interrupt
business operations, and damage the Group's
assets. As a countermeasure, the group identifies
these risks, prioritises those with the most severe
consequences for taking precautionary measures
first, and investigates how a change in business
model might be possible to mitigate or avoid these

severe impacts on business operations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

SOCIAL

B1.

Employment

Human resources serve as the foundation for the
continuous development of the Group. The Group's
success highly depends on its ability to attract,
cultivate, and retain employees. The Group adheres
to a people- oriented approach and standardises
labour employment management to respect and
protect the legitimate interests of every employee.
At the same time, the Group strives to ensure the
welfare and well-being of its employees, protect
their labour rights, and stimulate their enthusiasm
and creativity.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with labour laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on
the Group, including but not limited to the Labour
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, and
the Regulations on Work-Related Injury Insurance of
the People’s Republic of China.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 43
(as at 31 December 2022: 59) full-time employees, all
of whom were located in the PRC. The distribution
of employees by gender, age group, and employee
category was as follows:

B1.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

B. SOCIAL (Continued) B. & (&)

B1. Employment (Continued) B1. {EfE (&)

18, 42% 25,58%

By Gender
N %ﬁi‘:‘l%‘lﬁ

Male 1% EFemale Z 1%

1,2%

8,19% I

By Age Group
21,49% RERENTS
N\

W Age 30 or below 305% 8% LA T Age 31-40 5%, W Age 41-50 5% M Age 51 or above 51558 M b
5,12%
8, 18% v
By Staff Category

BRERBENYS 30, 70%
Vo

W Senior Management = R EIEE ManagementE g M General Staff —fRET
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

SOCIAL (Continued)

B1.

Employment (Continued)

Due to the Group’s business nature, there is
a high turnover of staff in the live-streaming
e-commerce business, and the Group has carried

out staff optimization this year in accordance with

its business development and market conditions.

During the Year, the Group's overall turnover rate’

was approximately 102.33% (2022: approximately
142.37%). The employee turnover rate by gender,

R - g RERRE ()

B1. &% (&)

HRAEBEMERTEE  HE
EEREBMNABRDEER
RN MAEBESFRREESE
KERAEERMBIREBR  #
TABEBLE -REAFE A&
B ) BB W K E4) B102.33%
(20229F : #914237%) ° ¥RIER) ~
FhARI M IEE DA EEB R

age group and geographical region was as follows: LRI -
Categories* 2023 2022
¥R 20234 20224
Gender 14 7l
- Male -5 122.22% 171.43%
- Female - 88.00% 116.13%
Age Group REwRAR & 5
— Age 30 or below -30pR AT 207.69% 210.34%
- Age 31-40 - 31E2408% 71.43% 69.57%
- Age 41-50 - 41E505% 25.00% 100.00%
- Age 51 or above - 51 A F 0.0% 0.0%
Geographical Region R EE 2
The PRC s 102.33% 142.37%
Note(s): Bt -
3. The overall employee turnover rate is calculated 3. EBREBSRKAXTRREH

by dividing the number of employees leaving
employment during the reporting period by the
number of employees at the end of the reporting
period (employees who left the Group during
probation period are not included).

The employee turnover rate by specific category is
calculated by dividing the number of employees
in the specified category leaving employment
during the reporting period by the number of
employees in the specified category at the end
of the reporting period (employees who left the
Group during probation period are not included).

WNEBERE T ABBR RS
HRWBETAHBHESE (A
RHPAREAEENE TR
AEEA) ©
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

B. SOCIAL (Continued)
B1. Employment (Continued)
Employment Practices

Recruitment, Promotion, and Dismissal

The Group has formulated a series of personnel
management policies to guide employees in actively
integrating personal pursuits into the long-term

development of the Group.

The Group strives to nurture potential candidates
who show passion for launching a career in
the advertising industry. Hence, the Group
has established a robust, transparent, and fair
recruitment process in accordance with its
"Recruitment Management System” to offer open
and equal opportunities free of gender, race, family
status, and age discrimination in order to recruit the

best talents.

To retain talent, the Group offers promotion and
development opportunities for outperforming
employees through an open and fair assessment
system so as to explore their potential capabilities,
develop their careers and meet the Group’s needs
for sustainable development. Formulating the
"Performance Appraisal Management Approach’,
the Group has developed a set of criteria and
reasonable KPIs for selecting outstanding employees
in the annual performance appraisal. The promotion
of employees will be evaluated according to the

appraisal results.

Besides, the Group strictly prohibits any kinds
of unfair or unreasonable dismissals to protect
the employee’s rights. Any termination of the
employment contract is based on reasonable, lawful

grounds and internal policies.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

SOCIAL (Continued)

B1.

Employment (Continued)
Employment Practices (Continued)
Remuneration and Benefits

The Group has established a fair and reasonable
remuneration system that offers a competitive
remuneration package to employees by
referencing market benchmarks in order to attract
high-calibre candidates. The standard remuneration
package for employees includes a base salary,
a performance bonus, overtime pay, a position
subsidy and related subsidies, and other bonuses.
Employees’ remuneration is determined based on
their responsibilities, qualifications, performance,
experience, and seniority. Employees are also offered
other benefits, such as medical insurance, and
granted leaves such as maternity leave, marriage
leave, compassionate leave, and bereavement
leave. The remuneration policy and the package of
employees are periodically reviewed.

The Group signs and executes labour contracts
with all employees in the PRC in accordance with
the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China. In accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations of the PRC, the Group participates in a
defined contribution basic pension insurance in the
social insurance system established and managed
by government organisations. The Group’s PRC
subsidiary contributes funds which are calculated
on certain percentages of the employee salary
as agreed by the local municipal government to
the scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the
employees. These benefits are paid according to
relevant local regulations, which are paid monthly.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B1.

Employment (Continued)
Employment Practices (Continued)
Remuneration and Benefits (Continued)

The Group also provides different benefits, such
as birthday presents, tea breaks, and employee
discounts at different restaurants, to boost the sense
of belonging of its employees.

In addition, the compensation for key executives
of the Group is reviewed by the Company’s
remuneration committee, which is based on the
Group’s performance and the executives' respective
contributions to the Group. The remuneration of
the Board and members of senior management is
determined based on their duties, responsibilities,
experience, skills, time commitment, as well as the
Group's performance.

Diversity, Equal Opportunities, and Anti-discrimination

As an equal opportunity employer, the Group
recognises the value of a diverse and skilled
workforce and is committed to creating and
maintaining an inclusive and collaborative
workplace culture in which all can thrive. The Group
is dedicated to providing equal opportunity in all
aspects of employment and maintaining an inclusive
and collaborative workplace culture that is free from
discrimination, physical or verbal harassment against
any individual on the basis of race, religion, colour,
gender, physical or mental disability, age, and place
of origin, marital status, and sexual orientation.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

SOCIAL (Continued)

B1.

B2.

Employment (Continued)
Employment Practices (Continued)
Working Hours and Rest Periods

The Group has formulated the “Employee
Attendance System” for determining the working
hours and rest periods for employees in accordance
with local employment laws and regulations. The
Group has implemented a five-day work scheme
and provides employees with statutory holidays and
welfare holidays. In addition, employees are entitled
to additional annual leave based on the cumulative
years of employment in the Group.

The Group encourages employees to maintain a
work- life balance and avoid unnecessary overtime.
The Group provides overtime allowances and
compensatory rest arrangements for employees.

Health and Safety

The Group highly prioritises the health and safety
of its employees. The Group commits to providing
employees with a healthy, safe, and comfortable
working environment and strives to eliminate
potential health and safety hazards at the workplace.
Although the health and safety measures that are
applicable to an office-based business operation
are limited, the Group is committed to safeguarding
the well-being of all employees. The Group
formulated the “Office Management Regulation” to
reduce employee-related safety risks and enhance
employees’ occupational health awareness.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B2.

Health and Safety (Continued)

During the Year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with health and
safety-related laws and regulations that would have
a significant impact on the Group, including but not
limited to the Labour Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases, and the Fire Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China.

During the Year, there were no work-related injuries
or lost days due to work-related injuries reported
in the Group. In addition, there had been no
work-related fatalities in any of the past three years,
including the Year.

Workplace Health and Safety

As stated in the "Office Management Regulations”
formulated by the Group, all employees are
obligated to promote health and safety at the
workplace. For instance, employees are reminded
to use office equipment safely and maintain a
smoke-free office.

Due to employees’ prolonged use of computers,
the Group has provided employees with desks
of suitable height and task chairs of adjustable
height and encourages them to pay attention to
their sitting posture, take breaks, and do stretching
exercises regularly, thus reducing occupational
strain. Employees are also reminded to take safety
precautions and use suitable tools when lifting
heavy goods or reaching items at a height.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B2.

B3.

Health and Safety (Continued)
Workplace Health and Safety (Continued)

As a precautionary measure against potential
environmental hazards, special working
arrangements during typhoons and rainstorms have
been specified by the Group to avoid any confusion
that might lead to safety issues. The Group has also
taken precautions against fire hazards, where fire
extinguishers are strategically placed and fire exits
are free from obstruction. At the same time, the
Group has also placed first-aid boxes around the

premises for both daily and emergency uses.
Development and Training
Training Management

Training and continuous development are
essential for the Group's staff to keep abreast
of the ever-changing trends in the industry.
Therefore, the Group takes a proactive approach
to providing employees with opportunities to
advance their careers. The Group provides relevant
on-the-job training for each employee to facilitate
their business skills. Through various training
programmes, employees are able to strengthen
their business-related professional knowledge and
management skills. The Group has established the
“Training Management System” to standardise the
management of employees’ training. The Group
also encourages its employees to apply for internal
and external training courses to refresh their prior
knowledge.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
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B.  SOCIAL (Continued) B. #& (&)
B3. Development and Training (Continued) B3. ZERIZI (&)
Training Management (Continued) BIIEE (&)
During the Year, approximately 86.05%° (2022: RAFEE » 486.05% (20224F :
approximately 17.48%) of its employees have #1748%) MHEBEXHER
received training related to sales strategies and social WS R0 A R AL BR IR (EAR RS B
media operations, with an average training time of 39 55 511 855 A 492,33/ N BE° (2022
approximately 2.33 hours® (2022: approximately 4.56 F 456/ ) o LRI KB
hours). The breakdown of percentage of employees EHEFESZIEET LR
trained and average training hours completed per FEEB KSR E
employee by gender and employee category was as BHARLN T -
follows:
2023 2022
20235 20226
Percentage Average  Percentage Average
of trained training of trained training
employee hours employee hours
(%)’ (hours) (%) (hours)

RiEE FiaZ A RiEE P13
BAt (%) BROE) BIk©% BHOE)

Gender Male 7778 1.94 11.84 (Rl
IR D Bt
Female 92.00 260 23.88 847
qkd
Employee Category Senior Management 20.00 1.60 80.00 1330
RERERNZD BRERE
Management 100.00 217 - -
ERE
General staff 75.00 3.38 16.03 447
—HRET
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B3.

Development and Training (Continued)

Training Management (Continued)

Note(s):

The percentage of trained employees is calculated
by dividing the total number of employees who
took part in training during the reporting period
by the total number of employees at the end
of the reporting period, including existing and
resigned employees.

The average training hours per employee is
calculated by dividing the total number of training
hours during the reporting period by the total
number of employees at the end of the reporting
period, including existing and resigned employees.

The percentage of trained employees by category
is calculated by dividing the number of employees
in the specified category who took part in training
during the reporting period by the total number
of employees in the specified category at the end
of the reporting period, including existing and
resigned employees.

The average training hours by category is
calculated by dividing the number of training
hours for employees in the specified category
during the reporting period by the number of
employees in the specified category at the end
of the reporting period, including existing and
resigned employees.

For new employees, the human resources

department will provide orientation training in

relation to the Group’s policies and guidelines.
The head and members of the department will be
responsible for providing on- the-job training to

new employees. The Group’s “Management System

Compilation”, which covers administration, human

resources, finance, and legal matters, is issued to

employees.
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RIE 8 RERRE(E)

SOCIAL (Continued)

B3.

106

Development and Training (Continued)
Training Management (Continued)

On the subject of employees’ career prospects, if
vacancies or new positions are available, the Group
shall consider internal promotion or transfer, thus
encouraging the upward mobility of employees.

As mentioned in the section headed “Recruitment,
Promotion, and Dismissal” under aspect B1, the
Group regularly assesses employees’ performance.
The Group regularly reviews the effectiveness of the
training courses conducted by the management to
improve the quality of its training system. For those
employees whose performance has yet to reach a
satisfactory level, the Group shall provide training
tailored to strengthen their skills and knowledge.

In order to implement the Group’s development
strategy, promote corporate culture, create a good
corporate atmosphere, and cultivate and shape the
sense of honour and mission of all employees, the
Group has selected outstanding employees during
the Year. The selected outstanding employees were
awarded preferential promotion opportunities and
bonuses.

Regarding the development and training of the
Group's Directors, the Directors keep abreast of
regulatory developments and changes in order
to effectively perform their responsibilities and to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. Every newly appointed
member has received a formal, comprehensive, and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.
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SOCIAL (Continued)

B4.

Labour Standards

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE - HERERBME(E)

B4. & T %8|

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

The Group strictly prohibits the recruitment of child
labour and forced labour. The Group has established
a well-defined recruitment process in accordance
with its “Recruitment Management System” that
examines the background of candidates and
a formal reporting procedure for handling any
exceptions. During the recruitment process, the
age of the applicant is verified against the identity
documents of the applicant in order to prevent
hiring any employees who are below legal working
age. In addition, the Group conducts regular reviews
and inspections to prevent any child labour or forced
labour in operation. Once the Group discovers any
case that fails to conform to the relevant labour laws,
regulations, or standards, the relevant employment
contract will be immediately terminated.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with child and forced
labour-related laws and regulations that would have
a significant impact on the Group, including but not
limited to the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China and the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using
Child Labour of the People’s Republic of China.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

B. SOCIAL (Continued)

BS5.

Supply Chain Management

In the Group’s supply chain, environmental and
social risk management are highly valued. For
effective monitoring of procurement procedures
and cost control and to enhance management
transparency in procurement, the Group has
formulated a stringent and standardised “Supplier
Management System” and “Supplier Selection
Procedure”. During the procurement process, as
detailed in the Group’s “Procurement Management
System”, the procurement manager of the Group is
responsible for selecting and reviewing suppliers.
Apart from considering the offered price, the Group
also takes into account the supplier's background,
qualifications, management model, service quality,
financial health status, experience in similar services,
contract fulfilment, social and environmental
compliance, and follow-up services.

Sustainable Supply Chain Management

The Group is committed to managing its supply
chain in a socially and environmentally responsible
manner and sourcing from approved suppliers
who meet the Group’s requirements. Relevant
policies and measures are established to monitor
the quality of the Group's suppliers as well as their
environmental and ethical performance.

To reduce its social and environmental risks along
the supply chain, the Group periodically evaluates
and monitors the performance of its suppliers to
ensure their compliance with laws and regulations
relating to environmental and social policies,
service standards, contract conditions, and quality
provisions. Any noncompliance with relevant
environmental and social laws and regulations
discovered by the designated personnel from the
Group during the assessment will be promptly
reported to the management. Corrective action plan
will be carried out to remediate the identified risk in
a timely manner.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

SOCIAL (Continued)

BS5.

Supply Chain Management (Continued)

Sustainable Supply Chain Management
(Continued)

In addition, the Group pays close attention to
the environmental awareness of its suppliers and
promotes sound environmental performance
and governance practices amongst its business
partners and suppliers. The Group encourages its
business partners and suppliers to consider the
risks posed to their operations by climate change
and actively mitigate their environmental impacts
during supplier management meetings and
events. During the selection process, to promote
improvements in environmental performance,
suppliers are encouraged to consider and manage
their environmental and social issues in their
operations for priority consideration. The Group
maintains close communication with suppliers,
understands their supply and services, resolves
related supply and service issues, and makes
corresponding improvement measures. The Group
also shares sustainable operating practices and
disseminates environmental concepts, including
the latest knowledge on good employment and
environmental practices.

During the Year, the Group had a total of 430
suppliers (2022: 353 suppliers), all of which were
located in the PRC. All of them were engaged and
evaluated under the aforementioned practices.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B6.

Product Responsibility

The Group actively safeguards the quality of its
products with its internal control process. The
Group also maintains ongoing communication
with customers to understand their demands and
expectations and improve its service quality by
learning their levels of satisfaction.

During the Year, in recognition of its outstanding
service quality, the Group has won several awards in
ADMEN Awards and ROI Festival, was jointly awarded
the honorary title of “South China E-commerce
Gold Label Award - Most Growing Enterprise
Award” by Guangzhou Municipal Commerce Bureau
and Guangzhou Electronic Commerce Industry
Association, and also elected as Guangzhou Tianhe
District Folk Artists Association (Vice President
Company), Vice President Company of Guangzhou
E-commerce Industry Association and member of
Guangdong Modern Service Federation.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with any laws
and regulations in relation to health and safety,
advertising, labelling, and privacy matters relating
to products and services and methods of redress
that would have a significant impact on the Group,
including but not limited to the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Protection of Consumer Rights
and Interests, the Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China, and the Patent Law of the
People’s Republic of China.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

SOCIAL (Continued)

B6.

Product Responsibility (Continued)

Moreover, during the Year, there were not any
products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety
and health reasons.

Protection of IP Rights

Preventing potential copyright violations is critical
in the advertising industry. Before inserting a
copyrighted image on the Group’s product, the
Group ensures that consent from the relevant
copyright holder has been obtained.

Additionally, the Group respects IP rights and
is therefore committed to purchasing genuine
copyrighted products such as computer software
and firewalls. Fundamental guidelines are also
provided to the employees to ensure they do not
infringe upon any IP rights such as trademarks and
copyrights. Disciplinary or legal actions may be taken
against the employee should he/she be found to be
in breach of such rights.

Customer Services

Feedback from customers is welcomed as it is the
key to enhancing the Group’s service. Procedures
for handling feedback have been set up. Should
the Group receive any complaints, the Group will
act immediately to resolve the issue with effective
corrective actions. Due to the limitations of the
Group's business, the Group could not recall the
services provided. During the Year, the Group’s
did not receive any material written product or
service-related complaints.
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SOCIAL (Continued)

B6.

112

Product Responsibility (Continued)
Customer Privacy Protection

The Group recognises that protecting customers’
privacy is the key to its success, and as such, it is
always the Group's top priority. The Group's "Office
Management Regulations”, “Visitor Management
Regulations”, “Confidentiality Agreements” and
“Brand Management Regulations” have been
implemented to govern the collection, usage, and
disclosure of personal data given to the Group from
individuals.

Moreover, the Group seeks to protect customers’
information and accounts by adopting “Information
System Management System”, “Data Backup
Management System”, “Live Streaming E-commerce
Center Information Management Rules” and the

following data security measures such as:

promptly and regularly update the operating
system and anti-virus software, thus fixing
security vulnerabilities;

regularly backup employees’ computers and
servers, thereby avoiding possible data loss
caused by hardware or software failures,
including data related to IP rights and
consumer data and privacy;

promptly notify management and conduct
inspections based on relevant protocols
when computers or servers show signs of
anomalies, so as to minimise potential risks of
data leakage;
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

SOCIAL (Continued)

B6.

Product Responsibility (Continued)
Customer Privacy Protection (Continued)

conduct meetings with clients and visitors
in the conference room instead of the open
area in the office to avoid potential leaks of
client data or other private information;

prohibit the disclosure of the Group's
information relating to strategies, research,
technologies, financial matters, clients, and
other confidential information to unrelated
third parties or employees;

prohibit employees from reading each other’s
working information, computer, or personal
items without consent;

grant permission before entering the finance
office or server room with confidential
information;

require employees to keep information and
data related to IP rights and consumer data
and privacy confidential after resignation; and

configure proper networking and server
permissions to prevent unauthorised access
to customer data and private information.
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SOCIAL (Continued)

B6.

B7.

114

Product Responsibility (Continued)
Advertising and Labelling

The Group emphasises the importance of
appropriate advertising and compliance with
requirements relating to media advertisements.
The Group has formulated the “Sales Management
Practices” to ensure that the information on
its advertisements and labels does not contain
false, misleading, or incomplete information and
statements in order to protect the interests of
consumers from being deteriorated by improper
advertisement and label descriptions. The Group's
advertisements will be monitored by CSM Media
Research, the PRC's largest market research
institution, to ensure their effectiveness.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to building a clean
and healthy corporate system while combating
corruption and other improper business practices.
The Group has adopted relevant policies, including
the “Insider Information Management System” and
“Conflict of Interest Management System”, that
outline relevant procedures to guide employees in
preventing possible violations of bribery, corruption
and conflicts of interest. The Group specifically
stipulates that employees must discharge their
duties with loyalty and integrity, and shall not abuse
their positions to seek any improper interests.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with related laws and
regulations of bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering that would have a significant impact on
the Group, including but not limited to the Criminal
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Company
Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the Anti-
Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of
China.

Icon Culture Global Company Limited 2023 Annual Report

B. #H& (&)

B6.

B7.

EmEE (&)
EEREE

AEBERBEEES NETE
AREESHENERL A
SEEHECGEEERRE)
BRESMFEENEHLES
BER REXTTEBNEH
KR ARIEHEEZE ST
SRNE RS RIEHRFAMR
B-AKEBNESHERATHE
RAN TSR ERBDEER

REHENHIFER - AR
EEHNBERIL -
RES

AEERNEIRREENDE
EHE - RSTEEDEM
TERXTR AEBEDR®
MHEBE - BR(REEEERE
HED) MR R ERERSIE) -
EPCHIEMEBEERF KES
BEMIEAREEANMHER &
5 R R o AR B AR
EETIWABH  BEHET
BE  TEMNABKEZERR
RIEE Mz o

RAER  AEBIL T HMEL
MBEEERBHEBR R
MR BEOERRER
MBAEBERBEATZENE
Ao BREARR(FEAR
HAMBEADE) - (PEARKM
BRARNE) (R EARKNE
RAEEHRFIE) ©



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

SOCIAL (Continued)

B7.

Anti-corruption (Continued)

The Group has zero tolerance for any bribery,
corruption, or other behaviour violating work ethics.
The Group has formulated the “Professional Ethics
and Anti-Fraud Code of Conduct”. Employees are
expected to fulfil their duties with integrity and to
cease engaging in any activities that involve bribery,
extortion, fraud, or money laundering.

Whistle-blowing Mechanism

The Group has established the “Complaints and
Whistle-blowing System”. The Group encourages all
employees to report on any possible improprieties,
misconducts, malpractices, or irregularities. If an
employee discovers any possible improprieties,
misconducts, malpractices or irregularities within
the Group, he/she can report it to the administrative
department or his/her senior. If the employee is
not satisfied with the response or does not want
the complaint handled by the administrative
department or his/her supervisor, he/she can report
it directly to the general manager. Reports and
complaints received will be handled in a prompt
and fair manner. The Group intends to protect the
whistle-blower from common concerns such as
confidentiality and potential retaliation. Therefore,
the employee who reports in good faith under
the whistle-blowing mechanism can be assured of
protection against unfair dismissal or victimisation,
even if the reports are subsequently proved to be
unsubstantiated.

If any corruption, bribery, blackmail, fraud, or money
laundering incidents are discovered, the Group will
take necessary legal actions to protect the rights
and interests of the Company and its stakeholders.
There were no concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the Group or its
employees during the Year.
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B7.

B8.

116

Anti-corruption (Continued)
Anti-corruption Training

Recognising that anti-corruption training is essential
for creating a healthy corporate culture, the
Group has provided relevant training to Directors
and employees, including senior management.
The Group has provided all employees with
anti-corruption and anti-fraud guidelines to help
them understand their roles and responsibilities
in anti-corruption as well as to cultivate good
professional ethics among its employees at all levels.
In addition, training materials are distributed to the
Directors, including comprehensive memorandum
on Directors’ responsibilities, covering topics such as
integrity and discipline, confidentiality, and conflict
of interest. During the Year, the Group's Directors
have received anti-corruption related training.

Community Investment

In pursuit of business development, the Group
spares no effort in contributing to the community.
The Group is committed to contributing to society
through continuous participation in community
services in order to fulfil the Group's corporate
social responsibility and have established relevant
community investment policies to better manage
the Group’s contribution to the community. The
Group also hopes to foster employees’ sense of
social responsibility, thus encouraging them to
participate in charitable activities during their work
and spare time to make greater contributions to the
community.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE - HERERBME(E)

SOCIAL (Continued) B. #= (&)
B8. Community Investment (Continued) B8. #EIR¥E ()
During the year, the Group has participated in the NAFEE  NEBLZETLAT
following voluntary activities: ETLEE -
Date Beneficiaries Nature Activities
A 2amE HE EE
28 April 2023 Luoba Middle School, Education Charity activities: rural classroom
Shaoguan City enters school campus

Invested in project design valued
at RMB 100,000

Cultural and creative products
valued at RMB 11,500.

202344 A 28H HET ARG RE HAE DEEE  BRNAEEERE
BETE

18 B &1 E AR #100,0007T

BE AR 5008 (K&

BBER-

15 December 2023 The general public Culture Charity Event video shooting at the
event[ R BB ¥ 85— 2023 R - JHD
MR X AR ABERREE

2023F 128150 A Xie [ 2R #2023 R B ENRE X
BMERMBRATARBERNREE I REA
PRAHE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
R - HERERBRE (E)

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF THE §;%Ha* REZFERATCRE - 1

STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED EREBBEESDARTES
Mandatory Disclosure Requirements Section/Declaration

BEIRERE =4 3

Governance Structure Introduction — The ESG Governance Structure
BRRE BT —RE L RERERE

Reporting Principles Reporting Framework

M =t R B WEEL

Reporting Boundary Scope of Reporting

P e 6 &) WS EE

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

TEER EBEH- —K

BRENRBERERERES it 400 1
Aspect A1: Emissions
EEA1 : BER
General Disclosure Information on: Emissions
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
— PRI R EBAEREBRERBEER - MR HAHE BB
ﬁ BELEZERYNELSTH
a) K I
b) BFTHBITABEAZENMEBEELR
4l
BB FL -
KPI'AT.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions Emissions — Air Emissions, GHG
data. Emissions, Discharges into Water,
Waste Management
B $2 48 R IRATL HE i iE iR MR HE R - P — BRI AER
BHER - FUKEVBER - BEEY)
B
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

eRE>

R - g RERRE ()

BERBEXZMARATCERSE -+

ﬁ¢h%»ma%%“%)

and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
FEHE -EH - —
RERBRAEVIER it 400 1
KPI'A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) Emissions — GHG Emissions
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
AR R IRA.2 BE(EE) RepREZ (HE) ) RERBEH HRY — RAERBYN
BABESHE) B (4B ) 2 (A SE S s
7 - GFIERMBAHE) o
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) Emissions — Waste Management

B8 4B IR 1RA1 3

KPI' A1.4

BB S R 1RA 4

KPI'A1.5

BB A IR RAL S

KPI' A1.6

BB AE IR IRAT6

and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FTEXBEREEMES (UEAE) kK (WER)
ZE(WABEESEN  BERBE) -
Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FREXREEEMMAE (UEAE) K (WEA)
ZE(WMASESEM - BEFZEFTE) °
Description of emissions target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
RPN ER R R ARERELER
PR ERER & 27 B%: o

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
MR ENESEENN L URHE
AP ET SRR B AR K R E RS L B AR PR
) 228 o

e — BEERWEE

Emissions — Waste Management

e — EEEYER
Emissions — GHG Emissions

BERY) — R E R IX

Emissions — Waste Management

e — BEEYERE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

R - @ RER®RE (E)

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures

and KPIs Description
FEHKE -EH - —R
BEERBREXER it

BERBEXZMARATCERSE -+
ERERBERESDRBES (F)

Section/Declaration

B BH

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2 : EREA

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including  Use of Resources
energy, water and other raw materials.
— PRI EE BREAER(BIERER  KREMRME) BIRER
HER o
KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type Use of Resources — Energy

(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in "000s) and
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per

facility).

BB 45 R 1RAT WEARESNEE R/ REEER(WE - R
som) BREE (A TETERSE) REE (10
NEEEEM BEREHE) °

KPI'A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).

BB AE B TRA2.2 BEKERTE(WABESEMN - BERE
E

KPI' A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.

B3 A IR 1RA23 R PrET M MR IRIE B s B R R RERE
LE B R P ERERE) 22 5K o

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in

sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve

them.
R 4B BB IRA24 it SR EGE A KR L] BEAERE - LAKRET

I AR B RN AEREL B IR

PRERE) B

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products
(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per

unit produced.

BB 45 R 1RA2S X mATABEMENEE (EE) & ()

B BEESBUIEE -

Consumption

BIREM — ERER

Use of Resources — Water
Consumption

BRER —KE

Use of Resources — Energy
Consumption

BIREM — ERHER

Use of Resources — Water
Consumption

BRER —EKE

Use of Resources — Use of
Packaging Material

BIRER — BRMEHER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE - HERERBME(E)

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF §;§H§“A"%Fﬁﬁ FRABCGRE «
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED eREABREIESYREED (fﬁ)
(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
FTEEE - -EH - —&
RERBRAEVIER i 40 1

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EBEHA3 RERRXARER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant The Environment and Natural
impacts on the environment and natural resources. Resources

—REE BEBTAHRRERRAERENEATE RRELKRAER
BB -

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities ~ The Environment and
on the environment and natural resources and the Natural Resources — Working
actions taken to manage them. Environment

B8 B2 48 BB 1RA3 R EBETBHHRENRAERNERATE RENAKAER — LERR

MERBEBEGRTZENTH -

Aspect A4: Climate Change

EEA4 . RIRE 1

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of Climate Change
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

— PRI EE E%%/”JH&J@%TE%%&TQE/;%T?‘HAFE?75 RAREb
B B KSR M 48 B = B A BUR
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related Climate Change

issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage
them.
R G 45 IR 1RA4 B RAREHBETAEETENEAR RIEEL
RIRMEEEE - REHTE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF ERBMAEXRIERATCGRE - &
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED ERERBEESIABES (E)
(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
FEHKE -EH - —R
RERBREVIER it 400 1
Aspect B1: Employment
[EEB1 : E{E
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
— PRI ER BERHFMLmgE BREREA  TERSE - ERE
RE - FEHE  Znb  REGREEM
i LA Al
(@ B &
() BTFTHBEITAFTERTENERERZK
181051
HE R o
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type Employment
(for example, full- or part-time), age group and
geographical region.
BA $2 48 IR 1ZB1.1 IR EBEER (R BEERE) Fikld EBE
ARl B D H e B4R -
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and  Employment
geographical region.
RAS2 4B IR 1EB1 2 MR FEAR LR ESHEBREE - ER
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs Description
FEHE EH —R
EENRBRENER it

]

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE - HERERBME(E)

E}%WA"%F)?%EE’AT@E K
ERERBERESDREES (&)

Section/Declaration

BB

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EEB2: RERARE

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and

Health and Safety

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment

and protecting employees from occupational

hazards.
— PRI EE BERREL2THEREIMREEEREBE RBRELS
ﬁﬁ%%i
a) R I
b) BFTHBEBITABEALENMEBERE LR
1
B EFL o
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred Health and Safety

in each of the past three years including the

reporting year.

B8 4 4B I 1RB2.1 BE-ZF (BRERFE)BFAITHHA REHR

Bt & -

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
BB 4E IR 1RB2.2 AITGHEEATIERS - RERZ S
KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety Health and Safety — Workplace

measures adopted, and how they are implemented Health and Safety

and monitored.
B84 4B WUIB1ZB2.3 i 2 BT B 40 B B 25 4R R R
FAITRER G-

2 ARE BEEZE2 - TESMER

e
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

R - @ RER®RE (E)

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

FEHKE -EH - —R
BEERBREXER

Description

i

ERBEXZMARDIACRE &

exrEs

BEESDABRRS| (F)

Section/Declaration

B BH

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[EEB3 : R K i%3|

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and
skills for discharging duties at work. Description of

training activities.

Development and Training —
Training Management

— R FRRTEERTIEBRENMB LN R MG —BIIERE
BUR o g s E B o
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender ~ Development and Training —

FA S AR I I51RB3.1
KPI B3.2

Bl B 45 e 13832

and employee category (e.g. senior management,

middle management).

BER R EEER (InE R EIEE

B)EomXilREB D

CRRER

The average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee category.

BRI REERRE D  BREETKRZI

BT B o

Training Management
BRLIEY — EIEE

Development and Training —
Training Management
R M E — B E IR
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs Description
FEHE EH —R
EENRBRENER it

]

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE - HERERBME(E)

E}%WA"%F)?%EE’AT@E K
ERERBERESDREES (&)

Section/Declaration

BB

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 : & T 48|

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and

Labour Standards — Prevention of
Child and Forced Labour

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

— PRI EE ﬁ%%tiliﬁ%%l%t B TR — By IEE T KogH|
a) R I BT
b) BFHBEBITABEAXLENMEBERE LR
1
B EFL o
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Labour Standards — Prevention of
practices to avoid child and forced labour. Child and Forced Labour
RS2 AE I 1EBA i s BB A AR R E T K&Kl TR — s T Kol
BT 5T
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such Labour Standards — Prevention of
practices when discovered. Child and Forced Labour
BB 4E IR 1RB4.2 M EREERBARERBABRMARKRER SR — IS T MRl
R BT
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

R - @ RER®RE (E)

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

and KPIs

TEER -BEH- —&
RERBRERER

Description

i

ERBEXZMARDIACRE &

exrEs

BEESDABRRS| (F)

Section/Declaration

B BH

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[EmBs : HEEEE

General Disclosure

Policies on managing environmental and social
risks of the supply chain.

Supply Chain Management

— PRI R EIRHESEAIRIE KA SRR B - e E e
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management

B 52 45 AR 1385 1

KPI B5.2

B 5 45 A5 1385 .2

KPI B5.3

Bl B 45 B 13B5 3

KPI B5.4

B B8 45 A5 1285 4

miEE D HEREE -

Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices
are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

M AR HEEEEANEN  MERTER
BOINMHEREE - ARBERITRERTE -
Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

R ERAENHEEGERGNIRE T E
R\ Rz B - ARMEEIMITREERTE -
Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

i 7 BRE B B R 2 2% A IRAREE dn M AR
BEVER - LA MAMEBFRIT REER T ©

- Sustainable Supply Chain
Management

HEREER — A REMER
EpEs

Supply Chain Management

— Sustainable Supply Chain
Management

HEREER — A REMER
EpEs

Supply Chain Management

— Sustainable Supply Chain
Management

HEREER — A REMER
EpEs

Supply Chain Management

— Sustainable Supply Chain
Management

HrEsEETE — A E Mt e
51
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures

and KPIs Description
FEHE EH —R
EENRBRENER it

R - g RERRE ()

BERBEXZMARATCERSE -+
aRE’ ﬁ¢h§»ﬁ@?ﬂ@ﬂ

Section/Declaration

BB

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEBe : EmEE

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and

Product Responsibility

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy ma ers relating to products and
services provided and methods of redress.

— PRI EE BREMBHERMBRBNERERERZ 2  BE - Emaf
STENMILEEE AR AR
a) B &k
b) SFH T AR ERTEMMEAERE KRN
B EEL -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped Product Responsibility
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
BA 5248 AR 1EB6.1 EEXRCEXEMRHAPAREREESR EmAME
/R B 7L o
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints Product Responsibility —
received and how they are dealt with. Customer Services
RA 52 4B IR 1RB6.2 BEANEMNMRENIRFEB UNES L - EmEE — TP KRG
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and  Product Responsibility —
protecting intellectual property rights. Protection of IP Rights
RASEAE IR 1RB6.3 f il BR A RS A BERE R BRI - EmA T — RERBER
KPI B6.4 Descr|pt|on of quality assurance process and recall  Product Responsibility —
procedures. Customer Services, Advertising
and Labelling
RABEAE BIE1RB64 il E EmEBiE MNEMBKREF EmAET —EPRE  ES
A=
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and Product Responsibility —

privacy policies, and how they are implemented Customer

and monitored.
8 2 48 B 1Z2B6.5 iR BEERHMRERALBESR
MITREER L »

Privacy Protection

CUNEE EmET - FFPLERE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

R - @ RER®RE (E)

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

FEHKE -EH - —R
BEERBREXER

Description

i

ERBEXZMARDIACRE &

exrEs

BEESDABRRS| (F)

Section/Declaration

B BH

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

BHEB7 : RES

General Disclosure

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

Anti-corruption

laundering.
— R E BREDIEEE - R - MEFFMARER RES
@ BE: &
b) BFHBETABEAZENHEBERZR
B
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding Anti-corruption —

B B 45 AR 1387 1

KPI B7.2

FA 2 AR IR 1RB7.2
KPI B7.3

B 5 45 B 1387 3

corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its
employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.

REFARNH ETAIEEERE LD ELE
WBESHLARMTHEE MFRER -
Description of preventive measures and
whistleblowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.

et By S fE i S SR RAR - A B REIT X
BRE -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to
Directors and staff.

il ESE REBRHORETET -

Whistle-blowing Mechanism

RET — 2 W

Anti-corruption —
Whistle-blowing Mechanism

RES — BRES
Anti-corruption — Anti-corruption

Training
k&S — REFHE
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures

and KPIs Description
FEHE EH —R

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE - HERERBME(E)

BERBEXZMARATCERSE -+
ERERBERESDREES (&)

Section/Declaration

WERERERER i 40 1

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEB8 : HEIRE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand Community Investment
the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

— PRI EE AN RSERTHREEMEHERRTEN HREKEE
BRAEBEDHGZERLENRABUE -

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, Community Investment
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

RA 5245 IR 1EB8. I EREE (NHE BEFEE  HIFR . HERRE
2R - X{t - B8F) o

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the  Community Investment
focus area.

B B2 48 IR 13882 EEIHBEMBBER (W EHRHE) o HERE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBEHRE

SOIR G 3T BR AT A R 2]
Fan, Chan & Co. Limited

To the Shareholders of Icon Culture Global Company Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Icon
Culture Global Company Limited (“the Company”’) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 141 to 239, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in "Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 1(b) of the consolidated financial
statements, which stated that the Group incurred a net loss of
RMBB84,647,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023, and as at 31
December 2023, the Group's net current liabilities and total deficit
both amounted to RMB14,303,000. These conditions, along with
other matters as set forth in note 1(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. In addition to the matters described in “Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern” section, we have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B BIED R

BEFRCEABENERTERES

BB IEMFREMBERERMTI0) - &
mE EEBREZE2023F128318 1F
FEEEEIBFEARS46470007T
mM2023F12A31H EEEMRHE
BEFBENEAEES B A RKI14303,000
TL o R EMNERERE B HREM 1)
FIEMEMERBRFEEANTEEE -
Y BEEERFBELEMENBRE
REEE - MO E RIS EE L FIEIED
B3] o

FARENEE

REBERMANEXHE  BREFTERS
BAEAAAESSMBREATREE
MEE - LMRNBFEREEMHRE
EHERERNRIEZE R MM
TERAXFRREFBELRER - BRHEF
BREAANEATEEE] —fmtE
BN HPIEEE NXAAEERSERN
BPMBET BB ARESNFE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Revenue recognition

Refer to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
AR A B RE N L3

The Key Audit Matter
RREITSEE

BRETEE ()
LN

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETNAEEZEE

The principal activities of the Group are rendering
of traditional offline media advertising, online media
advertising, public relations, marketing campaigns and
other services.
EEEVIZEXBARHMEARTERES &
FREES 2 SHIBREMRE -

Revenue from different advertising service projects
have different contract terms and accordingly revenue
recognition criteria may apply. As such, there is an
increased risk that error may be made in the recognition
of revenue.
TRAEERBEEEHKRAEENEBE LK
Bl bt PT e i AR TR RO U A BE SR AR ZE © 4N - A
FEE R B AT A2 HH IR B AR 6 LB 2 A0 o

132

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of
revenue included the following:

B AR A RN EARFEIEATFIA

understanding and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of
key internal controls over recognition of revenue;
T R AN T B B A i R AE A B A 52 N BT
HRET - B fET AL

inspecting the terms and conditions set out in the
Group’s contracts with customers on a sample
basis and discussing with the management on the
nature of each major type of services to evaluate
the Group’'s revenue recognition on these
projects with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards;

MRt EEEREFONESLOMEIIZ K
RS TEEBEN RS ETEZRER
BROMWME  A2ERITEFERNRET
i EEEHZEFEANRAERBER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
HRESSER

Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 B R

BRETEE ()

LN +:4¢ )

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETTNAEEZSE

We identified recognition of revenue as a key audit
matter because (i) revenue is a key performance
measure for the Group and a key driver of the gross
margin which increases the risk that revenue may be
manipulated to meet targets and expectations; and (ii)
different contract terms require different accounting
treatments and manual analysis which increases the risk
of errors in the recognition of revenue.
BAERAERBS REREFFE  RERBOK
AR BEEENBARENEERENENHETZE
B 3= - LN A AT BE 1R 1R AL A 2 AR B R N TR HS
BWER : RN EEQERER TR TR
MATI M - BN A HERR 88 3R 1 L g o

reconciling revenue records as set out in the
management accounts, on a sample basis, to
service contracts, service confirmation notes,
monitoring reports, and bank-in slips;

S EIRER B E R sk E RS A 4
RISHERE  ERMERRITARSBETH
BE

confirming with the Group's customers directly
on revenue records, balances of trade receivables,
summaries of service contracts signed between
the Group and its customers and the completion
status of the above service contracts as at the year
end on a sample basis;

mEEER SEEEFFPHBRARZE -
BEHRNFIALES - EEBEATFRN
BR#G & KB 2 M E it BRHG& H) 5 R EY 5 B
AR

assessing existence of the Group's advertising
services projects by matching services contents
as set out in the service contracts signed with the
customers to the media resources procurement
contracts signed with the suppliers on a sample
basis; and
MEREPRITNRBEEOMENREAR
HHERRITNERERRBAVETRY
Al BEEEESERBEEREFE &

evaluating whether revenue was recorded in
the appropriate accounting period by assessing
whether the advertising services revenue
recognition progress was consistent with the
terms and advertisement schedule in the service
contracts on a sample basis.

M EESRBEBARIBERE RS ERE
BHAMBERRESKBER -3 FHKkaER
BREE G EIRAR
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Impairment of trade receivables

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements
ARG A RN 14

The Key Audit Matter
RREITSEE

BRETEE ()
B 5 BWRIRRE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETNAEEZEE

As disclosed in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has gross trade receivables
amounting to approximately RMB106,292,000 as at 31
December 2023. Impairment losses of RMB95,102,000
were recorded as at 31 December 2023.
HMGEMBREMT4AERE EEERN
2023F1N2A3AME HEWNHRIBEBRLELNR/ARE
106,292,0007T ° 7A2023F 12 A3 HEEESREEEBAR
#95,102,0007T °

Management recognises a loss allowance for lifetime
expected credit losses (“ECLs") on the trade receivables.
EREEMBEZREFENTHENEERB (A
HEEEE]) BRABRRE -

Management measures the ECL allowance for
credit-impaired trade receivables individually based on
the future cash flows expected to be collected.
EEERBEHWDRNRKEBE S REREERE
EHRNFEAERMEEEBERE -

134

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of trade
receivables included the following:
P EE ZREFERENESIZEFEEAT

K18 -

assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
which govern credit control, debt collection and
the estimation of loss allowance;
FHEREEERS BB E REEEEL
STEVRABE NIRRT B REEB X
M

assessing, on a sample basis, whether items
in the trade receivables aging report were
classified within the appropriate aging bracket by
comparing individual items in the report with the
relevant supporting documents;
EHMEOER L BESE S RKFIARK
WER O ERE B BARREERAX TR
AEESRURERRRETNEERE S
BREENRKRER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
HRESSER

Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 B R

BRETEE ()
8 5 BRWRRERE (&)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETTNAEEZSE

For trade receivables that are not credit-impaired, the
ECL allowance is measured using a provision matrix,
which involves the use of estimated loss rates for
each category of trade receivables which are grouped
according to shared credit risk characteristics. The
estimated loss rates take into account the ageing of
trade receivable balances, historical payment profiles,
the corresponding historical credit losses rate of the
Group’s customers, current market conditions and
forecast of future economic conditions at the end of
each reporting period.
RAEEBEERENEZRWFIENS  AHES
EEBEEBNEARERERETE  ERFRERR
BHREAERRSEEFEENSEE HRWFTIERN
hEtBIEX - L BIEXERE 5 R K KIEE R
WERE - EEERPHNBENRERLAERBE
BEEEBEEX FWEHRNERITR MR ARREH
AR S TER o

Such assessment involves a significant degree of
management judgement and estimation.

BRRHE Y REARE R EIEE A E R bR -

We identified assessing the impairment of trade
receivables as a key audit matter because the
assessment of loss allowances for trade receivables
is inherently subjective and requires significant
management judgement, which increases the risk of
error or potential management bias.

BB FEEZEEFTIRBEZRN REARETS
B RAAMNGLESEREFEANEREELRE £
ERXTHME YF2EREFELERHEG il
BINFERFEEERE R NER -

evaluating the future cash flows expected to be
collected for credit-impaired trade receivables;
AHE B E EREE 5 e R IE T8 R R
KIRESME

challenging management'’s estimation of expected
credit losses, taking into consideration the aging
of the balances, credit terms, recent settlement
patterns, historical observed default rate and the
forecast of future economic conditions; and
EREGRKRK FEH THESEER B
THEREBOXRARRLBERAER  ERE
BEHEREEEENMGT &

identifying significant or long overdue trade
receivables by inspecting the trade receivable
aging report and challenging management'’s
assessment of the recoverability of these balances,
taking into consideration the aging of the
balances, credit terms, recent settlement patterns,
and current market conditions and forecast of
future economic conditions.

FRREE 5 RN TIERE RS H R E AR
REBHBEHEUGRIE  WERBTEEBHZ
ZEMAIBEMERNRE - BEREREHRDIER
o EEH FHAEER  BRIMAKLK
A EARSLTEA o
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B B AR S

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 29
March 2023.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B BIED R

EENAEERGESMBHRRAK
ENEE

EFARERBEABGHMOSRMD
TR B HRE ERREE R ARDH B
BHRERBELEEAAFERNKES
MHHmE UHERSRESRAVBHR
KRB FHEH N RERMER
B AR R A REHI RS -

ERHESEGMBHRRE EFB A
i BERERELENEN LHEER
BATHERFELLEEHENEIE MU
RERFBLERSTER KIFER
BER BSHEEBRHELEE 5
BHOERNERTR -BAZEECH
DEEETEEE S5EMBEHRERE
FFHELE

BEEEMPERSE

REERAREERE
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B BEERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations
or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BIED R

BRBMRET RSB HRAARE
HEE (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

FEEEFASEERMNEE LN
MERR ST REEREENS
B o

HEERAKBEKESTERNR
SMELE® REFMERME
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B B AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Leung Kwong Kin
Practising Certificate Number P03702

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
melEmK

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZE 2023F 12 A31 BIEFE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Mt AR®BTR ARETT
(restated)
(ge&E=75)

Revenue K = 3 25,424 68,969
Cost of sales 35 E B A (21,260) (73,468)
Gross profit/(loss) EF(E8H) 4,164 (4,499)
Other income HE A 4 588 663
Other net losses H &8 F5E 4 (378) (10)
Selling expenses HERX (4,321) (4,231)
Administrative expenses THRAX (8,600) (10,883)
Impairment losses on property, plant  #1% B &R ERE

and equipment B8 5(c) (226) -
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets {5 FA# & 2 il {E &5 18 5(c) (918) -
Impairment of prepayments to suppliers &1t F& i 2 B R (B 5(c) (4,254) -
Impairment losses on trade and other ~ FEHA{Z B E5 1B =X T A9

receivables under the expected credit B 5 N E b fE U FUIE

loss model, net of reversal BEEE (kREE) 5(c) (62,955) (26,721)
Loss from operations REEE (76,900) (45,681)
Finance costs MBER 5(a) (885) (870)
Loss before taxation BRELAIE B 5 (77,785) (46,551)
Income tax FTigf 6 (6,862) 7,363
Loss for the year attributable AAREHERRE

to equity shareholders of the EhEERNEE

Company (84,647) (39,188)
Loss per share (RMB) BERER(ARY)
Basic K 9(a) (0.47) (0.22)
Diluted e (b) (0.47) 0.22)
The notes on pages 149 to 239 form part of these financial statements.
P49 0B MM B ZEM BmEN—E 5 -
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEeEERkEMAZEINER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B ZE2023F 12 A31 BILEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARTRT AR®TT
(restated)
(&)
Loss for the year attributable to equity AAREERE
shareholders of the Company BiLFEREE (84,647) (39,188)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FREM2EB X
Item that will be reclassified subsequently to BB HE
profit or loss: BmaEE -
Exchange differences on translation of financial BENMEFRAARE (AR
statements of entities not having Renminbi BDIERTIEEEBNE
("RMB”) as functional currency B KRERNER =5 (10) (46)
Other comprehensive expense for the year A H fth 2 E ] 2 (10) (46)
Total comprehensive expense for the year 772 F#EZERRE/LFER
attributable to equity shareholders of 2HBXAE
the Company (84,657) (39,234)

The notes on pages 149 to 239 form part of these financial statements.
E149E 230 MM B L F I IR — 2B o
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

As at 31 December 2023 20238128318

31/12/2023 31/12/2022 1/1/2022

20234 20224 20224

12A31H 12H31H TH1H

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Wit AR¥TR AR®TT AR®TT
(restated) (restated)

(K&E75) (&)

Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment 1% « M E MR iE 10 - 1,458 524
Right-of-use assets FREEE 11 - 7,240 10,420
Deferred tax assets REFRTE B = 21(b) - 6,627 -
Other non-current assets HiIEnR#HEE 13 = 965 1,107
Total non-current assets EREBEEHATE = 16,290 12,051
Current assets RBEE
Trade receivables g 5 W FIR 14 11,190 105,014 145,868
Other receivables, deposits and ~ H b FEUG FXTE ~ 1%
prepayments KN IBFRIE 15 1,416 5,635 21,991

Restricted deposits with a bank 77 E — B R 1T HY

= BR Il 77 7K 7 7 7
Cash and cash equivalents BeERBEEFEEY 16 13,667 12,019 12,318
Total current assets RBEELRE 26,280 122,675 180,184
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B NEMERN

I8 17 19,260 27,396 55,266
Contract liabilities e ON=Kr= 18 12,464 10,119 8,035
Bank loans RITER 19 5,000 20,000 -
Lease liabilities HEBRE 20 973 4,707 3,519
Current taxation EVHARE IR 21(a) 2,886 2,707 7,825
Total current liabilities REAEARE 40,583 64,929 74,645
Net current (liabilities)/assets B (BE) &BE

FE (14,303) 57,746 105,539

The notes on pages 149 to 239 form part of these financial statements.
F149FE 239 WM T B ZF I B HmK A — &5 ©
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FEFEMRE

As at 31 December 2023 2023612 A31H

31/12/2023  31/12/2022 1/1/2022

20234 20224 20224

12A31H 12A31H TH1H

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Hi AR®TR AR®FTrT AR®TT
(restated) (restated)

(&&:75) (&)

Non-current liabilities ERBEME

Lease liabilities ME&aE 20 - 3,682 7,153
Deferred tax liabilities REMRIERE 21(b) - - 849
Total non-current liabilities  JF B & @M - 3,682 8,002
Net (liabilities)/assets (BE) EEFRE (14,303) 70,354 109,588
Capital and reserves EAXR#E

Share capital % 7S 22(b) 1,596 1,596 1,596
Reserves f# 22(c) (15,899) 68,758 107,992
Total (deficit)/equity (B5#t) e (14,303) 70,354 109,588

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 4% & & F202453 H28 B #t 4 I % 4 Fl

March 2024. %o
Liang Wei Liu Biao
R v
Director Director
EF EFE

The notes on pages 149 to 239 form part of these financial statements.
SE149E 230 WM AL F I IR — 2B o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERBEX

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZE 2023F 12 A31 BIEFE

Share Share Other Statutory Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
s RHEE  BHRE  iRRE  EXRRE  ZRER 3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTz ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR
Note22(b)  Note22(c)(i) Note22(c)(iv)  Note22(c)(ii) ~ Note 22(c)(iii)
Bk K206 W20 BE2206 K20

Balance at 1 January 2023 5@2023@51 EE@%% _______ 1,596 91,866 (11,907) 8,407 (35) (19,573) 70,354
Changes in equity for 2023: W3FERET:

Loss for the year EREE - - - - = (84,647) (84,647)
Other comprehensive expense H2ERS - - - - (10) - (10)
Total comprehensive expense %@Fﬁi iﬁﬁﬁ ________________ - - - - (10 (84,647) (84,657)
Balanceat31December 2023 }2023%1231R K54 159 91,866 (1,907) 8,407 (5) (1042200 (14303

The notes on pages 149 to 239 form part of these financial statements.
SE149E 230 WM A% F I I R e — 2B o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE2023F 12 A31 BHILFE

Retained
eamings/
Share Share Other Statutory Exchange  (accumulated
capital premium Tesene fesenve fesene losses) Total
RBEH/
RE  ROEE  EtER  iEdk  EXGE  (REER) it
RMB000 RMBI000 RMB000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMB000 RMB000
ARETR  ARETR ARETT  ARETT  ARETT ARBTT ARETR
Note 220)  Note 2]~ Note 22c)iv) ~ Note 22(c)(i) ~ Note 22(c)(ii) (restated) (restated)
WaEne  WE2on  WE20m o W00 RE20m (@ E3)) EE)
Balance at 1 January 2022 R0nF1RANEE
(as originally stated) (RE%25) 15% 91,866 (11907) 8407 1 2,84 112257
Hfectofamendmenis o HKAS 12 BB EHEE105H
(notes 1(c)and 21(6) i e W0k
) - - - - - (2669) (2669)
Balance at 1 January 2022 R02F1R1BHER
(as restated) (EE) 1,5% 91966 (11907 8407 I 19615 109588
Changes in equity for 2022: WNERERD:
Loss for the year (estated) Frse(EEy) - - - - - (39,189) (39,189)
Other comprehensive expense Eb2ER - - - - (40) - (40)
Total comprehensive expense (restated) 2 IR % 38 (5 - - - - (40) (397189 (39234
Balance at 31 December 2022 R0NENANANES
(restated) (EE5) 1,5% 91566 (11.90) 8407 39) (1957) 703%

The notes on pages 149 to 239 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZE 2023F 12 A31 BIEFE

2023 2022
2023%F 20226
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Braz ARBTRT AR¥KTT
Operating activities KETE
Cash generated from/(used in) 2EMS/ (A RE
operations 16(b) 20,880 (11,035)
Income tax paid BT 21(a) (56) (5,231)
Net cash generated from/(used in) #E&EB 8, (FTA)
operating activities REFEE 20,824 (1 6266)
Investing activities REEE
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BE NMEE
plant and equipment <2 P15 3IA = 3
Payment for purchase of property, BEVE BENMEE
plant and equipment PANES (74) (251)
Net cash used in investing activities REEEFTAR S EH (74) (248)

The notes on pages 149 to 239 form part of these financial statements.

FE149E 239 B M E B Z F M RMEKRH —#7 o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
LEEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Mt it ARBTRT AR¥KTT
Financing activities &R B
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEEHEESH
BARE D 16(c) (3,207) (2,869)
Interest element of lease rentals paid Bt EFH £
FEH D 16(c) (177) (445)

Proceeds from bank loans RITERFIERIA 16(c) 5,000 20,000
Repayment of bank loans BERITER 16(c) (20,000) -
Interests paid B FE 16(c) (708) (425)
Net cash (used in)/generated from F&EEE) (FTH) s

financing activities &R (19,092) 16,261
Net increase/(decrease) incashand HERFLZEFEYHE M,

cash equivalents Om2) B8 1,658 (253)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FHNRERBEESEEY

beginning of the year 12,019 12,318
Effect of foreign exchange rate MEEXZSENTE

changes (10) (46)
Cash and cash equivalents at the EREESRBEESEEY

end of the year 16(a) 13,667 12,019

The notes on pages 149 to 239 form part of these financial statements.

F149E2390E WM EE B Z FM B RMEKRH — 77 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SREMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZE 2023F 12 A31 BIEFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1. ERSFHEE

EREH

(a) Statement of compliance (a)

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRS"), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financia
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

2023F 5 REAXABEBREBARLE

ZEUBHRERDBEBEMBEA
REABVFREER ((HHBH
BKmEER ) (BIEHBLETAD
re((ERETMAg)ESE
2 BB R 2 BB & B8 %
WEER - BAELHER (&
BETER kBRE BEQ
R FH R B LA R E B R A
WEEHIT) MARR - ZZFH B W
KNMEBTEBBARIMAR
A AIGEMEE Z =1 R Bl 89 i A
WERIEX - REBHMHEK
FEHBEEBRNOT o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

1.

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

150

statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
recorded a loss of RMB84,647,000 which included
impairment losses on trade and other receivables
under the expected credit loss model, net of reversal,
in the amount of RMB62,955,000. As at 31 December
2023, the Group's net current liabilities and total deficit
amounted to RMB14,303,000 and RMB14,303,000
respectively. These conditions indicate the existence of
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The validity of the use of the going concern basis in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
is dependent upon the Group’s ability to generate
adequate cash flows in order to meet its obligations
as and when the obligations fall due. The directors of
the Company have given careful consideration to the
future liquidity and performance of the Group and its
available sources of financing in assessing whether the
Group has sufficient financial resources to continue
as a going concern. The directors of the Company
have reviewed the cash flow forecast of the Group
which covers a period of at least 15 months from 31
December 2023. The directors of the Company have
carefully considered the following measures for the
assessment on the sufficiency of future working capital
requirements:

Icon Culture Global Company Limited 2023 Annual Report

1.

EREFTEE (&)
(b) MBHmREREE

B ZE2023F 128318 IEFE - K
& B85 B B A R 184,647,000
T BRREHEEEBEEER
THE 5 K& E b FE UK IE R
BEEE JHERERD) B AR
#62,955,0007T © 72023 12 A
3NE - AEBENRBEETF
HEhBRBEE IR ARK
14,303,0007T & A E& #14,303,000
Lo ZEBRBRFEERTD
BMERE AJEHAEEFE
MERENBRERNRERD -
BREVBHREFEAFEL
EEENFBERURN A E E
EEXERHREREABEBITHE
HETEMREN - ARARIEER
TEAEBEEERHNKE
FRIEFEELER SfHEZEER
SENRRRHE S REKRU
NEABMENRR AR alE
EOEHASEB2023F12H31
A E D15 A BERR SR
ERA - RAAREZEHFHE
BUATHEM - U AR KR EE
BeHKNFTRM



1.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (Continued)

On 27 March 2024, the Group renewed its
banking facilities of RMB4,500,000. As at the
date of this report, the renewed bank facilities
of RMB4,500,000 has not been drawn down as
borrowing;

On 31 January 2024, the Company entered into a
placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement’)
with placing agents. On 23 February 2024,
the Company entered into the supplemental
placing agreement (the “Supplemental Placing
Agreement”) with placing agents for the change
of placing price of placing shares and the change
of long stop date. Completion of the placing
of new shares took place on 15 March 2024.
Pursuant to the Placing Agreement and the
Supplement Placing Agreement, an aggregate
of 36,000,000 placing shares were placed by the
placing agents at the placing price of HK$0.488
per placing share. The proceeds from the placing
of new shares was approximately HK$17,570,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB16,240,000)
(before all relevant expenses). The directors of
the Company will explore and consider other
fund-raising options including but not limited
to rights issue, further placing of new shares and
issue of debt securities with a view to enhance
the liquidity of the Group;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

1.

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (Continued)

152

A substantial shareholder of the Company has
undertaken to provide financial support to
the Group to the extent of RMB15,000,000 as
necessary to ensure its continuing operation for
a period of at least 15 months from the date of
issue of the consolidated financial statements.

After due and careful consideration of the above
measures and the other possible downside effect
on forecasting assumptions considered in the
cash flow forecast of the Group, the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due
for at least next 12 months from 31 December
2023. Accordingly, the directors of the Company
consider that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.
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1.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), rounded to the nearest thousand
except share data, which is the functional currency of
the major subsidiary of the Group in Mainland China.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMKRRMETE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE2023F 12 A31 BHILFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 1.

(c) Application of new and amendments to
HKFRSs

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these
financial statements for the current accounting period:

HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts (including the
October 2020 and February 2022 amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies,
changes in accounting estimates and errors:
Definition of accounting estimates

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making
materiality judgements: Disclosure of accounting
policies

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred
tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a
single transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes:
International tax reform — Pillar Two model rules
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

Application of new and amendments to
HKFRSs (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs listed above in the current
year has had no material effect on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior
year and on the disclosures set out in these financial
statements.

In accordance with the guidance set out in the
amendments, accounting policy information that is
standardised information, or information that only
duplicates or summarises the requirements of the
HKFRSs, is considered immaterial accounting policy
information and is no longer disclosed in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements so as not to
obscure the material accounting policy information
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

156

Application of new and amendments to
HKFRSs (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred tax
related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exemption such that it does not apply
to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting
temporary differences on initial recognition such as
leases and decommissioning liabilities. For leases and
decommissioning liabilities, the associated deferred
tax assets and liabilities are required to be recognised
from the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as an
adjustment to retained earnings or other components
of equity at that date. For all other transactions,
the amendments are applied to those transactions
that occur after the beginning of the earliest period
presented.

Prior to the amendments, the Group did not apply the
initial recognition exemption to lease transactions and
had recognised the related deferred tax, except that the
Group previously determined the temporary difference
arising from a right-of-use asset and the related lease
liability on a net basis on the basis they arise from a
single transaction. Following the amendments, the
Group has determined the temporary differences
in relation to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2023  #EHZE2023F 12 A31 BLIEFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 1. EXEEHEEK(E)

(c) Application of new and amendments to (c)
HKFRSs (Continued)

Change in accounting policies

Impacts of application of amendments to HKFRSs on the
consolidated financial statements

The following table summarises the impacts of the
changes in accounting policies as a result of application
of the amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
on the Group's consolidated statement of profit or
loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and loss per share for the year
ended 31 December 2022:

AT REBTERYH
HEER (&)

BRI EKREH

JE B & BRI T 48 & 2Rl 12 5T
Hira B BRENZE

TERBOARERAE S LR
FIVRMEE—RGAESE
BERAGBEHRBNELTETIEY
N B EH E20229F12A318 1
FEMNGREEEER KEAEBE
MEMEARZERARZRE
BEKNETECRE ST E -

Effect of
As previously amendments
reported to HKAS 12 As restated
ERETEA
E125 RVIERT
kA 28, -4 KES
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AR%TR AR®ETR
Consolidated statement & £20224
of profit or loss for 12831 LLEE
the year ended 31 WEEBERK:
December 2022:
Loss before taxation F& 75 AT B 1B (46,551) = (46,551)
Income tax credit Frigfiif & 6,791 572 7,363
Loss for the year ZA/NCIE Edi S
attributable to equity FE1EFNEE
shareholders of the
Company (39,760) 572 (39,188)
Loss per share (RMB) BRER(ARE)
— Basic — &R (0.22) - (0.22)
- Diluted —#E (0.22) - (0.22)
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A MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

(c) Application of new and amendments to

HKFRSs (Continued)

Change in accounting policies (Continued)

Impacts of application of amendments to HKFRSs on the

consolidated financial statements (Continued)

1. BEAXSHEEE

()

AT REBTERYH

HEZER (&)
B ERE2E (8)

JE B BB T8 & ERINEET A
B BEBRENZE (E)

Effect of
As previously amendments
reported to HKAS 12 As restated
BEHBETHER
F125 B ET
o0 5 A 2 3] g KE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AR®TR AR®ETR
Consolidated statement & £20224
of profit or loss and 12A31HLLFE
other comprehensive WEReEER
income for the year Hit2mEkER
ended 31 December
2022:
Total comprehensive ZAYNCIE Edi S
expense for the year BEFEEEL2E
attributable to equity >z A2 %R
shareholders of the
Company (39,806) 572 (39,234)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2023  #EHZE2023F 12 A31 BLIEFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Application of new and amendments to
HKFRSs (Continued)

Change in accounting policies (Continued)

Impacts of application of amendments to HKFRSs on the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

The following table summarises the impacts of the
changes in accounting policies as a result of application
of the amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2022:

1. BEXEFEEGE

(c) BRI REBITERBYE
HEER (&)

B ERE2E ()

JE B BB TR & ERIEET A
B HREAZE (B

TERBOARERAE S LR
FRHEMNETE—RSGMESE
BERAGBEHRBNELTETIEY
A B 72022912 A31H 52022
FIRAANGEEHBERARE
EREITBERERTE

Effect of

As previously  amendments

reported to HKAS 12 As restated
g £R
F125RVER]

SR 2 ZEE EES

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT

Consolidated statement 42022%12H31H
of financial positionas W44 BT &
at 31 December 2022: AR IR :

Deferred tax assets EERIBE E
Total non-current assets ERBEERT
Net assets BESFE
Reserves i

Total equity R

8,724 (2,097) 6,627
18,387 (2,097) 16,290
72451 (2,097) 70,354
70,855 (2,097) 68,758
72,451 (2,097) 70,354
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e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE2023F 12 A31 BHILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Application of new and amendments to

HKFRSs (Continued)

Change in accounting policies (Continued)

Impacts of application of amendments to HKFRSs on the

consolidated financial statements (Continued)

1. BEXEFEEGE

()

FE P #T R B BB T BB B B
HEER (&)

B ERE2E (8)

JE B BB T8 & ERINEET A
YN HREAZE (B

Effect of
As previously  amendments
reported to HKAS 12 As restated
ER e R
FE125REVERT
BN 5T A 2 ZRE RE3
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT AREBTET
Consolidated statement 2202251818 #
of financial positionas %R & BARREK :
at 1 January 2022:
Deferred tax assets RERIEE = 1,820 (1,820) -
Total non-current assets ERBEERTE 13,871 (1,820) 12,051
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAE - (849) (849)
Total non-current liabilities  FE ) B (G 4258 (7,153) (849) (8,002)
Net assets BEFE 112,257 (2,669) 109,588
Reserves fEE 110,661 (2,669) 107,992
Total equity R B 112,257 (2,669) 109,588
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For the year ended 31 December 2023  #EHZE2023F 12 A31 BLIEFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 1. EXEEHEEK(E)

(c)

Application of new and amendments to () ERAFHITRKZEITERBMEK
HKFRSs (Continued) WEER (&)
Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet EEFGEERERZEBHE
effective HEER ISR
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, HEZSUWBEmEPEEE
the HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended EAEGHMASCB/MEZER
standards, which are not yet effective for the year B E2023F12A3H IEFEH
ended 31 December 2023 and which have not FAEBMBWERZETBIHRE
been adopted in these financial statements. These R FT AT S S RT Bl o 5%
developments include the following which may be FERE BT 5 7] gE B AR
relevant to the Group. SEBHEMIER -
Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after
RUTB#
ZEBEN
SHHBER
Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: 1 January 2024
Classification of liabilities as current or non-current (2020 amendments”)
ER G ERNERNER]  HFEHREXNZH - HEESERBTE IR 202451 H1H
) ([2020F (£ZT A )
Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: 1 January 2024
Non-current liabilities with covenants (“2022 amendments”)
ER G ERNERNER]  HFHENZH - WHERAN B R E 20241 A1H
([2022F (& 5T A ))
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or contribution of assets between To be determined
an investor and its associate or joint venture
EEMBHREENFE 105 R EB G ERE28FANER] - KEZ LA 7€
SN Al e &R a2 EH B E L ESTA
Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases: Lease liability in a sale and leaseback 1 January 2024
ERVBRELEAB1SRNER] HE - ERMBLOMNHERE 20241 A1H
Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and HKFRS 7, 1 January 2024
Financial Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier finance arrangements
ERGTENETRIER] HEREXR BB HHEERIEH & 202451 A1H
AITA  3EE HEFHELH
Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates: 1 January 2025
Lack of exchangeability transaction
BRI ERENRNER]  BEXEEHTE A XA M 202551 H1H
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e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

1.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

162

Application of new and amendments to
HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these developments is expected
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to
have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
note 1(g)(ii)).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Motor vehicles
Leasehold improvement

4 years
Over the
remaining
lease terms

Office equipment and others 2-5 years
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

Leased assets

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not capitalised
are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis
over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payment made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable,
the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset
or the site on which it is located, discounted to their
present value, less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

The current portion of long-term lease liabilities
is determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

1.

164

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses ("ECL(s)") on financial
assets measured at amortised cost (including cash
and cash equivalents, restricted deposits with a

bank, trade and other receivables).

Financial assets measured at fair value are not

subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of

discounting is material:

- trade and other receivables: effective
interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current

effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit

risk.
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1.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 1.

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2023  #EHZE2023F 12 A31 BLIEFE

EXRETEE (&)
(9 FEBEREERIE(H)

(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort. This
includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

- Life time ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items
to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

166

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of the financial instrument since
initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk
of default occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. In making this
reassessment, the Group considers that a default
event occurs when the borrower is unlikely to pay
its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held). The Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.
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1.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2023  #EHZE2023F 12 A31 BLIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due
status and credit risk ratings.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets

168

(Continued)

(i) Creditlosses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the
ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account, except for investments in debt securities
that are measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (recycling), for which
the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the

fair value reserve (recycling).
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1.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;
- right-of-use assets; and

- investment in a subsidiary in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently
(i.e. a cash-generating unit ("CGU")).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMKRRMETE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE2023F 12 A31 BHILFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of the assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value
in use (if determinable).

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the period in which the reversals are
recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Segment reporting

(i)

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of the Group's
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue (see note 1(0)). A
contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised (see note 1(j)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a
net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see note

1(o)(iii)).
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1.

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

1)

(k)

)

172

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 1(g)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in note 1(q)

(i).
Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at invoice amounts.
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1.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Employee benefits

(n)

(i)

(ii)

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and
the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would
be material, these amounts are stated at their
present values.

Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations
of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"),
the Group participates in a defined contribution
basic pension insurance in the social insurance
system established and managed by government
organisations. The Group makes contributions
to basic pension insurance plans based on the
applicable benchmarks and rates stipulated
by the government. Basic pension insurance
contributions are charged to profit or loss as the
related services are rendered by the employees.

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred
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1.

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n)

174

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable
in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. Current tax also includes tax arising
from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences;

- temporary differences related to investment
in subsidiaries to the extent that the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that they
will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023  #EHZE2023F 12 A31 BLIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

- those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which they
can be used. Future taxable profits are determined
based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. If the amount of taxable temporary
differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred
tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted
for reversals of existing temporary differences, are
considered, based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed
when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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1.

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Revenue and other income

176

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the provision of services and the sales of
goods in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added
tax and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Integrated multimedia advertising services

Revenue from integrated multimedia advertising
services is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the performance period for which the services are
rendered, or recognised when the Group fulfilled
the specific performance obligation under the
finalised contract terms with customers.

(i) Public relations, marketing campaigns and
other services

Revenue from public relations, marketing
campaigns and other services is recognised when
the Group fulfilled the specific performance
obligation under finalised contract terms with
customers.

(iii) Interestincome

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using

the effective interest method.
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1.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(iv) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as income in profit or loss on a
systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate
the Group for the cost of an asset are recognised
as deferred income and consequently are
effectively recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.

(p) Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the respective functional currencies of group
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at
the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally
recognised to profit or loss.
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e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

(a)

178

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on acquisition, are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates at the reporting rate. The income and expenses
of foreign operations are translated into RMB at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which
case, the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions
are used.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange reserve, except to the extent that the
translation difference is allocated to non-controlling
interest.
Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2023  #EHZE2023F 12 A31 BLIEFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(q) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

() The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries is
related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

2.

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(a)

(b)

180

Principal versus agent considerations -
revenue from provision of advertising
services

In determining whether the Group is acting as a
principal or as an agent in the provision of advertising
services, judgements and considerations of all relevant
facts and circumstances are required. The Group is a
principal in a transaction if the Group obtains control
of services provided before they are transferred to
customers. If control is unclear, when the Group is
primarily obligated in a transaction, and has latitude
in establishing prices and selecting publishers, or
has several but not all of these indicators, the Group
records revenues on a gross basis. Otherwise, the
Group records the net amount earned as commissions
from services provided.

Loss allowance for trade and other
receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade
and other receivables by assessing the ECLs. This
requires the use of estimates and judgements. ECLs
are estimated based on a number of factors which
include ageing of overdue trade receivables, historical
payment profiles and the corresponding historical
credit losses rate of the Group's customers, current
market conditions and forecast of future economic
conditions at the end of each reporting period. Where
the estimation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will affect the carrying amounts of trade
and other receivables and thus the impairment loss
in the period in which such estimate is changed. The
Group keeps assessing the expected credit loss of trade
receivables during their expected lives while assessing
the expected credit loss of other receivables during 12
months unless there has been significant increase in
credit risk since the initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

2. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

(c)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group determines whether property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are impaired
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
of these assets may not be recoverable. Impairment
loss will be recognised when the carrying amounts
of these assets exceed their recoverable amounts,
which represent the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. For the determination of
value-in-use, management of the Group estimates the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating
unit and applies an appropriate discount rate for
calculation of the present value of the expected future
cash flows. A considerable estimation is required in
determining expected future cash flows including
the reasonableness of forecast revenue stream and
operating costs attributable to the cash generating
unit. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
recognised impairment losses on property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets amounting
to RMB226,000 (2022: nil) and RMB918,000 (2022: nil)
respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMKRRMETE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE2023F 12 A31 BHILFE

2. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

(d) Recognition and recoverability of deferred
tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which they be utilised. Management
of the Group reviews the carrying amount of deferred
tax assets at the end of each reporting period and
estimates future taxable profits based on the profit
forecast of the Group. The profit forecast takes
into account certain key assumptions including
the growth rate of revenue, gross profit margin
and estimated operating expenses by considering
historical profitability, future probability and current
business plans. A considerable judgement is involved
in assessing whether there is evidence that sufficient
future taxable profits will be available. In the event that
the Group's estimates of future taxable profits caused
by changes in business environment and business
strategies would impact the timing or extent of the
Group's ability to utilise the deductible temporary
differences, which mainly represent expected credit
losses, in future, adjustments to the recorded amount
of deferred tax assets would be required. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, a deferred tax charge
amounting to RMB6,627,000 (2022 (restated): deferred
tax credit of RMB7,476,000) has been recognised in
profit or loss.

3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(a) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are rendering
of traditional offline media advertising, online media
advertising, public relations, marketing campaigns and
other services. Further details regarding the Group's
principal activities are disclosed in note 3(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2023  #EHZE2023F 12 A31 BLIEFE

3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3. WEkoEHHRE (&)
(Continued)
(a) Revenue (Continued) (@) W= (&)
Disaggregation of revenue W= 95
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with REEFEANKEEEER
customers by major service lines is as follows: BB DH|MT -
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT

Revenue from contracts with EBMBHREERE155
customers within the scope of BEEANREEFEEFEY
HKFRS 15 B Uk 2

Disaggregated by major service lines 3% F 2 RIGLE I D 5]

Traditional offline media ERR T IREES KRB
advertising services
~ Indoor platforms —ZEATEEREE
(acting as a principal) FEEAN) - 5,742
— Outdoor platforms —EINFE(EREE
(acting as a principal) EFEAN) 16,915 55,108
Subtotal Nt 16,915 60,850

Online media advertising services A EREEESRE

— acting as a principal —1ERETEEMEA 5,501 3,870

- acting as an agent —1EBRIE 100 447
Public relations, marketing N EHEES R

campaigns and other services* H h AR 75>

— acting as a principal —1EBFEEFTA 2,908 3,802

25,424 68,969
* Revenue from public relations, marketing campaigns * EHNE - ZEE @]E’jl.lﬂz
includes revenue of sales of consumer goods. BIEEEYEE Rk

2023F F RALXAIBEREEERAR | 183



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(a)

184

Revenue (Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)

The Group’s total turnover before agency deductions
amounted to RMB35,504,000 (2022: RMB91,623,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Agency
deductions represented direct costs incurred for
certain service contracts in which the Group acted as
agent in providing services to customers and hence
the amounts of agency deductions where excluded in
arriving at revenue and cost of sales presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by timing of recognition of revenue is
disclosed in note 3(b)().

The Group's customers from whom revenue earned
have exceeded 10% of the Group's revenue in the
respective year are set out below:

3.

Wz R 2 Ep R ()
(a) Uik (A)
2 5 5 ()

HZE2023F12831HIEFE - &
EEMBRIEEAATNE X
42 %8 & A R #535,504,0007T (2022
£ AFR#916230007T) ° fXIE
MBEAEBEARERRP
REREHE TREANESE
MEBEKA BHESESS
BaixP 256k KIEEK
KE - TEEREHIROSEE -

RERPAE LR ZIZIWARE
IR DT A EE3(0)() 1 55 ©

REFERTHREBRABBASE
B A AEBRFEE T
NN

2023 2022
202345 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET AREFIT
Customer A ZEA = 11,505
Customer B = FEB = 10,860
Customer C ZFEC = 10,843
Customer D ZFED = 7,963
Customer E ZFE 5,283 -
Customer F ZEF 3,432 N/ATS 33 i *
Customer G 225G 3,261 -
11,976 41171

* Revenue from relevant customer was less than 10% of * KEMEZTFEHIEAGAE

the Group’s total revenue for the respective year.

Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from
these customers are set out in note 23(a).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023  #EHZE2023F 12 A31 BLIEFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which
are organised by business lines. In a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally
to the Group's most senior executive management for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group has presented the following
reportable segments. No operating segments have
been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments.

- Traditional offline media advertising services:
operation of media advertising services on
indoor (such as television and other broadcasting
channels, newspapers and journals) and outdoor
(such as public transports, elevators and lifts)
platforms;

-  Online media advertising services: operation of
media advertising services on selected websites,
online social media groups and applications;

- Other services: operation of devising strategies,
formulating advertising solutions, co-ordinating
with media platforms as well as organising and
executing campaigns.

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment
performance and allocating resources between
segments, the Group's senior executive
management monitors the results attributable to
each reportable segment on the following bases:
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HE203F12A31HILEEFE

3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

186

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

Revenue and costs are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by
those segments and the costs incurred by those
segments without allocation of unallocated
depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, loss on write off property,
plant and equipment, finance costs, other income,
other net losses, selling expenses, impairment
losses on current and non-current assets, and
unallocated expenses (including corporate
expenses). Assistance provided by one segment
to another, including sharing of assets, is not

measured.

The Group's senior executive management is
provided with segment information concerning
segment revenue and profit. Segment assets and
liabilities are not reported to the Group’s senior

executive management regularly.

The measure used for reporting segment profit
is “adjusted EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings
before finance costs, interest income, taxes, and
depreciation and amortisation”, where “interest”
is regarded as including investment income
and “depreciation and amortisation” is regarded
as including impairment losses on current and
non-current assets. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA
the Group’s earnings are further adjusted for
items not specifically attributed to individual
segments, such as listing expenses, staff costs,
directors’ and auditors’ remuneration and other
head office or corporate administration costs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023  #EHZE2023F 12 A31 BLIEFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(i)

3. WakaHHE (&)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) ZDEPIFHE (&)
Segment results, assets and liabilities ) 7HEEE EEREE
(Continued) (48)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with B £2023F K2022F 124
customers by the timing of revenue recognition, BNBIEEFE - mERK
as well as information regarding the Group’s =RESEMNREEFEA
reportable segments as provided to the Group's A UARARER SR
most senior executive management for the SEBTHEBAEBLES
purposes of resource allocation and assessment AAEE R FREDILHE
of segment performance for each of the years B OAREETERS B
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is set out Ko RIRFTH) 515
below. (N
Traditional
offline media  Online media
For the year ended BHZ2023%12831H advertising  advertising Other
31 December 2023 ILFE services services services  Unallocated Total
ga
RTHE  PLER
BuRE  EEEE  HERS AR @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR¥TR AR%Tr ARMTR ARETR
Disaggregated by timing of RREANEBEIE
revenue recognition
Pointin time BIE R 1,265 734 2,243 - 4,242
Over time BEREED 15,650 4,867 665 - 21,182
Reportable segmentrevenue &S Bl 16,915 5,601 2,908 - 25,424
Reportable segment profit MHEDHiE A
(adjusted EBITDA) ({8 BZEBITDA) 6,826 19 1,129 - 8,151
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B ZE 20234 12 B31 HIL&E

3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3. KakoHmE (&)
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) S (M)
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities i) 7HWEBE - EEREE
(Continued) (48)
Traditional

offline media Online media

For the year ended B Z2023F12A31R advertising  advertising Other
31 December 2023 ILEE services services services  Unallocated Total
AN
RERE  BLRE
RE  RERE  HeRH AR @t

RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTR AR®TR ARMTR AR%Tx

Amounts included in the AR RF (KRR
measure of segment profit EBITDA) s EM & 5
(adjusted EBITDA)
Depreciation of property, 0% BERIENE
plant and equipment 213 147 - - 360

Amounts regularly reportedto  EHESSTREEAS
the most senior executive ERE R ADBEF
management but not included (£} REBITDA) 5 &

in the measure of segment kX

profit (adjusted EBITDA)
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #1% ~ BiE R GITE

equipment - = = 158 158
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FFEEERE 2,218 - - - 2,218
Loss on write off of property, plant ~ ##ME « BE K&

and equipment REEE 788 = = = 788
Impairment of property, plantand 9% ~ BE kR ERE

equipment 226 - - - 226
Impairment of right-of-use assets ~ FREEERE 918 - - - 918
Impairment of prepayments to BEREERERE

suppliers 4,254 = - - 4,254
Impairment losses ontradeand ~ EHIEEBEENLTH

other receivables under the BHREMERTE

expected credit loss model, net  EEIE (B ER)

of reversal 40,810 22,863 62 (780) 62,955
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR ME
HZE2023F12831BIEFE

3. WakaHHE (&)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) ZDEPIFHE (&)
Segment results, assets and liabilities ) 7HEEE EEREE
(Continued) (48)
Traditional
offine media ~ Online media
For the year ended EZ2022F12A31A advertising  advertising Other
31 December 2022 ILEE services services services  Unallocated Total
BoRT  BLER
FEEERE EERE Et iR RAR Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARETT ARBTR AR%TR ARETR ARETR
Disaggregated by timing of RRAREBEIE
revenue recognition
Pointin time il e - 2,090 1,184 - 3274
Over time RBERREZ 60850 2007 2618 - 65,695
Reportable segment revenue W& 4l 60850 4317 3,802 - 68969
Reportable segment profit/(loss) 3% 2 8MuF /(B8
(adjusted EBITDA) (%35 ZEBITDA) 13,062 (6317) 1486 - 8231
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE2023F 12 A31 BHILFE

3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3. WaEkoHmE (&)
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) S (M)
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities i) 7HWEBE - EEREE
(Continued) (48)
Traditional

offinemedia  Online media

For the year ended EZ20225F12A31R advertising  advertising Other
31 December 2022 ILEE services services services  Unallocated Total
ERgT  HLEE
KREERE  BERE  AtRE APE @t

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTL  ARBTR ARETR ARBTLT ARETR

Amount included in the measure 3t A2 3% %,/ (E18)

of segment profit/(loss) ({8 AEEBITDA) &M
(adjusted EBITDA) Ex
Depreciation of property, plantand 1% - BE R BN E
equipment 255 168 - - 423

Amounts regularly reportedto  EHHESTREEAS
the most senior executive ERE R ADPRA
management but notincluded (38 %EBITDA) 5T B
in the measure of segment 8
profit (adjusted EBITDA)

Depreciation of property, plantand 91 + BiE Rk G E

equipment - - - 167 167
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FFIEEEME 3766 - - - 3,766
Impaiment lossesontradeand ~ BHIEEBERATHE

other receivables under the 5 REMEWHERE

expected credit loss model, net BE(kER)

of reversal 23,754 2,172 195 - 26,721

190 | lcon Culture Global Company Limited 2023 Annual Report



3.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segment profit

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR ME
HZE2023F12831BIEFE

3. WakaHHE (&)

(b) 2#EHE (&)

(i) AT E D BEN A R

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT
Reportable segment profit BEEE v 8,151 8,231
Depreciation e
— Property, plant and equipment  — ¥ % -« = K& G (158) (167)
— Right-of-use assets — ERERE (2,218) (3,766)
Loss on write off of property, plant  #ii$5%1 % ~ B = & & E&
and equipment ) 3= (788) -
Finance costs MBER (885) (870)
Other income H AU A 588 663
Other net losses H B 18558 (378) (10)
Selling expenses HE X (4,321) (4,231)
Impairment losses on property, Y% - BB RFEBE
plant and equipment (226) -
Impairment losses on right-of-use {5 FA A & E RE
assets (918) -
Impairment of prepayments to Tt P SRIE R E
suppliers (4,254) -
Impairment losses on trade and ~ FEHRZ EESEER TH
other receivables under the 25 REAMEWFKIA
expected credit loss model, net B EE (FFRE[D)
of reversal (62,955) (26,721)
Unallocated head office and AOBBRRI R EH
corporate expenses and other TR EMAES
expenses (9,423) (19,680)
Consolidated loss before taxation 474 & &t Al &5 18 (77,785) (46,551)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

3.

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(c)

192

(iii) Geographic information

All of the Group’s revenue and assets are
generated and located in the PRC.

Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from contracts in existence at
the reporting date

Contracts with customers within the scope of
HKFRS 15

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its service contracts.
Hence the Group does not disclose information about
revenue that it will be entitled to when it satisfies
the remaining performance obligations under these
contracts that had an original expected duration of one
year or less. Excluding these contracts, the aggregated
amount of the transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations under the Group's
existing contracts is RMB8,527,000 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: RMB8,016,000). The Group expects to
recognise these revenue within four years when these
services are rendered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023

ek

HZE2023F12831BIEFE

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET LOSSES 4 HMWAREMEEFHE
Other income H g A

2023 2022
202345 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETT
Interest income B2 U A 5 29
Government grants (note) BT #8G (K52 441 177
Others Hib 142 457
588 663

Note: Government grants represent various forms of incentives and
subsidies granted to the Group unconditionally by the local

HiaE - TR # Bh 5 P B 4t 75 R 4% R A

FEHETFTARETRTA 282

government authorities in the PRC. K&EB) -
Other net losses Hih g5 HEF8E
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT
Gain arising from derecognition of AR IETER KR IFERE
right-of-use assets and lease liabilites ~ FAEEENMEAEGEELE
upon early termination of leases Rl g 105 -
Compensation paid for early termination 32 A4% (T & KB+ 1E
of leases (456) -
Forfeited rental deposit upon early IRATRIFHERRIKMEE
termination of leases biracia (29) -
Others HAh 2 (10)
(378) (10)

2023FF R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMKRRMETE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE2023F 12 A31 BHILFE

5. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging:

(a) Finance costs

BRBL AT &S 18

BRAEEAT BB TR TS IEEE
2

(@) BMKEEHR
2023 2022
202345 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT
Interest on bank loans RITERFE 708 425
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 177 445
885 870

(b) Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)

(b)) ETHEX(BRESTHE)

2023 2022

2023 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T AREEF T

Salaries and wages HehTHE 7,556 11,921
Bonuses TE4T 467 703
Other benefits H b 18 F 588 1481
Contributions to retirement schemes R K5t 2|4 50 1,410 1,368
10,021 15473

Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiary are required
to participate in a defined contribution scheme
administered and operated by the local municipal
governments. The Group's PRC subsidiary contributes
funds which are calculated on certain percentages of
the employee salary as agreed by the local municipal
government to the scheme to fund the retirement
benefits of the employees.

The Group has no other material obligations for
payments of pension benefits beyond the contributions
to retirement schemes described above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2023  #EHZE2023F 12 A31 BLIEFE

5. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 5. KREAIEE ()
(c) Otheritems (0 HMIER
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT
Media costs (note) % 2k AN (B at) 16,471 61,219
Costs for public relations, marketing A8 - & /& 8 &
campaigns and other services H b B 7 B A 1,777 2313
18,248 63,532
Depreciation charge FEXH
— Property, plant and equipment — ¥ EENEE 518 590
— Right-of-use assets — FREEE 2,218 3,766
2,736 4,356
Recognition/(reversal) of impairment  #&32, /(¥ [@) {8 &5 18
losses for
— Trade receivables — B Z KA 63,735 26,721
— Other receivables H b fE U SRIB (780) -
62,955 26,721
— Property, plant and equipment — W% - BB MERE 226 -
- Right-of-use assets —EAEEE 918 -
— Prepayments to suppliers — BN EERIE 4,254 -
Auditors’ remuneration % A B &
- audit services — BZR® 620 1,680
Loss on write off of property, WEEMZ - BE &
plant and equipment R EE 788 -

Note: Amount mainly represented direct costs incurred it  2BBFEHERERRNESTHE
HFEERKA - & LEBT

B AR RR AR 7 AR BA

for costs of advertising resources for display of
advertisements, costs of online media platforms,

costs of publishing services and costs of promotional K BEME R RERK A E
materials and services. These direct costs are included ERBEERN ZEHE
in cost of sales. MAB T AEER A -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE2023F 12 A31 BHILFE

6. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 6. MEBBERNAEH
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) FmEBEIRHBIERE
profit or loss represents:
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARSTR ARE®Tx
(restated)
KE
Current tax expense/(credit) BB (ER)
(note 21(a)) (B15t21))
Provision for PRC income tax for the 4 9 A B0 AT 15 B 18 1
year 235 121
Over-provision for PRC income tax in @ F E 1 B 5 Fi a5
respect of prior years B - 8
Deferred tax expense/(credit) EERERS (ER)
Origination and reversal of temporary = 4 2 82 [o] BT B |4 Z %8
differences (note 21(b)) (FzE2100)) 6,627 (7,476)
6,862 (7,363)
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6.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR ME
HZE2023F12831BIEFE

6. REBHRNAEH (F)

(b) RBEABRTAENBERS

accounting loss at applicable tax rates: EEHEENEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARSTR ARBTT
(restated)
KEY
Loss before taxation BrEiRIE 1R (77,785) (46,551)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, ARG AIEENEZE
calculated at the rates applicable to  F418 - 1% i A P $E 78 7
profits in the jurisdiction concerned  ERE[R % FIM T K51 &
(note) (Ht5z) (18,907) (11,393)
Tax effect of unused tax losses m AR FERARF ARG EE
and other deductible temporary N H A AT H0 5 B B =58
differences not recognised SR 2 19,058 3,992
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 7~ A] 15 5 % # 57 £ 84 46
Over-provision in respect of prior BEFEHBREEE
years = @®)
Tax effect of reassessment of opening  Hi )ik AL+ 18 & &=
deferred tax assets B HORIBETE 8,437 -
Others HA (1,810) -
Income tax expense/(credit) Fri8fims (%) 6,862 (7,363)
Note: Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Wi R EHENEBRLEER

Islands and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The Group's subsidiary in Hong Kong is a qualifying
corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate
regime, and the first HK$2 million of assessable profits
are taxed at 8.25% (2022: 8.25%) and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% (2022: 16.5%).

The statutory income tax rate for the PRC subsidiaries is
25% (2022: 25%).

WAIRIG  AREBANKES
BB I 5 R 2B B U (AT
CHR

REBREBEZWB AR AFE
RRAGEaEREE  B2BE8
S TT B SR A 048 A1 A8.259% (20224 -
825%) OB R EH - M ER T FERR
R 5 F LA16.5% (20224F ¢ 16.5% )
ROFR R BH -

FEMBARREEMEREA
25% (2022%F : 25%) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMEMERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B ZE 20234 12 B31 HIL&E

7. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 7. EEEE
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) RIEE A D FHED 3831 IEA KA
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the BIEM B2 (HEEESFEER) I
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of EMESEMewT -

Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2023 HZE2023F12A31B LFE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
I% @R RRGHE
X0k BENEAN BiEIEAL % At

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARE®TR AR®TR AR®TR ARBTZR

Executive directors HITEE
(including chairman) (BEERE)

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To BAFELEE 120 - - - 120
Ms. Cai Xiaoshan EREf i+ 120 - - - 120
Mr.Lau Tung Hei Derek  ZIRE&E L4 120 - - - 120
Mr. Liu Biao AgrE 120 564 8 40 732
Ms. Liang Wei AR L 120 193 17 43 373
Sub-total INE 600 757 25 83 1,465
Independent BUKHITES

non-executive

directors
Mr. Lee Siu Hang FRERE 180 - - - 180
Mr. Tian Tao AEisE 180 - - - 180
Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia ~ EZHiz £+ 180 = = = 180
Mr. Liu Lihan (note (i) SRR

(Hat0) 5 - - - 5

Sub-total e 545 - - - 545
Total @ 1,145 757 25 83 2,010
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2023  #EHZE2023F 12 A31 BLIEFE

7. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 7. EEME (E)
Year ended 31 December 2022 HZE2022F12A31HLEE
Salaries,

allowances Retirement

Directors'  and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total

TE R RINETE
EE ik ENGEH METEL it Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT ARKTT ARETT ARETR

Executive directors HTES
(including chairman) (B XE)

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To BEFELE 120 - - - 120
Ms. Cai Xiaoshan EEfa+ 120 - - - 120
Mr.Lau Tung Hei Derek  ZIRIELAE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Liu Biao ety 120 616 2 39 777
Ms. Liang Wei 2R L 120 364 7 4 533
Sub-total Nt 600 980 9 81 1670
Independent BUEHTES

non-executive

directors
Mr. Lee SiuHang Foster KB L4 180 - - - 180
Mr. Tian Tao HELE 180 - - - 180
Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia ~ :BEM#= + 180 - - - 180
Sub-total et 540 - - - 540
Total @t 1,140 980 9 81 2,210
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

No performance related incentive payments were
determined and paid to any of the directors or and of the
five highest paid individuals set out in note 8 below for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

There were no amounts paid or payable by the Group to
the directors or any of the five highest paid individuals
set out in note 8 below as an inducement to join or upon
joining Company or the Group or as a compensation for
loss of office. No directors waived or agreed to waive any
emolument during the year.

Notes:

(i) Mr. Liu Lihan has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company with effect from 15
December 2023.

(i)  The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.
The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the
Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2023  #EHZE2023F 12 A31 BLIEFE

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two
(2022: two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in
note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
other three (2022: three) individuals are as follows:

8. EmEHMAL

st mmB AL - 24 (20226 -
282)REE  EHFMRHA7HEE -
AREHM3E AL (20226 : 38) B9
H@EsE SR T

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT

Salaries and other emoluments 4 N EH b 7N 1,194 1,522
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 15 14
Retirement scheme contributions RORET 2 =0 125 126

1,334 1,662

The emoluments of the three (2022: three) individuals with
the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

3% (2002F 3B BmEHEMA T H
HENFUTEE

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A A&

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 3 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMKRRMETE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE2023F 12 A31 BHILFE

9. LOSS PER SHARE 9.
(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on
the loss attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company for the year of RMB84,647,000 (2022:
(restated): RMB39,188,000) and the weighted average of
180,000,000 ordinary shares (2022: 180,000,000 ordinary
shares) in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted loss per share

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
there were no potential ordinary shares issued.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2023  #EHZE2023F 12 A31 BLIEFE

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 10. ¥ - MERKE

Office
Motor Leasehold  equipment
vehicles improvement  and others Total
WARER
"E HEEE Hits st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT AR%TR
Cost: B
At 1 January 2022 R202F1A18 1123 - 1974 3,097
Additions NE - 1,277 251 1528
Disposal HE - - 97) (97)
At 31 December 2022 and 2022512 A318 12023
1 January 2023 F1A1R 1123 1277 2128 4528
Additions NS - - 74 74
Disposal or written off HE S 3 - (1277) (5) (1.282)
At 31 December 2023 M20235E12A31H 1,123 - 2197 3320
Accumulated depreciationand ~ RitITERFERSE
impairment losses:
At 1 January 2022 M202251R18 (1,112) - (1461) (2573)
Charge for the year FAMB - (276) (314) (590)
Wiritten back on disposals HERFEME - - 93 93
At 31 December 2022 and 20228124318 2023
1 January 2023 F1A1H (1112) (276) (1,682) (3,070)
Charge for the year ERMG - (213) (305) (518)
Written back on disposals 6 ey 43¢ ] ok 5
or written off - 489 5 494
Impairment losses HEBE (1m - (215) (226)
At 31 December 2023 F2023F12A318 (1,123) - (2197) (3320)
Net book value: R RE
At 31 December 2023 72023F12A31H - - - -
At 31 December 2022 M2022512A31H 1 1,007 446 1458
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMKRRMETE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE2023F 12 A31 BHILFE

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the directors of the
Company have conducted impairment assessment on
recoverable amounts of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets which are used in the
Group's business for traditional offline media advertising
services. In view of the unfavorable operating results from
that business, the management of the Group estimated
the recoverable amount for the CGU of the Group’ business
for traditional offline media advertising services. The
recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined
based on value-in-use calculation. The discount rate in
measuring the amount of value in use was 19%. Based on
the results of the impairment assessment, the management
estimated that the Group’s business for traditional offline
media advertising services would not generate significant
amount of positive net cash inflows in the future and hence
the recoverable amounts of the relevant property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets belonging to the Group’s
business for traditional offline media advertising services
were insignificant. Accordingly, impairment losses on these
assets used in the Group’s business for traditional offline
media advertising services of RMB226,000 (2022: nil) and
RMB918,000 (2022: nil) respectively have been recognised for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to fully write down the
carrying amounts of the property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets.
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11.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is

presented as below:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. FREEE

ZHmR

Advertising

e ISR ME
HZE2023F12831BIEFE

BEREAKREELAEBANEEEH

spaces and
billboards Office Total
BEMR
BER i NS et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFTRT ARBTET
Cost: R AN
At 1 January 2022 202291 A1H 9,612 6,084 15,696
Remeasurement BHEE - 586 586
At 31 December 2022 and PR2022F12H31H &

1 January 2023 2023F 1 A1H 9,612 6,670 16,282
Termination of leases ME® I (9,612) (873) (10,485)
At 31 December 2023 MR2023%F12H31H - 5,797 5,797
Accumulated depreciation ZEFHITEREREEE :

and impairment losses:

At 1 January 2022 7202291 A 1H (2,403) (2,873) (5,276)
Charge for the year F AR (2,403) (1,363) (3,766)
At 31 December 2022 and 202212 H831H &

1 January 2023 2023F1A1H (4,806) (4,236) (9,042)
Termination of leases ME®KIE 5,800 581 6,381
Charge for the year FARHBR (994) (1,224) (2,218)
Impairment losses BB EE - (918) (918)
At 31 December 2023 2023F12H31H - (5,797) (5,797)
Net book value: BRTEFE :

At 31 December 2023 2023512 H31H - - -
At 31 December 2022 72022412 A318 4,806 2,434 7,240
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE2023F 12 A31 BHILFE

11. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group leases advertising spaces and billboards and
offices, with leases expiring from 20 to 36 months. None of
the leases includes variable lease payments.

Some leases include an option to renew the lease for an
additional period after the end of the contract term. Where
practicable, the Group seeks to include such extension
options exercisable by the Group to provide operational
flexibility. The Group assesses at lease commencement date
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension
options. If the Group is not reasonably certain to exercise
the extension options, the future lease payments during the
extension periods are not included in the measurement of
lease liabilities.

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised
in profit or loss is as follows:

n. EREEE (&)

AN B E S KBS KA Kt
NE - FEIR20E361E A A Em © B
EHERESZBHEENK -

ETHEBERAHNHMRERRE
BHEHAO-RBEIARNEEE &
ATERN  ARESRBEARE
BATENBERTEREREE AR
HEEBELE - AEEREEMRA
FHFAERABHETEHERE
B HMAKREEZSEBRETE
FERIEERE - BIERHIRE A ARR
HENTBE T AHEREBENE -

AR EERRNEEZHAXER
DT

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARTRT AR%®TT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use RIEEEERRE DL A

assets by class of underlying asset: HEENEER

Advertising spaces and billboards BELKMESE 994 2,403
Office L NES 1,224 1,363
2,218 3,766

Impairment loss on right-of-use assets ~ {& Fi# & E BB & 18 (A7:E)
(note) 9218 -
Expenses relating to short-term leases  ER%5 HAFH & #H B89 5 X 125 -
Interest on lease liabilities (note 5(a)) HEBBHE (Hit50a) 177 445

Note: Details of the impairment assessment on right-of-use assets
are set out in note 10.
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12.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023

12.

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries

which principally affected the results, assets, or liabilities of
the Group as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. The class of
shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

e ISR ME
HZE2023F12831BIEFE

RBEAFIRE

TREBFETFEFEAREEN2023
FNM2022F12A3HESE - BESB
BB ARIFHE - RSB BN -
FriF IR 28 7l B E AR o

Proportion of ownership interest

Gigek 1 bl
Particulars of
issued share Group's
Place of incorporation capital/registered  effective Heldbythe Heldbya
Name of company and business capital interest  Company subsidiary  Principal activity
R/ AEEW MEAR
NAER AL R ER AftRA=E BRER RAAFRA BE IEEH
Inspiring Chance Holding  British Virgin Islands USS1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited (2022:100%)  (2022: 100%) (2022:-)
EBRAES E3 REER
Shining Glow Limited Hong Kong HKS1 100% - 100%  Investment holding
(2022: 100%) (2022:-)  (2022:100%)
& BT RERR
Icon Culture Media The PRC RMB71,960,000 100% - 100%  Integrated multimedia
Investment Co, Ltd. * (2022: 100%) (2022:-) (2022 100%) advertising services
KA BHERE ik ARH719600007C HRSRERERE
BRAGN
* Icon Culture Media Investment Co., Ltd. is a wholly foreign * KA AL EEIGEBR AT A—

owned enterprise in the PRC and the official name is in

Chinese. The English translation of the name is for reference

only.

MRPEMIIEEERRX HE
TEBBPX - HAWZHEXE
KEHRRE -
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e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE2023F 12 A31 BHILFE

13. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 13. HtERBHEE
As at 31 December 2022, other non-current assets mainly PR2023F12H318 - EMIERBEE
represented rental deposits, which might be recovered after FERMEERE FREE—FNUE
more than one year. Y e o
14. TRADE RECEIVABLES 14. E 5 RBWFIE
2023 2022
20234 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

it ARBTRT ARETET

Current B

Trade debtors B S5 EIERR 106,292 136,381

Less: Impairment losses B REE R 23(a) (95,102) (31,367)

11,190 105,014

All of the trade receivables are expected to be recovered FrEE SEWRZEBEERAR—FAY

within one year. [ o

As at 31 December 2023, the Group pledged trade receivable 2023128310 ' REEBDHAE

with gross amount of RMB5,600,000 (2022: RMB31,200,000) E R sRITER (M19) ERE TR

for the bank loans of the Group (note 19). B AR5 600,000THE 5 EIE
(2022%F = A R ¥31,200,0007T) ) &

YT BRK o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

14. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(a) Ageing analysis

As of 31 December 2023, the ageing analysis of
trade receivables, based on the invoice date which
approximates to the date of revenue recognition and
net of loss allowance, is as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR ME
HZE2023F12831BIEFE

14. EZEWFIE (&)

(a)

AR 2 4T

R2023F12H31H B 5 E WK
RIERBEEQR (B SER
REIRE) WHIKREEREED
ERECOMTAR T -

2023 2022

20235 20224F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT

Within 1 month —@EAR 1,069 2,866
1 to 3 months —&Z={@A 338 4,764
3 to 12 months ==+_{@A 9,783 71,450
More than 1 year but less than 2 years —F LA F1ERFIAT - 25,934
11,190 105,014

Trade receivables are due 90 days to 180 days from the
date of revenue recognition (2022: 90 days to 180 days).
Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out
in note 23(a).

As at 31 December 2023, included in the trade
receivables are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of RMB8,510,000 (2022: RMB81,771,000) which
are past due as at the reporting date. These past due
balances have been past due 30 days or more and
are not considered as in default based on the Group’s
assessment of historical credit loss experience of
the existing debtors and available forward-looking
information, including but not limited to the expected
economic conditions in the PRC and expected
subsequent settlements. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

As at 31 December 2023, loss allowance of
RMB92,871,000 (2022: RMB22,216,000) has been fully
provided on trade receivables that are credit impaired.

2023FF R

B o rEW AN ER WS B H
#EET90H F180H (20224 : 90
HZE180H) 2 - BEEAAEE
ERBGRME — D IBEAM
5¥23(a) °

R2023F12A31H  E 5 EWK
REREEAREAARK
8,510,0007C (20224F : AR ¥
81,771,0007T) H) FE WL 5K I8 -+ 7%
EXRERNREBHDEBE - %
LB e B HA30A A L
BERBEAEEHNREEEHEAB
FTEEBBLROTME LA E
SHATEEER (BEETR
A AR B A T8 B 4 AR O X TR B
BRELE) ZEZaBEHRT
WRBEX -ANEBWERZ
EEHREBEETMAEES -

MR2023F 128318 - BEREER
ENE S ENGRBERHSTIRES
B RS A R192,871,0007T (2022
F: AR¥222160007T) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE2023F 12 A31 BHILFE

15. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS

15, HEERNRE RERBEAK

b2
2023 2022
2023 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

it ARBTR ARETTT

Prepayments for media costs gL I N IR EE N E 1,079 444
Prepayments to suppliers (note) — Fa 1~ FE B 238 (A7 7%) 4,254 4,254
Less: Impairment losses AR EEE (4,254) -
Subtotal Nt - 4254
Others Hib 1,937 3,317
Less: Impairment losses T R BRI 23(a) (1,600) (2,380)
Subtotal INER 337 937

1,416 5,635

All of the other receivables and prepayments are expected to

be recovered or recognised as expense within one year.

Note: This included RMB4,000,000 paid to the supplier of the
advertising services in the contracted agreement in which the

Group acts as agent, detail of which are set out in Note 18.
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e ISR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE2023F 12 A31 BIEFE

16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 16. RERHEELEEY
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (@ RERFASEEYEE:
2023 2022
202345 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT

Cash at bank RITIRE 13,664 12,016
Cash on hand FIEIRS 3 3
13,667 12,019
At 31 December 2023, cash and cash equivalents 2023128318 » =R
placed with banks in the Mainland China amounted to REAIET RS RIS
RMB13,023,000 (2022: RMB11,594,000). Remittance of £ &Y A AR E13,023,0007T
funds out of Mainland China is subject to the relevant (20224« AR 111,594,000
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control To) c B AMEHE S
promulgated by the PRC government. 7838 <1 P B BT 48 45 1 A8 8

SN il AR Y S AR B
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16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 16. RERAELZEY (F)
(b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash (b) BRBAIFIEHKEFFARE
used in operations: ¥ ER ¢
2023 2022
2023 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

g3 ARBTRT ARETET

Loss before taxation BR AT E 1R (77,785) (46,551)
Adjustments for: BUT&IE
EH R
Other net gains H b Y 558 (76) -
Finance costs MEER 5(a) 885 870
Depreciation e
- Property, plant and equipment — #1% « B &E &
B 5(c) 518 590

- Right-of-use assets — FREEE 5(c) 2,218 3,766
Loss on write off of property, WEDE - BRE&

plant and equipment Rz EE 5(c) 788 -
Impairment losses on trade and ~ FEHR{Z B E 1B 8 =

other receivables under the THE S KHM

expected credit loss model, net & U 2K I8 5 (B &S

of reversal B (HkrEE) 5(c) 62,955 26,721
Impairment losses on property,  #1% - B &R

plant and equipment BEEE 5(c) 226 -
Impairment losses on right-of-use 1§ Fl # & 2 J& (B &

assets B 5(c) 918 -
Impairment of prepayments to T8 1~ {ft JiE 7 2% 38 Uk

suppliers (] 5(c) 4,254 -
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  HEK

plant and equipment Rz EE S 1

Changes in working capital: &E&E&SE :

Decrease in trade and other g 5 & E e W5k
receivables =p 30,806 29,213

Decrease in other non-current HEMIEREEER
assets b 965 142

Decrease in trade and other g5 & H MR

payables and contract liabilites  TBIAK & X BE
s (5,792) (25,787)

Cash generated from/(used in) & & Fr18,/(FrA)
operations Re 20,880 (11,035)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE2023F 12 A31 BIEFE

16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 16. RERAELEEY (F)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from () RETEFEEEENEER:
financing activities:
Other than those disclosed elsewhere in the BREAMEHmRISEBRESE
consolidated financial statements, the table below Gh s TRANEERE T E
details changes in the Group's liabilities from financing EFRBEEEHFE BRERS
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. FIEBcES  @METEBESE
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities MNBENAREMEIARKIR
for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, ERMERAEBGARESRE
classified in the Group’s consolidated statements of X0 BAEREEHREMNEN
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. BE-
Bank Lease
loans liabilities
(note 19) (note 20) Total
RITER HEAE
(Ktzt19) (Kiit20) st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®TR AR%®TxR

At 1 January 2023 M2023F1H1H 20,000 8,389 28,389

Changes from financing cash MERERELE:
flows:

Capital element of lease rentals paid A EREHE R

=5 - (3,207) (3,207)
Interest element of lease rentals paid E A EHR L HF 2
%) - (177) (177)
Proceeds from bank loans RITEFABRIE 5,000 - 5,000
Repayment to bank BRIBITHIE (20,000) - (20,000)
Interests paid SANEN IS (708) - (708)
Total changes from financing cash ~ BER &R EE 88
flows 5] (15,708) (3,384) (19,092)
Other changes: Hith 5 :
Decrease in lease liabilities from RIFHEEHEESR
termination of leases BER A - (4,209) (4,209)
Interest expenses (note 5(a)) B (Hits6) 708 177 885
Total other changes Hin S8 4E 5 708 (4,032) (3,324)
At 31 December 2023 202312 A831H 5,000 973 5,973
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HE2023F12A31HIEFE

16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

(c)

214

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

16. RERBEEEY (&)

() BEFBRELRENHR:

financing activities: (Continued) (48)
Bank Lease
loans liabilities
(note 19) (note 20) Total
RITERK HEBE
(Bfaz19) (HizE20) et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTRT ARETT
At 1 January 2022 R20225181H - 10672 10,672
Changes from financing cash MERERERE:
flows:
Capital element of lease rentals paid DA HAEH L
RN - (2,869) (2,869)
Interest element of lease rentals paid 2 A EFR & H
MBS - (445) (445)
Proceeds from bank loans RITERFBHE 20,000 - 20,000
Interests paid EANEN S (425) - (425)
Total changes from financing cash ~ BER &R EE )
flows R 19,575 (3314) 16,261
Other changes: Hith 5 :
Increase in lease liabilities from KAV HEE
entering into new leases during HMHE & FEE
the period - 586 586
Interest expenses (note 5(a)) NERX (Hit5a) 425 445 870
Total other changes Hih & s)ass 425 1,031 1,456
At 31 December 2022 72022612318 20,000 8,389 28,389
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE2023F 12 A31 BIEFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

17. ESRHMENSRE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT

Trade payables 2 SN IR 11,918 18,706
Other tax payables HuiENFIE 160 219
Payroll payables JERTIE 513 719
Receipts in advance (note 18) T WK IE (M1 7E18) 4,000 4,000
Other payables and accrued charges HuENZIBENESER 2,669 3,752

19,260 27,396

All of the trade and other payables as at 31 December 2023
are expected to be settled within one year or are repayable
on demand.

The credit period granted by the suppliers is between 30 and
180 days (2022: between 30 and 180 days).

As of the end of each of the reporting period, the ageing
analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as

R203FNANHWMAMEE S L E
o EFRIBTE RN —F A& B X
BEREE -

HEBR FHEEH0E180K
(2022%F : M F30F180K)

BESWEMKR  BHERNFAR
BRERZAMNERR MO

follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREF T AREFIT
Within 1 month —@AAR 840 3,361
1to 3 months —Z=1{@A 744 4321
3to 12 months =Z+={@A 2,582 6,162
Over 12 months #aE+—1@A 7,752 4,862
11,918 18,706
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B ZE2023F 12 A31 BHIEFE

18. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 18. EHAEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT
Services fees received in advance from  FEWREEHREE
customers 12,464 10,119

Services fees received in advance from customers are
recorded as contract liabilities upon receipt. Revenue
from provision of services is recognised according to the
accounting policy set out in note 1(0).

In the previously issued consolidated financial statements,
contract liabilities as at 31 December 2022 included advance
payment received by the Group from a customer amounting
to RMB6,500,000 in relation to a service contract whereby
the Group acts as agent, not principal, to arrange for the
provision of traditional offline media advertising services for
the customer under this service contract. In the consolidated
financial statements for the current year, the amount of
RMB4,000,000, which represents the contract consideration
that relates to the advertising services to be provided by
another party to the contractual arrangement is presented
as other payables as it does not meet the definition of
a contract liability, instead of being included in contract
liabilities of the Group. The comparative amounts presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position have
been reclassified accordingly to conform with current year's
presentation.
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e ISR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE2023F 12 A31 BIEFE

18. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 18. EHEE (&)
Movements in contract liabilities EHEEERS
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT

At the beginning of the year F4) 10,119 4,035
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result E#ERD T AET AL AE
of recognising revenue during the MFARZEBNEDNE
year that was included in the contract &R 4
liabilities at the beginning of the year (2,060) (715)
Increase in contract liabilities as aresult EFEWRIBEHRHN AL AG
of receipt in advance 80 4,405 6,799
12,464 10,119
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

19. BANKLOANS

(a)

(b)

218

The analysis of the repayment schedule of

19. SRITER

(a)

RITEREBERFERD MW

bank loans is as follows: T
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AREFIT
Within 1 year or on demand —FERIRENRE S 5,000 20,000

Assets pledged as security and covenants for (b) EMBITEFEFBERR
bank loans RAENEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTRT ARETT
Secured bank loans BEMIEITER 5,000 20,000

At 31 December 2023, RMB5,000,000 of the bank
facilities of the Group carrying interest at 5% per
annum was guaranteed by a director of the Company
and the Company, and was secured by a pledge of the
trade receivables with gross amount of RMB5,600,000
and net carrying amount of nil.

As at 31 December 2022, RMB10,000,000 of the bank
facilities of the Group carrying interest at 5.00% per
annum was guaranteed by a director of the Company
and the Company, and of which RMB5,000,000 of the
bank facilities were secured by a pledge of the trade
receivables with gross amount of RMB31,200,000 of the
Group. The remaining bank facilities of RMB10,000,000
carrying interest at 4.60% per annum was guaranteed
by a director of the Company and secured by a pledge
of a property owned by a director of the Company.
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20. LEASE LIABILITIES

21.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

20. HEEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

HZE2023F12831BIEFE

At 31 December 2023, the lease liabilities were repayable as 2023128318 - JEEEMNHEES
follows: BT :

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT
Within 1 year —FE R 973 4,707
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFNR - 3,682
973 8,389

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated
statements of financial position represents:

21. HREMBRRRFED

(a) FEPBMRREVIBIRE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥BTRT ARETT
At the beginning of the year F 1) 2,707 7825
Provision for PRC income tax for the 4 ) A1 B Fr 15 5t 335
year (note 6(a)) (Htite@)) 235 121
Over-provision for PRC income tax in  iBF FE gt HFT15
respect of prior years (note 6(a)) FRRB A (M 7t6(a) - 8)
Income tax paid during the year FABNFER (56) (5231)
At the end of the year FR 2,886 2,707
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE2023F 12 A31 BHILFE

21. INCOME TAXIN THE CONSOLIDATED 21.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised

REPBRRRAEHR (&)

b) ERIAEEHEBEBEE (A
&)

Movement of each component of deferred tax EEHREBEEE (BB 84K
assets/(liabilities) HoNEE

The component of deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
recognised in the consolidated statements of financial
position and the movements during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

R E2023F &20229F12A31H
WLFE  EHEEVBRRTE
ROELERBEE(BFE)H
HE D R EZEE T -

Right-
Credit loss of-use
allowance assets Others Total
REFE ERE
BE BE Hit @t
RMB'000 RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR AR¥ETn AR%®Tn ARETR
At 1 January 2022 (as originally stated) 1202281 A18 (R31) 175 - 64 1,820
Effect of amendments to HKAS 12 BAGTENENRNE
LEE - (2,605) (64) (2669)
As T January 2022 (as restated) R02F1 718 (B E5) 1,756 (2,605) - (849)
Credited to profit or loss (note 6(a)) SABE(Wi6) 6,681 795 - 7476
At 31 December 2022 (as restated) and B022%F128318 (B85 Rk
1 January 2023 03%1 518 8457 (1810) . 6627
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (note 6(a)) PIE (k) /G (Hizee) -
Current year AEE - 1810 - 1810
Reversal of opening deferred tax assets AEFF A mEDBIEL
resulting from reassessment MBEE (8437) - - (8437)
843) 1810 - 68)
At 31 December 2023 12023% 124318 - - - -
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21.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(c)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately RMB25,963,000 (2022:
RMB17,979,000) available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. Unrecognised tax losses are all
from the PRC operations that will expire in five years,
from the year the losses were incurred.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has not recognised
deferred tax asset in respect of other deductible
temporary differences, mainly related to cumulative
expected credit losses on trade and other receivables
of RMB96,702,000 (2022: nil), right-of-use assets, lease
liabilities, impairment of prepayments to suppliers,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
for a total of approximately RMB5,293,000 (2022:
RMB8,389,000). As at 31 December 2023 and 2022,
no deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation
to these deductible temporary differences as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilized.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

21.

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(d) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

222

According to the Corporate Income Tax ("CIT") Law
and its implementation rules, dividends receivable by
non- PRC corporate residents from PRC enterprises
are subject to withholding income tax at 10%, unless
reduced by tax treaties or arrangements, for profits
earned since 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2023, temporary differences relating to
the undistributed profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiary
was nil (2022: RMB3,482,000). At 31 December 2022,
deferred tax liabilities relating to these temporary
differences amounting to RMB348,000 had not
been recognised in respect of the tax that would be
payable on the distribution of these retained profits
as the Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is
probable that these profits will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

22. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

22, EX - RERERE

HZE2023F12831BIEFE

(a) Share capital (@ B
Authorised share capital of the Company KATREERA
2023 2022
2023F 20226
Number of Shares Number of Shares
shares capital shares capital
RoEE [N Min & E [N
HK$ HKS
BT BT
Ordinary shares of S EE01
HK$0.01 each BITL

TR 2,000,000,000 20,000,000  2,000,000,000 20,000,000

As of 31 December 2023, ordinary shares of the
Company with a total number of 180,000,000 shares
(2022: 180,000,000 shares) were issued.

R2023F12A31H & H&

180,000,00008 AN A &

R

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of
the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company’s residual assets.

2577 (20224 : 180,000,000/%) °

EBEEFEAEEEDTRE
A S - B RER AR R
RRg LA EBERRHKR—F-
PrEERREARARGKREE
FEEFBRFEF -
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HE2023F12A31HIEFE

22. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(Continued)
(b) Movements in component of equity (b) ERAERTDEE
The reconciliation between the opening and AEBEGEAESSARTS 2
closing balances of each component of the Group's FHIRFERGH ZHEHESHNE
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated EEmEHER - ARARFY
statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes 2 FRAYE B FE 2S48 B B o
in the Company’s individual components of equity BFEIEEOT
between the beginning and the end of the year are set
out below:
Share Share Accumulated  Exchange
capital premium losses reserves Total
Rx  R#EE  RiAERE  EXRE @t
RMB'000 RMB ‘000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR®TR ARETR ARETR ARET:R
At 1 January 2022 PnE1A1E 15% 91,866 (21876) (2,158) 69428
Loss for the year FREE - - (498) - (498)
Other comprehensive income LzElE - - - 1,907 1,907
Total comprehensive income PENHEE - - (498) 1907 1409
At 31 December 2022 R002F12A31H 15% 91,866 (22,374) (251) 70837
At 1 January 2023 P03F1 A1 15% 91,866 (22,374) (251) 70837
Loss for the year EREE - - (83,101) - (83,101)
Other comprehensive income Lz Ela - - - 319 319
Total comprehensive expense PHRXEE - - (83107) 319 (82782)
At 31 December 2023 R03F12A31H 15% 91,866 (105475) 68 (11,945)

224

22, EX - RERRE (8)
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22. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium

The share premium at 31 December 2023
represented premium arising from capital
injection made by shareholders to the Company.

Under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands, the
funds in the Company’s share premium account
are distributable to the equity shareholders
provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company will be in a position to pay off its

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE2023F 12 A31 BIEFE

22, EX - RERRKRE (8)

() RENEERAR
(i) KRDEE

R2023F12H31 8 B % 9
mEEBRRAAQGTEE
ELERGE -

REMASESRRE - A
EREgZkEREEH
& RNRBHEEHENR
BEEBBRETIHZE
%5 RIAR R B 2 B0 it (B
Rz B2 DIk THEEK

debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of Ho

business.

(i) Statutory reserve

According to the PRC Company Law, the
Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required
to transfer 10% of their profit after taxation,
as determined under the PRC accounting
regulations, to statutory reserve until the reserve
balance reaches 50% of the registered capital.
The transfer to this reserve must be made before
distribution of a dividend to shareholders.

Statutory reserve can be used to reduce previous
years' losses, if any, and may be converted into
capital in proportion to the existing equity

interest of investors.

(i) SEERE

BREBEFHREE  NAF
WA EKBARESRES
ERPEETREEEL
100750 18 5 ) 88 18 2= 0K FF
iE EEREEBAES
R E AR 250% o 83 #
EMFEELERDIRERE
T AR R BUAHEST ©

EE R AR A B E
FENEE @A) - L7
BRIEEEZHBRERD
Eo ¥ tb B8 3 SRR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

22. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(c)

Nature and purpose of reserves

(iii)

(iv)

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations
with functional currencies other than the RMB
presentation currency. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out
in note 1(p).

Other reserve

Other reserve represents the difference between
(1) the total consideration of RMB48,731,000 due
from the Company’s shareholders arising from
reorganisation; and (2) the aggregate amount of
share capital and share premium of Icon Media of
RMB36,824,000 prior to reorganisation.

(d) Distributability of reserves

226

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amounts of

reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders

of the Company was nil (2022: RMB69,241,000) which
comprises of share premium offset by accumulated loss
and exchange reserve of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

22. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(e)

Capital management

The Group's primary objective when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, by pricing services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt,
including bank loans (note 19), cash and cash
equivalents (note 16) and equity attributable to the
owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves as set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholders returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions. The Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. The ratio is
calculated as bank loans divided by total equity of the
Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE2023F 12 A31 BHILFE

22. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 22. BX - RERRKRE (&)
(Continued)
(e) Capital management (Continued) (e) EXREE (M)
The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the REBNHEHRNIERL X
reporting period was as follows: /N
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETTT

Bank loans RITER 5,000 20,000
Total (deficit)/equity (E54t) /#E #4278 (14,303) 70,354
Gearing ratio 1Bt = (35.0%) 284%
Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries are subject to KRR EWE AR HBAEEST
externally imposed capital requirements. SNER B INEY & R B SK o

(f) Dividends fH KE
The directors have resolved not to declare any EFRENTTEIRE E2023
dividends for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: F12A3B IEFE ZE I B
nil). (20224F : #&) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE2023F 12 A31 BIEFE

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Exposure to credit, liquidity, currency and interest rate
risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.
The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a) Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables.
The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash
and cash equivalents and restricted deposits with a
bank is limited because the counterparties are banks
with high-credit-quality, for which the Group considers
to have low credit risk. Management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.

Trade and other receivables

The Group has established a credit risk management
policy under which individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due 90 days to 180 days
(2022: 90 days to 180 days) from the date of revenue
recognition. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.
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HE2023F12A31HIEFE

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

230

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade and other receivables (Continued)

Significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise
when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 22%
(2022: 29%) and 75% (2022: 77%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group's largest customer
and the five largest customers. Four (2022: one) out of
the five largest customers were determined as credit
impaired as at 31 December 2023.

The Group performs collective assessment of ECLs by
measuring loss allowances for trade receivables which
are not individually assessed as credit impaired at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group’s credit loss
experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss
allowance is not further distinguished between the
Group’s different customer segments.

For other receivables, the Group makes periodic
individual assessment at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs on the recoverability of other receivables based
on historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE2023F 12 A31 BIEFE

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 23. eRIEBER ()
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (@) ERARMK(E)
Trade and other receivables (Continued) B REMEWRRIE (&)
Collective assessment EREIT
The following table provides information about the TREFNAEELE 5 EUWK
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade HASEAERARRMEREE
receivables whose ECLs were assessed on a collective EEER
basis:
2023
20234
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rates amount allowance

RHERER ARTE A E BREE
Approximate

% RMB’000 RMB’000

BAOBEIE AR¥®TR AR¥TR

Current (not past due) BNER (K@ H7) 5 2,818 138
Less than 3 months past # HR > A3 1E A
due 18 5,303 929
Over 3 months but less than 1 HA3{E A A
6 months past due 1B r6fE A 22 5,300 1,164
Over 6 months but less than 1 Hi6{E A LA N/A
9 months past due (ERDDNCIEDS FEA - -
Over 12 months past due % E3121& A A N/A
FEA - -
13,421 2,231
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HE2023F12A31HIEFE

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

232

23. SREAREE (/E)

Credit risk (Continued) (@ EHARKE)
Trade and other receivables (Continued) B REMEBEWRRIE (&)
Collective assessment (Continued) ERETE (FB)
2022
20224
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rates amount allowance
TEHAE1E X EEAE EiE
Approximate
% RMB'000 RMB'000
BB DT ARBEF T AREEF T
Current (not past due) BNHER (R ER) 1 23,441 198
Less than 3 months past #1 B3 D R 31E A
due 2 4,793 91
Over 3 months but less than 81 HA31&E A LA 18
6 months past due L 6E A 8 50,191 4,010
Over 6 months but less than #8 261& A LA 1B
9 months past due D INE A 12 30,365 3,720
Over 12 months pastdue  # EA121& A A £ 21 5375 1,132
114,165 9,151
Individual assessment 1615 5F A
In addition to above provision matrix, the Group has br b BEIN - NEELD

recognised ECL loss allowances for certain customers
which were individually assessed as credit impaired. As
at 31 December 2023, the accumulated individual loss
allowance was RMB92,871,000 (2022: RMB22,216,000)
with the carrying amounts before loss allowance of

RMB92,871,000 (2022: RMB22,216,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a) Creditrisk (Continued)

Trade and other receivables (Continued)

The Group used judgement in assessing the expected
credit loss rate and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, mainly based on the ageing of
overdue trade receivables, historical payment profiles
and the corresponding historical credit losses rate of
the Group's customers, current market conditions and
forecast of future economic conditions at the end of
each reporting period.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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23. SREAREE (/E)

(a)

= ARk (&)
B 5 K E W E (&)

AEBEERFAEABEESR
R E ) T 3 5 BB RORUE
AENBAE DEIBRES
BERARAEBEZFPNEBRE
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FREEZRYGKAEBEBENE

trade receivables during the year is as follows: BEREREEHOT :
Loss
allowance
BiEEE
RMB'000
ARBTT
Balance at 1 January 2022 202241 B1H MY & 84 4,646
Impairment losses recognised during the year N 2 FER R B E 1B 26,721

Balance at 31 December 2022 and PR20228F12 318 &

1 January 2023 2023F 1 A1 BER & 31,367
Impairment losses recognised during the year N 2 MR R E BB 63,735
Balance at 31 December 2023 202312 A31H 4584 95,102
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE2023F 12 A31 BHILFE

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

(b)

234

Credit risk (Continued)

23. SREAREE (/E)

(a) fEAER (&)

Trade and other receivables (Continued) B REMEBEWRRIE (&)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of FRNEBHEMEKRFIENEIE

other receivables during the year is as follows:

BEEZBNT :

Loss
allowance
BiEEE
RMB'000
ARBTT
Balance at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 7A20224F1 A1H ~ 2022412 A31H
and 1 January 2023 N2023F1 A1 B £ gk 2,380
Impairment losses recognised during the year  F N 2 HE R R EE 1B 100
Reversal of impairment losses during the year 4 A [B] & (B &5 18 (880)
Balance at 31 December 2023 PR2023F12 31 H W45 84 1,600
Liquidity risk (b) REELREMKE
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity AEEOKRRETHERER
requirements and its compliance with lending HELERRHEBETEERLY
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves N WEREAIFFTRIR
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding S EE N E T BRI A
from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity RBEFTHAREBEETUAENE

requirements in the short and longer term.

RERERRBESHRK -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE2023F 12 A31 BIEFE

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of
the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

23. SREAREE (/E)

(b)

REBE S ERE (F)

TERERAEBRNEBRAGBRN
BEMRNBKTEONIB
o RFERTDERA KRR
AReRE(BRERAOF
RAHENNEMNR) RAKHE
WESRKN HHRF B

As at 31 December 2023

120235124318

Within More than
1yearor 1yearbut less Carrying
ondemand  than 2 years Total amount

-FRY —F)0E
REX  ERMEUT st REE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®Trn AR®Tr AR%®Tx
Bank loans RITER 5,031 - 5,031 5,000
Lease liabilties HERE 993 - 993 973
Trade and other payables B REMENTIE 19,260 = 19,260 19,260
25,284 - 25,284 25,233

As at 31 December 2022
7202212 A31H

Within More than
Tyearor 1 yearbutless Carrying
on demand than 2 years Total amount

—ERg®  —FNALE
REX MEAT CHy BREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETR ARETR
Bank loans RITER 20,504 - 20,504 20,000
Lease liabilties HERR 4958 3772 8730 8389
Trade and other payables B NEMERNTIE 27,39 - 2739 2739
52,858 3,772 56,630 55,785
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F12A31HIEFE

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Currency risk

Individual companies within the Group have limited
foreign currency risk as most of the transactions are
denominated in the same currency as the functional
currency of the operations in which they relate.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The
Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from
short-term bank borrowings. Borrowings issued at fixed
rate expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
The Group does not have interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider appropriate
hedging policy when necessary.

24, MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

236

Key management personnel compensation

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors as disclosed in note 7, is as follows:

23. SREAREE (/E)

()

(d)

E¥ AR

A& B A E R 78S
BR - TTHRREBMHRFHG A
BEELERMNINEERRN
HEE®EE -

2= m b

MEREER ST TEMARRE
TRENAABESETSH
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24, EXBHAIRS

(a)

FTEEEASRM

FEEFZEBABNFM(E
EHE7 BN T ARAE
EHFE) AT

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARTR ARETT

Salaries and other benefits FehHMmEH 3,106 3,503
Retirement scheme of defined TF BB FORIKET B

contribution 208 207

3,314 3710

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (note
5(b)).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

24. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) Other material related parties transactions
and balances

()

(i)

(iii)

The Group rendered media services to related
parties that included companies that were
owned or under significant influence by a close
family member of the controlling shareholder
and chairman of the Group. The service revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
RMB6,403,000 (2022: RMB7,801,000) and the
amount of trade receivables and contract
liabilities at 31 December 2023 were RMB214,000
(2022: RMB1,323,000) and RMB6,438,000 (2022:
RMB5,415,000) respectively.

The Group purchased media resources from
related parties that included companies that were
owned or under significant influence by a close
family member of the controlling shareholder
and chairman of the Group. The resource
procurement for the year ended 31 December
2023 was RMB2,359,000 (2022: RMB2,392,000) and
the amount payables at 31 December 2023 were
RMB606,000 (2022: RMB673,000).

The Group leased office premises from
related parties that included companies that
were owned or under significant influence
by a close family member of the controlling
shareholder and chairman of the Group. The
rental and management fee for the year ended
31 December 2023 was RMB1,704,000 (2022:
RMB1,314,000) and the deposit receivables at
31 December 2023 were RMB293,000 (2022:
RMB61,000).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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#1,314,0007T) 1 F22023
FRANEMEKEZS A
A B #293,0007T (20224 -
AR #61,0007T) °
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26.

25. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 25. AT EEMERRE
POSITION
(Expressed in Renminbi) (U B #57)
2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Kt AR¥BTRT ARETT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary NSNS O g =) 12 -* =
Other non-current assets EMIERBEE - 82,290
- 82,290
Current asset REBEE
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFeEEY 27 364
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H h &~ I8 86 -
Other current liabilities e =K 11,886 -
11,972 o
Net current (liabilities)/assets &) (818 &), EEFE (11,945) 364
Non-current liability FRBEME
Other non-current liabilities HEMIERBEME - 11,817
Net (liabilities)/assets (Bl BEFE (11,945) 70,837
Capital and reserves EXR#EE
Share capital A& 7 22(b) 1,596 1,596
Reserves e (13,541) 69,241
Total (deficit)/equity (B AL) B (11,945) 70,837

* As the amount of share capital is less than RMB1,000, it is

represented as nil for presentation purpose.

PARTIES

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING

As at 31 December 2023 the directors consider the
immediate holding company to be Shining lcon (BVI)
Limited, while the ultimate controlling party of the Company

to be Mr. Chow Eric Tse To.
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27.

28.

29.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

EVENT ATER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 31 January 2024, the Company entered into the Placing
Agreement with placing agents. On 23 February 2024, the
Company entered into the Supplemental Placing Agreement
with placing agents for the change of placing price of
placing shares and the change of long stop date. Completion
of the placing of new shares took place on 15 March 2024.
Pursuant to the Placing Agreement and the Supplement
Placing Agreement, an aggregate of 36,000,000 placing
shares were placed by the placing agents at the placing
price of HK$0.488 per placing share. The proceeds from the
placing of new shares was approximately HK$17,570,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB16,240,000) (before all
relevant expenses). Details of the placing of new shares are
set out in the announcements of the Company dated 31
January 2024, 23 February 2024 and 15 March 2024.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

In respect of the contractual arrangement involving the
service contract whereby the Group acts as agent as
disclosed in notes 15 and 18, as at 31 December 2023, the
directors of the Company estimated that the possibility of
legal claims from the supplier and possible obligation of
the Group for an outflow of cash for an additional amount
of RMB4,000,000, representing the balance of contract sum
with the supplier under the contractual arrangement, may
or may not materialise in future and are subject to one or
more uncertain future events not wholly within the control
by the Group, even though the Group considered that the
supplier to the contractual arrangement had not satisfied all
its performance obligations under the contract arrangement.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform to current year's presentation.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Five-Year Financial Summary

EFMBRE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements, is set out below:

TXEHINAEERBERETRFELZ
XEUMEEMBEMRE  IREAE
B E AR E

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224 20214 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

(restated)

(&=&5)
AREBTRT ARETR ARETT ARETRT ARETTT
Revenue g 25,424 68,969 175,360 268,612 150,099

(Loss)/profit before BREBAT (B51R),

taxation s 7 (77,785) (46,551) 7,620 85,683 (51,555)
Income tax FTi5®t (6,862) 7,363 (2,749) (22,952) 9,266
(Loss)/profit for theyear A QT EHERE

attributable to equity EAEFER

shareholders of the (E51|)

Company pag (84,647) (39,188) 4871 62,731 (42,289)
Total assets EEMATE 26,280 138,965 194,055 199,495 134,369
Total liabilities EEAE 40,583 68,611 81,798 92,070 134,650
Total (deficit)/equity (B#4t), #m

P (14,303) 70,354 112,257 107,425 (281)
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